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CERTIFIED COPY

STATE OF CONNECTI CUT
CONNECTI CUT SI TI NG COUNCI L

PETI TI ON NUMBER 1598

W ndsor Solar One, LLC Petition for a Declaratory
Rul i ng, pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes,
Section 4-176 and Section 16-50k, for the proposed
construction, maintenance and operation of a
3. 0-negawatt AC sol ar photovoltaic electric
%gneratln%bfaC|I!ty | ocated at 445 River Street,
ndsor, nnecticut, and associ ated el ectri cal
I nt er connecti on

VI A ZOOM AND TELECONFERENCE

Conti nued Public Hearing held on Tuesday,
April 9, 2024, beginning at 2 p.m,
via renote access.

Hel d Bef or e:
JOHN MORI SSETTE, Presiding Oficer

Reporter: Lisa L. Warner, CSR #061
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Appear ances:

Counci | Menbers:

BRI AN GOLEMBI EWSKI , Desi gnee for
Comm ssi oner Katie Dykes, Departnent of
Energy and Environnental Protection

E%%T_NGUYEN, Desi gnee for
mm ssi oner Kati e Dykes, Depart nent
of Energy and Environnental Protection

ROBERT Sl LVESTRI
CHANCE CARTER
THOVAS J. NEAR, Ph.D.

Counci | Staff:

MELANI E BACHVAN, ESQ
Executive Director and Staff Attorney

ROBERT MERCI ER
Siting Anal yst

DAKOTA LAFOUNTAI N
Adm ni strative Support

For Petitioner Wndsor Solar One, LLC
PULLMAN & COMLEY
90 State Street
Hartford, Connecticut 06103-3702
Phone: 860.424. 4315
BY: LEE D. HOFFMAN, ESQ
| hof f man@ul | com com

For Party Town of W ndsor:
UPDI KE, KELLY & SPELLACY, P.C.
Goodwi n Squar e
225 Asylum Street, 20th Fl oor
Hartford, Connecticut 06103
BY: STEFAN SJOBERG, ESQ.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Appear ances: (Cont'd)

Party:

LI SA and KEI TH BRESS
166 Eastwood Circle
W ndsor, Connecticut 06095

G ouped I ntervenors:

LESLI E D. HARRI SON
41 Early Dawn Circle
W ndsor, Connecticut 06095

W LLI AM W LLI AVS

JENNI FER W LLI AMS

69 Sunrise Crcle

W ndsor, Connecticut 06095
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MR. MORI SSETTE: Good afternoon, | adies
and gentlenen. This continued evidentiary hearing
Is called to order this Tuesday, April 9, 2024, at
2 p.m M nane is John Mrissette, nenber and
presiding officer of the Connecticut Siting
Counci | .

| f you haven't done so already, | ask
t hat everyone please nute their conputer audio
and/ or tel ephones now. A copy of the prepared
agenda is available on the Council's Petition
Nunmber 1598 webpage, along with the record of this
matter, the public hearing notice, instructions
for public access to this public hearing, and the
Council's Citizens Guide to Siting Council
Procedures. Qher nenbers of the Council are M.
Silvestri, M. Nguyen, M. ol enbi ewski, Dr. Near
and M. Carter.

Menbers of the staff are Executive
Director Mel anie Bachman, Siting Anal yst Robert
Mercier and adm nistrative support Dakota
LaFount ai n.

This evidentiary session is a
continuation of the public hearings held on
February 8th and March 19, 2024. It is held

pursuant to the provisions of Title 16 of the
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Connecticut General Statutes and of the Uniform
Adm ni strative Procedure Act upon a petition from
W ndsor Solar One, LLC for a declaratory ruling
pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes, Section
4-176 and 16-50k, for the proposed construction,
mai nt enance and operation of a 3.0-negawatt AC
sol ar photovoltaic electric generating facility

| ocated at 445 River Street in Wndsor,
Connecticut and the associ ated el ectrical

| nt er connecti on.

Pl ease be advi sed that the Council does
not issue permts for stormmvater managenent. |If
t he proposed project is approved by the Council, a
Depart nent of Energy and Environnental Protection,
al so known as DEEP, Stormwater Permt is
| ndependently required. DEEP could hold a public
heari ng on any Stormwater Permt application.

Pl ease al so be advised that the
Council's project evaluation criteria under the
statute does not include consideration of property
val ue.

A verbatimtranscript wll be nmade of
this hearing and deposited at the Wndsor Town
Clerk's Ofice for the conveni ence of the public.

The Council will take a 10 to 15 m nute
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break at a convenient juncture at around 3:30 p. m

Now we will continue with the Town of
W ndsor's appearance. |In accordance with the
Council's March 21, 2024 continued evidentiary
hearing neno, we will begin with the appearance of
t he Town of W ndsor.

WIl the town present its w tness panel
for the purposes of taking the oath, and we'l|
have Attorney Bachman adm ni ster the oath.

ATTORNEY SIOBERG  Good afternoon, M.
Morissette. Can everyone hear ne okay?

MR. MORI SSETTE: Yes, we can. Thank

youl.
ATTORNEY SJIOBERG.  For the record, ny

nane is Stefan S oberg. |'man attorney with

Updi ke, Kelly & Spellacy, and |'l|l be representing

the Town of Wndsor in these proceedi ngs. Qur
W t ness panel today, we have Eric Barz, town

pl anner for the Town of Wndsor. W have Todd
Seal y, assistant town planner for the Town of
W ndsor. W have Suzanne Choate, town engi neer
for the Town of Wndsor. Qur fourth w tness,
Gregory Tocci, senior principal consultant with
Cavanaugh Tocci Associates, wll not be

participating for purposes of today's hearing. |
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offer themto be sworn in at this tine.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
S oberg.

Attorney Bachnman, please swear in the
W t nesses.

ATTORNEY BACHVAN. Thank you, M.
Morissette. Can the witnesses please raise their
ri ght hand.

ERI C B AR/Z

T ODD SEALY,

SUZANNE CHOATE
havi ng been first duly sworn by Attorney
Bachman, testified on their oaths as foll ows:

ATTORNEY BACHVAN:. Thank you.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Bachman.

Attorney Sjoberg, please begin by
verifying all the exhibits by the appropriate
sworn w tnesses.

ATTORNEY SJOBERG.  Thank you, M.
Morissette. W have reevaluated the town's
exhibits previously submtted to the Council in
conjunction with the petitioner's Late-Filed
exhibits and deened Exhibits 3, 4 and 5 to no

| onger be applicable to this petition. For
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clarification, I'mreferring to the exanple of the
proposed bermw th the vegetation and the two maps
with the property line information. So for

pur poses of the record, | would ask that Exhibits
3, 4 and 5 to no | onger be included.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Sj oberg. Pl ease conti nue.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

ATTORNEY SJOBERG Sure. So | have
three exhibits listed in the hearing program under
Roman 11, subsection B. They include Item Nunber
1, Town of Wndsor request for party status, Item
Nunmber 2, Town of Wndsor responses to petitioner
i nterrogatories, and Item Nunber 6, Town of
W ndsor prefile testinony of Eric Barz. | offer
t hem subject to verification by the witness panel.

M. Barz, did you prepare or assist in
the preparation of the exhibits listed in the
heari ng program under Roman IIl, subsection B,
specifically Itenms 1, 2 and 6?

THE W TNESS (Barz): | did.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG. Do you have any
corrections, nodifications or anmendnents to offer
to any of those exhibits?

THE W TNESS (Barz): No, | have no
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nodi fi cati ons.

ATTORNEY SIOBERG Is the information
contained in those exhibits true and accurate to
t he best of your know edge?

THE W TNESS (Barz): Yes.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG. And do you adopt the
I nformati on contained in those exhibits as your
testinony in this proceedi ng?

THE W TNESS (Barz): | do.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG M. Sealy, did you
prepare or assist in the preparation of exhibits
listed in the hearing program under Roman |11,
subsection B, Itens 1 and 2?

THE W TNESS (Sealy): | did.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG. Do you have any
corrections, nodifications or anendnents to offer
to any of those exhibits?

THE W TNESS (Sealy): | do not.

ATTORNEY SJOBERG Is the information
contained in those exhibits true and accurate to
t he best of your know edge?

THE W TNESS (Sealy): They are, yes.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG. And do you adopt the
I nfformati on contained in those exhibits as your

testinony in this proceedi ng?
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THE WTNESS (Sealy): | do.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG Ms. Choate, did you
prepare or assist in the preparation of exhibits
listed in the hearing programunder Roman |11,
subsection B, specifically Itenms 1 and 2?

THE W TNESS (Choate): | did.

ATTORNEY SIOBERG Do you have any
corrections, nodifications or anendnents to offer
to any of those exhibits?

THE W TNESS (Choate): | do not.

ATTORNEY SIOBERG Is the information
contained in those exhibits true and accurate to
t he best of your know edge?

THE W TNESS (Choate): Yes.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG. And do you adopt the
I nfformati on contained in those exhibits as your
testinony in these proceedi ngs?

THE W TNESS (Choate): Yes.

ATTORNEY SJOBERG M. Morissette, |
offer themas full exhibits.

MR MORISSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
S oberg.

Does any party or intervenor object to
t he adm ssion of the Town of Wndsor's Exhibits
B-1, 2 and 6 and excluding 3, 4 and 57

10
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At t or ney Hof f man.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No objection, sir.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Lisa
Bress?

M5. BRESS. No objection.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. And |
believe Leslie Harrison is representing the
grouped resident intervenors; is that correct?

M5. HARRI SON: Yes. No objection.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Very good. Thank you.
The Exhibits B-1, 2 and 6 are hereby adm tted.

(Town of Wndsor Exhibits I11-B-1,
111-B-2 and I11-B-6: Received in evidence -
descri bed in index.)

MR MORISSETTE: We'll now begin with
t he cross-exam nati on of the Town of Wndsor by
the Council starting with M. Mercier foll owed by
M. Silvestri.

M. Mercier, good afternoon.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

MR. MERCI ER: (Good afternoon. Thank
you. | just have a couple of questions regarding
the proposed site. And as you're aware, the
petitioner is proposing to host sheep at the site,

nost likely fromApril to Cctober, if the project

11
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was approved. |If the project was approved, does
the town have any concerns regardi ng the potenti al
for sheep grazing at the site?

THE W TNESS ( Choate): No.

ATTORNEY SIOBERG Did you hear us
okay?

MR. MERCIER: | believe that was "no";
Is that correct?

ATTORNEY SJOBERG. That's correct.

MR. MERCI ER. Thank you. Al so,
regarding the revised | andscape pl an, although
this information wasn't taken in by the petitioner
yet and sworn to, have you had an opportunity to
review the revi sed | andscape plan that was
submtted by email on April 2nd fromthe
petitioner?

THE W TNESS (Sealy): (Pause) Onh, yes.
Sorry.

MR. MERCIER: Does the town have any
further comment on the | andscape plan that was
submtted on April 2nd?

THE W TNESS (Sealy): | do not, no.

MR. MERCI ER:  Thank you. | have no
ot her questi ons.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M.

12
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Mercier. We'll now continue with
cross-exam nation of the Town of Wndsor by M.
Silvestri followed by M. Nguyen.

M. Silvestri, good afternoon.

MR SILVESTRI: (Good afternoon, M.
Mori ssette. And good afternoon, all. | have a
few questions on the segnent of River Street that
runs north and south. And am| correct that there
are no utility poles on that section of the road,
only |ight poles?

THE WTNESS (Barz): | believe that is
correct.

MR. SILVESTRI: kay. Thank you. Do
you recall when those light poles were put in and
the utilities were run underground?

THE W TNESS (Barz): That woul d have
been done when the Strawberry Hills devel opnent
was built back in the m d-eighties.

MR. SILVESTRI: Md-eighties. Thank
you. And just one |ast question on that. Was
there any set reason why that section went
under gr ound?

THE WTNESS (Barz): It is the standard
in the zoning regulations that all the utilities

be put underground unl ess there are engi neering

13
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chal | enges that nmake it inpractical.

MR. SILVESTRI: Very good. Thank you
for your responses.

M. Mrissette, I'mall set. Thank
you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M.
Silvestri. W'Il now continue with
cross-exam nation by M. Nguyen foll owed by M.
ol enbi ewski .

Good afternoon, M. Nguyen.

MR. NGUYEN. Good afternoon, M.

Morissette. | have no questions. Thank you.
MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M. Nguyen.
W'l now continue with cross-exam nation by M.

ol enbi ewski foll owed by Dr. Near.
M. ol enbi ewski, good afternoon.
MR, GOLEMBI EWBKI: Good afternoon, M.
Morissette. | don't have any questions either.
MR. MORI SSETTE: Very good. Thank you.
MR GCLEMBI EWsKI : Thank you.
MR. MORI SSETTE: We'll now conti nue
Wi th cross-exam nation by Dr. Near followed by M.
Carter.
Dr. Near, good afternoon.
DR. NEAR: (Good afternoon, M.

14
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Morissette and all. And |Iike ny colleague before

me, | do not have any questions at this tine.
MR. MORI SSETTE: Very good. Thank you.
W' [l now continue with cross-exam nati on by

M. Carter followed by nyself.

M. Carter, good afternoon.

MR. CARTER  (Good afternoon, M.
Morissette. And good afternoon, all. | hope
you're all enjoying this beautiful weather. |
al so don't have any questions for the town. So
t hank you.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Wth that,
| do not have any questions either. So we wll
continue with the cross-exam nation of the Town of
W ndsor by the petitioner.

Att or ney Hof f man, good aft ernoon.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Good afternoon. |
can't believe it, but I think I wll have nore
cross-exam nati on than the Council today.

| would direct the town to its response
to Interrogatory Nunber 12. The | ast paragraph of
t hat response, which is right above Interrogatory
13, tal ks about the town staff suggesting that
Amazon pl ace the noisy trucks on the opposite --

noi sy truck docks, excuse nme, on the opposite side

15
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of the building. Do you see that?

THE W TNESS (Barz): Yes.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: Do you know how
noi sy those trucks are approxi matel y?

THE WTNESS (Barz): Not off the top of
nmy head, no.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay. Thank you.
And going to Interrogatory 13, you said that
Amazon was held to the requirenents set forth in
the zoni ng regul ati ons, but the question was about
TCLP testing. Do the town zoning regul ations
require any TCLP testing for anything?

THE WTNESS (Barz): Not that |I'm aware
of .

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: Okay. Thank you.
And shifting to Interrogatory 15, the second
paragraph states that the town required all
environnmental testing that is required within its
zoni ng regul ations. Wat environnental testing is
required within the town's zoning regul ati ons?

ATTORNEY SIOBERG  Respectfully, |I'm
going to object to this. | don't see the
rel evancy given that the proceeding that we're
under is not subject to zoning regulations in the

t own.

16
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ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  If | may respond,
M. Morissette?

MR MORI SSETTE: Certainly.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: The fact is, is that
the Siting Council does at |east take the zoning
regul ations into account, and the town has pointed
to its zoning reqgul ati ons el sewhere during these
proceedings. And so I'mjust trying to get a
conparison between the two. This will be ny | ast
questi on about the zoni ng regs.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Hof f man.

Attorney Bachman, do you have any
comrent on this?

ATTORNEY BACHVAN. W certainly do take
the town's requlations into account, M.
Morissette, in any jurisdictional matter. And so
It has been brought up during the proceedi ng, and
| think that M. Attorney Hoffrman's question is
appropri ate.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Bachman.

Therefore, Attorney Sjoberg, we do
believe that the question is appropriate. And if

the w tnesses could provide a response, please.

17
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THE WTNESS (Barz): There is no
mandat ory environnental testing required within
the zoning reqgul ati ons other than the Planning and
Zoni ng Conmi ssion may require such anal ysis.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: Ckay. Thank you.
Wth that, | do want to nove to correct an
| nadvertent error in the record, but we have to
cast our mnd back to the first day of hearing.

At that day of hearing -- and these questions are
going to be predomnantly for M. Barz, | think.
At that first day of hearing, one of Wndsor Solar
One's witnesses, M. Fitzgerald, testified that
the zoning for the Amazon project, when it was
constructed, was industrial, but that's not 100
percent accurate, is it, M. Barz?

THE WTNESS (Barz): |I'mtrying to
recall. There's a finger of agricultural [|and,
zoned | and that m ght be on the property that was
left at the time of the rezoning to provide a
buffer fromthe Strawberry H Ils nei ghborhood. |
think that's what you're |ooking for.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  That's exactly
correct, sir. So if | can refresh your
recoll ection, on Cctober 11, 2016 the town

pl anni ng and zoni ng conm ssion put on its agenda

18




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

for a zone boundary change from agricul tural and
i ndustrial to warehouse for the Amazon site. Does
that ring a bell?

THE W TNESS (Barz): Yes.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay. And then on
Novenber 9, 2016, the planning and zoning
comm ssion ruled on that zone change to war ehouse
and deci ded that changi ng the zone to warehouse
fromagricultural and industrial was inappropriate
because i ndustrial would be nore protected. |Is
t hat correct?

THE WTNESS (Barz): | have a vague
recollection of that. | don't specifically
renmenber that, but it sounds pl ausible.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay. Do you have a
recoll ection of your testinony before the town
pl anni ng and zoni ng comm ssi on on Decenber 13,
20167

THE WTNESS (Barz): That was eight
years ago. | don't.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Fair enough. But at
that tinme you presented to the zoning conm ssi on
to change the [ and use for the Amazon project from
agricultural and industrial to industrial. Do you

recall that?

19
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THE WTNESS (Barz): | believe so.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay. Thank you. |
have no further questions.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Hof fman. We'll now continue with
cross-exam nation of the Town of Wndsor by Lisa
Br ess.

Li sa, good afternoon.

M5. BRESS: Good afternoon. | don't
have any questions for the Town of Wndsor. |'Ill
be conpletely honest. | did not recognize that |
woul d have an opportunity to cross-exam ne the

town of Wndsor, so | don't have any questions

prepared. |'msorry.
MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Ms. Bress.
W'll now continue with cross-exam nati on of the

Town of Wndsor by Leslie Harrison.

Ms. Harrison.

M5. HARRI SON:  Thank you very nuch. |,
| i ke Lisa Bress, did not know that | would have
this opportunity so | had no questions prepared
ei ther. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you,

Ms. Harrison.

W'l now continue with the appearance

20
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by Keith and Lisa Bress. WII| the party present
Its wtness panel for purposes of taking the oath.
Attorney Bachman wi Il adm nister the oath.

Keith and Lisa Bress, please.

M5. BRESS. No wi tnesses, thank you,
just nyself.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Ckay. Very good.

Li sa Bress, have you offered the exhibits |isted
under the hearing programas Roman nuneral |V-B-1
and 2 for identification purposes?

ATTORNEY BACHVAN. M. Morissette,
could we please put Ms. Bress under oath before we
ask her to verify the exhibits.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. |'m noving
ahead too fast here. Thank you, Attorney Bachnman.
Pl ease adm ni ster the oath.

LI SA BRESS,
havi ng been first duly sworn by Attorney
Bachman, testified on her oath as foll ows:

ATTORNEY BACHVAN:. Thank you.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Bachman.

Ms. Bress, now that you are sworn in,
you have offered the exhibits listed under the

heari ng program as Ronan nuneral |1V-B-1 and 2 for

21
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I dentification purposes.

THE WTNESS (Bress): | don't know what
they are, but if | submtted themto the Council,
| absolutely did.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Let's see here. Your
request, Exhibit Nunber 1 was a request for party
st at us.

THE W TNESS (Bress): Yes.

MR. MORI SSETTE: And nunber 2 is your
prefile testinony, dated February 1, 2024.

THE WTNESS (Bress): Yes, sir. Thank
you for that.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Are there
any objections to marking the exhibits for
I dentification purposes only at this tine?

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG. No objection from
t he t own.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No obj ection from
W ndsor Sol ar One, sir.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Ms. Bress,
do you object?

M5. BRESS. Not at all, sir.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Ms. Bress,
did you prepare or assist in the preparation of
Exhibits IV-B-1 and 27

22
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THE W TNESS (Bress): Yes.

MR MORI SSETTE: Do you have any
addi ctions, clarifications, deletions or
nodi fi cati ons of those docunents?

THE W TNESS (Bress): No, sir.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Are these exhibits
true and accurate to the best of your know edge?

THE W TNESS (Bress): Absolutely, yes.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. And do you
of fer these exhibits as your testinony here today?

THE W TNESS (Bress): Yes, | do.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Does any
party or intervenor object to the adm ssion of
Li sa Bress's exhibits?

At t or ney Hof f man.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: No objection, M.
Mori ssette.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Attorney
Sj ober g?

ATTORNEY SJOBERG. No objection.

MR. MORI SSETTE: And Ms. Harri son.

M5. HARRI SON:  No obj ecti on.

MR MORI SSETTE: Very good. The
exhi bits are hereby admtted.

(Bress Exhibits IV-B-1 and |V-B-2:

23
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Recei ved in evidence - described in index.)

MR MORISSETTE: We'll now begin with
cross-exam nation of Ms. Bress by the Council,
starting wwth M. Mercier followed by M.
Silvestri.

M. Mercier.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

MR. MERCIER: Yes. Thank you. M.
Bress, did you have a chance to review the
| andscape plan that was sent to you by the
petitioner on April 2nd by enmmil ?

THE W TNESS (Bress): The new one, sir?

MR. MERCIER: That's correct.

THE W TNESS (Bress): Yes, | have.

MR. MERCIER: Do you have any comments
regarding this revised | andscape plan?

THE W TNESS (Bress): |, again, not
fully understanding the proceeding, | had a set of
questions that | thought | would be able to ask of
the petitioner. So yes, | do have sone coments
about it.

MR. MERCIER:. Ckay. Fair enough. Do
you have any concerns regardi ng the proposal to
potentially graze sheep at the site?

THE W TNESS (Bress): Yes, | do. |
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have concerns about the site plan, and | do have
concerns about the potential grazing of sheep at
the site.

MR. MERCI ER. What concerns m ght you
have regardi ng the sheep?

THE W TNESS (Bress): The concerns that
| have regarding the sheep have to do with the
i nformation that Leslie Harrison shared, a couple
of things. One was the information regarding no
shelter for the aninmals during that period of
time. That's quite a few nonths. And |I'mjust
wondering, like, will they be wandering the
property, will they be just all over the place,
wll they be contained, will they be subject to
predation fromour coyotes and bears and ani nals
around. 1'm al so concerned about the waste that
wi Il be produced. It could be snelly. And if the
sheep are going to be grazed in the northern area
or area close to the residents, | have sone very
strong concerns about what that m ght snell |ike
for a nunber of nonths. So those are ny concerns,
safety of animals, snell, protection for the
animals, and those are ny concerns in that regard.

As far as the site plan, | can tell you

t hose concerns, but | don't knowif this is the
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proper tine.

MR MERCIER: Yes. \at are your
concerns regarding the site plan?

THE W TNESS (Bress): M concerns
regarding the site plan revol ve around watering
and who is responsible for that. M concerns
around the site plan are who is going to nonitor
t he desi gn and nai ntenance for the | andscapi ng.

| have additional concerns about the
site plan in that there is in the site plan an
opportunity for it to be, plants to be nonitored
for a year, but there's no irrigation there and
there is no -- so if there is any death in the
plants, there's no requirenent by the petitioner
to cone back in and replace themafter a year.
And as a gardener, avid gardener, |'ve often put
In plants, shrubs, trees, and after a year,
despite watering themregularly every day,
sonetines every other day, they're dead.

So ny concern in that regard is if
there's no, you know, sonething in the site plan
that says that soneone is going to regularly water
on a certain schedule, who is going to be
responsi ble for that, who is going to oversee

that, and if the plants die, how are we going to
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replace themif the year is over. Those are sone
of the concerns | had there.

| al so had sone concerns about the way
the trees were going to be installed. There's no
I ndication in there that balled and burl apped
trees will have the wires renoved. |t says that,
you know, tree substitutions can be approved by
t he | andscape architect and approved by the
owner's representative. Well, while |I'm pl eased
to see the owner's involvenent, | don't see how
t hat doesn't prevent Verogy from changi ng the
entire plan due to costs or other factors after
the project is approved.

| nmean, Nunber 7 clearly says they can
propose any tree substitutions whatsoever, and
there is absolutely no just cause needed or no --
you know, it doesn't really -- there's no
guarantee in this plan, in this witten plan that
says that they couldn't substitute the trees.
This plan is beautiful, but there's no, nothing
that says that it's going to be taken care of
after a year, and there's nothing in this plan
that says that there is a renedy or there's going
to be no substitutions just in case, you know, if

It's too expensive or they find afterward that
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It's not working for themor they don't want to do
It, there's nothing in this plan that says that
they're required. So that's the concern | have

t here about that.

And then | have sone other conti nued
t hi ngs about, you know, again, where the inverters
are placed and, you know, that there's no
buffering there. | have sone concerns about the
fact that the visual -- I'"'msorry, | don't know if
|"'mallowed to tell you this, but |I also have sone
concerns about the visual sinulation. There's no
panels in the visual sinulation. So how can a
conpari son be nade about the visual screening and
t he plantings' adequacy when there's no
vi sual i zati on of the panels placed behind them |
nmean, to ne |'m/looking at sonething, |'m saying,
wel |, that | ooks very lovely and the trees | ook
| ovely, but where are the panels? How do | even
know how this is going to ook in reference to the
panel s.

And then in another visual sinulation,
whi ch again | appreciated, but as an abutter, ny
son being an abutter and as party to this hearing,
the visual sinulations were not done fromthe

vant age point of the abutters. The visual
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simulation is done froma corner of the property
on the street totally to the side of all the
abutters. So |'m | ooking again at a beauti ful
visual sinulation of a corner, not of a visual
simulation fromthe properties that this project
I's abutting. So again, ny concern would have been
can we have a visual sinulation of actually what
we're going to see fromthe abutters' property.
That's not in here.

So those are sone of the concerns |
have. | nean, there's many nore. But if | don't
have an opportunity, |'mnot sure whether |'m
goi ng to have an opportunity to ask those
gquestions again. But thank you for your question.

And | do have continued concerns al so
about the | andscape and the footprint in relation
to traffic and the ability of trucks to nake the
turn from Poquonock Avenue to R ver Street and
from down Kennedy Road to River Street and then up
River Street. Those are very, very sharp turns.
And ny limted understandi ng of solar panels is
they're very long and very large. So | am just
even concer ned about how those panels are going to
maneuver with those trucks around those corners on

a two-lane road li ke River Street and enter this
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property for nonths and nonths at a tinme while
construction is going on.

So again, | don't want to take too nmuch
of the Council's tine, but these are sone of the
questions | have about the new site plan. And
t hank you so nuch for your question.

MR. MERCI ER:  Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Ms. Bress, for your
I nformation, the petitioner will be appearing this
afternoon to be cross-exam ned on the exhibits
that were filed, including the visual and
| andscapi ng pl an.

THE W TNESS (Bress): M. Morissette,
|"mso grateful for that information. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Very good. Thank you.

M. Mercier, please continue.

MR. MERCIER: | have no ot her
qguestions. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Thank you,
M. Mercier. W'Il now continue with
cross-exam nation by M. Silvestri followed by M.
Nguyen.

M. Silvestri.

MR SILVESTRI: Thank you, M.
Morissette. Actually, M. Mercier posed the
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guestions that | was going to pose. So | thank
him and | thank Ms. Bress for her responses.
Thank you.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. W'l
continue wth cross-exam nation of Ms. Bress by
M. Nguyen foll owed by M. Gol enbi ewski .

M. Nguyen.

MR. NGUYEN. Thank you, M. Morissette.
| have no questions for Ms. Bress. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. We'Il now
continue with M. ol enbi ewski foll owed by Dr.
Near .

M. ol enbi ewski .

MR GCOLEMBI EWsKI :  Thank you, M.
Morissette. | don't have any questions at this
poi nt. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. We'Il now
continue with Dr. Near followed by M. Carter.

Dr. Near.

DR. NEAR. Thank you, M. Morissette.
| have no questions at this tinme for Ms. Bress.
Thank you for being here, Ms. Bress. | appreciate
your presence.

THE W TNESS (Bress): Thank you too.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Dr. Near.
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W'll now continue with M. Carter followed by
nmyself. M. Carter.
MR. CARTER  Thank you. Ms. Bress,
t hank you for your tine. | have no questions.
THE W TNESS (Bress): Thank you, M.

Carter.
MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M. Carter.
Ms. Bress, | do not have any questions
either. We will now continue with

Cross-exam nation by Attorney Hof f man.

At t or ney Hof f man.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you, M.
Mori ssette.

Ms. Bress, | just have a coupl e of
guestions. Wiile | understand that Keith Bress is
an abutter, you're not an abutter to the facility,
correct?

THE W TNESS (Bress): | requested
perm ssion, clearly explaining that I was not an
abutter. M son has a disability and he requested
that | represent him and the Council graciously
accepted and allowed that to happen.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  |' m not di sagreei ng
wth that at all, M. Bress, but you and your son

are both intervenors in this proceeding, you both
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have i ndependent rights of one another, and so I'm
trying to distinguish between the two of you. So
you're not an abutter but Ms. Bress is, correct?

THE W TNESS (Bress): Correct, but we
were able to apply as abutters.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And we never
objected to -- well, you're not able to apply as
an abutter, he was, but anybody in the Town of
W ndsor can apply?

THE W TNESS (Bress): Yes.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you live
about four mles fromthe site, give or take?

THE W TNESS (Bress): Eight m nutes.
|'' m not sure how many mles, yes.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Fair enough. But
you |ive south of Route 305, right?

THE W TNESS (Bress): Yes, we spend
quite a bit of tinme there.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:. Ckay. Wen you're
visiting your son as you're | ooking out fromthe,
towards the solar panels, can you see the Amazon
facility fromM. Bress's house?

THE W TNESS (Bress): No.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  You can't see it at

al | ?
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THE WTNESS (Bress): No, | didn't even

see it when we went to | ook for the house because

It's to the left and up the hill so the tree cover
was trenendous and | had -- if you can believe
this, | should have known, but | had no idea that

it was there, which is kind of weird.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And can you hear it
fromthe house?

THE W TNESS (Bress): Nope, haven't
heard anything so far. He's only been there since
Septenber 1st, so we haven't heard anything as of
yet .

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And | know t hat
M. Bress works fromhone for at |east part of the
time. Does he also work outside the hone?

THE W TNESS (Bress): At this tine he
IS working part-tine outside the hone.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay. And what
| i vest ock does the current property owner have on
the property where the solar facility is being
consi dered?

THE W TNESS (Bress): | couldn't speak
to that except to know t hat when we've driven past
there, |I've been in Wndsor for over 32 years, the

only livestock |I've ever seen there has been cows

34




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

occasionally in the field.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN.  Okay. So he's got
cows there?

THE WTNESS (Bress): | don't know if
they're still grazed in that section because |
haven't seen them since he's noved in, but | do
know t hat they're sonewhere on the property.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you. And at
t he concl usion of your testinony you say that as
town councilor you led the effort to create the
first clean and sustai nable energy task force in
W ndsor.

THE W TNESS (Bress): Correct.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  How many renewabl e
energy facilities was that task force responsible
for constructing?

THE WTNESS (Bress): The task force
does not construct renewable energy facilities.
The task force was conmm ssioned to do a study.
And it had about eight nmenbers, various community
menbers of different expertise, and they were
conmi ssioned to do a two-year study to propose
Initiatives to the town council on best practices
for clean and sustai nabl e energy.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And did they
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recommend an i ncrease in renewabl e energy?

THE W TNESS (Bress): Honestly, it was
two years ago. |I'mnot certain what's exactly in
t he docunent, but | would -- | don't know, to be
honest, but | would guess, it was very |engthy,
| i ke 50 pages, and there were a variety of
projects recommended. There's been sol ar
installed on top of local buildings and the
firehouse. So |I'msure there were renewabl e
ener gy suggestions in there, yes.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Qut st andi ng. Thank

you. | have nothing further.
MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Hof fman. We'll now continue with

cross-exam nation of Ms. Bress by Attorney
S} oberg.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG  Thank you, M.
Morissette. The town does not have any questions
for Lisa Bress. Thank you.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Sjoberg. We'Il continue with cross-exam nation of
Li sa Bress by the grouped resident intervenors,
Leslie Harrison.

M5. HARRI SON: Yes. Based on her

submtted testinony, | don't have any questions
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for Ms. Bress.

| did have one, and that is | heard
Attorney Hoffman say that you' re not an abutter,
but | heard you say that you spent a great deal of
time or sone period of tine at your son's new
home. And you al so, and | have personal know edge
of this, you also appeared at a Strawberry Hills
comunity neeting.

THE W TNESS (Bress): Yes.

M5. HARRI SON: And | wondered if you
could tal k about what you heard at that neeting
and what the general sentinent was.

THE WTNESS (Bress): Well, | attended
that neeting in a different --

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN. M. Morissette, |I'd
like to object to that. That's hearsay.

M5. HARRI SON: | thought she stated
that in her letter.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:. What she stated in
her letter I was going to allow to ask, but if
she's testifying as to what other people said, it
Is by definition hearsay. Those people aren't
here. They had a chance to attend the public
comment neeting that the Siting Council put

forward and they did not.
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MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Hof f man.

Att orney Bachnman, your opinion on this?

ATTORNEY BACHVAN:  Thank you, M.
Morissette. Certainly, if part of it is in the
| etter, anything Ms. Bress may have stated. Yes,
It I's hearsay, anything anyone el se has said, but
I f she could just give a brief sumary of general
comments that she may have heard, | think that
woul d be acceptable. Thank you.

THE WTNESS (Bress): Sure. |'m happy
to nake it brief. Basically | attended in a
different capacity. | was invited because | was,
my son was purchasing a hone there or had
purchased the hone, but | was invited as deputy
mayor of Wndsor. So | will just say that at that
neeting, as | stated in ny letter, wthout going
into detail about all the concerns, that there
were many, | would say 30 or nore, residents at
that neeting that had specific concerns regarding
the installation of a utility scale solar project
I n their nei ghborhoods.

And Ms. Bachman, | think | can get into
detail or nothing further, but there was great

concern about many of the issues that Leslie is

38




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

nicely raising, and I'mtrying to raise, all of
the things we're raising are based on the concerns
by those residents.

And | wll just say one nore thing that
I's not hearsay. |'ve received tons of emails from
people who are actually afraid to participate in
this proceedi ng because they do not feel confident
to participate nor to speak publicly nor to even
email. So | just want the Council to know t hat
the reason Leslie and | go on so long is because
we've heard fromconstituents and we're trying to
share that honestly and sincerely with the Counci l
and the petitioner.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Anything el se, M.
Harri son?

M5. HARRI SON: Since | wasn't planning
to ask questions of Ms. Bress, | do not have any
others at this tinme. Thank you very mnmuch for the
opportunity.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Very good. Thank you.
W will now continue with the appearance of the
grouped resident intervenors. WII the groped
resident intervenors present its w tness panel for
t he purposes of taking the oath. That woul d be

Leslie Harrison, WIlliamand Jennifer WIIi ans.
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M5. HARRISON: This is Leslie Harrison.
| have no wi tnesses other than nyself.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Very good. Attorney
Bachman, could you pl ease adm nister the oath to
the witness, Leslie Harrison.

ATTORNEY BACHVAN. Thank you, M.
Morissette. | do see Jennifer and WIliam

WIllians on the screen here. And since their

request for intervenor status are grouped, | would
just hope that we could swear themall in at the
sane tine.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Certainly. WIIliam
and Jennifer?
JENNI FER WLLIAMS: Yes. H. W're
her e.
MR. MORI SSETTE: Very good. Thank you.
We're going to swear you in as well.
ATTORNEY BACHMAN:. Could the w tnesses
pl ease raise their right hand.
LESLI E HARRI S ON,
JENNI FER WI LLI AMS,
Wl LLI AM WI LLI AMS
havi ng been first duly sworn by Attorney
Bachman, testified on their oaths as foll ows:
ATTORNEY BACHVAN:. Thank you.
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MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Bachman.

Leslie Harrison and WIIiam and
Jennifer WIllians, you have offered the exhibits
| i sted under hearing program Roman nunerals V-B-1
and 2. Do you offer those as your exhibits?

THE W TNESS (Harrison): This is Leslie
Harrison. | presune that is ny request to be an
I nt ervenor.

MR, MORI SSETTE: It's your request to
be intervenor dated Decenber 11lth, and WIIliam and
Jennifer WIllians' request for intervenor status
dat ed Decenber 13th.

THE WTNESS (W WIllians): Yes. This
is WIliam

MR MORI SSETTE: Very good.

THE WTNESS (W WIllians): Yeah, we
did send that in.

THE WTNESS (Harrison): And this is
Leslie. Yes.

MR MORISSETTE: |Is there any objection
to marking these exhibits for identification
pur poses only at this tinme?

MS. BRESS. No.

A VO CE: No.
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MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Leslie
Harri son and WIlIliamand Jennifer WIllians, did
you prepare or assist in the preparation of
Exhibits V-B-1 and 2?

THE WTNESS (W WIllians): | don't
have access to those right now.

THE W TNESS (Harrison): This is Leslie
Harrison. | prepared ny request.

MR. MORI SSETTE: The question is did
you prepare it? WIlliamand Jennifer, did you
prepare your --

THE W TNESS (W WIlliams): Yeah, |
prepared my request.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Ckay. Very good.
Thank you. Do you have any additions,
clarifications, deletions or nodifications to
t hose docunent s?

THE W TNESS (W Harrison): No.

THE WTNESS (Harrison): This is Leslie
Harrison. No, | do not.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Are these
exhibits true and accurate to the best of your
know edge?

THE WTNESS (W WIllianms): Yes. This

Is WIlliam Yes, they are.
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THE WTNESS (Harrison): This is Leslie
Harrison. Yes, it is.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. And do you
of fer these exhibits as your testinony today?

THE WTNESS (W WIllians): WIIliam and
Jennifer. Yes.

THE W TNESS (Harrison): Leslie
Harri son. Yes.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Very good. Thank you.
Does any party or intervenor object to the
adm ssion of the grouped resident intervenors'
exhi bi ts?

At t or ney Hof f man.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: No objection, M.
Mori ssette.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Attorney
Sj ober g?

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG No obj ecti on.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Ms. Bress?
M5. BRESS: No.

MR MORI SSETTE: No objection?

M5. BRESS. |I'msorry. No objection.
MR.

MORI SSETTE: Thank you.
THE WTNESS (W WIllianms): No

obj ecti on.
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MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. The
exhi bits are hereby admtted.

(G ouped Resident Intervenors Exhibits
V-B-1 and V-B-2: Received in evidence - described
I n i ndex.)

MR MORISSETTE: We'll now begin with
cross-exam nation of the grouped resident
I ntervenors by the Council starting with M.

Mercier and followed by M. Silvestri.

M. Mercier.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
MR. MERCI ER:  Thank you. | guess |'I|

address the questions first to Leslie Harrison and
simlar to the other questions | asked of the town
and Lisa Bress. Have you had a chance to review

t he | andscape plan that was submtted by the
petitioner on April 2nd by email ?

THE W TNESS (Harrison): | have.

MR. MERCIER: Looking at the plan, do
you have any concerns regardi ng the planting
schedul e that was established, you know, all the
different types of shrubs and trees al ong River
Road and to the north?

THE WTNESS (Harrison): | did have

sone specific questions which | prepared for the
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petitioner. | could use those now or | could use
those when it's the appropriate tine.

MR. MERCIER: |f you have questi ons,
yes, you'll have to ask the petitioner at that
tinme.

THE W TNESS (Harrison): Ckay.

MR. MERCIER. Wat --

THE W TNESS (Harrison): |'msorry.
MR. MERCIER. Go ahead.
THE W TNESS (Harrison): | was pl eased

to see that they had added sone trees and shrubs
certainly along the portions south of the access
road that they're planning.

| think Ms. Bress covered nost of ny
concerns when she said things about the fact that
traffic in the area would be substantial --
appears to be substantially increased not only
during the construction but also, as pointed out,
t hese are very, very snmall roads. The road from
Poquonock Avenue is, | nean, dangerous for two
passenger cars to go in each direction at the sane
tinme in the sane space. | cannot imagine a truck
cont ai ni ng sol ar panels, how that would get by
that way. So maybe they will prohibit it from

going that way. But even a turn, | nean, it's a
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right angle turn two | anes wide to turn fromRi ver
Street onto the other side of River Street to get
to the access road. And | just -- | don't know
how t hese panels are transported, but unless
they're flown in, | don't know how that would be a
safe way to do that.

And | al so have concerns, as she spoke,
about the lack of water. | know that the plan
I ndi cates that the contractor will be required to
bring in water since there is no irrigation. But
we've had a significant anount of water in the
| ast few days and weeks here, but we've also
had -- 1've lived here 38 years in this very
house -- and we've al so had years where we've had
t renmendous drought. And | don't know how rnuch it
costs to haul in water, but given the planting
requi renents for new plants, | would think that
that would be a significant anmount of water that
woul d need to be brought in, in a year that is
dr ought pl agued.

QG her than that, as | wasn't prepared
to speak to this as nyself, | was prepared to ask
the petitioner, | don't have any ot her concerns
that conme to the top of my mind. But | think M.

Bress spoke very el oquently about concerns that |
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woul d have had, had I had tinme to prepare for it.

MR. MERCIER: Thank you for that. Do
you have any concerns regarding the potential for
sheep grazing at the site if the site was
approved?

THE W TNESS (Harrison): Yes, | do. |
have significant concerns about that. M. Bress
spoke to many of them and | spoke to many in the
| ast hearing when |I questioned the petitioner.

The first one was that | believe on the record we
have heard that the petitioner sees no financi al
benefit one way or the other to nechani cal nethods
of maintaining the property or to sheep or
animals. And if there is no financial difference,
then | woul d advocate for nechanical, strongly
advocate for nechani cal preferences to do that
because of the very things that Ms. Bress spoke
about .

We have had a significant nunber of
| ightning storns the |ast few summers. And ny
understanding is these panels, while grounded, are
still nmetal, and the sheep, | was told by the
petitioner | believe in the interrogatory, that
many tines they take shelter under the panels.

Wel |, side strikes and other things such as that
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do occur, and dead sheep snell even worse than
live sheep, in ny opinion.

And we do have a significant nunber of
predators in the area. | have a gane camout in
nmy backyard. And we have bears, we have coyotes.
We even have bobcats. And | don't think that
anything that is being proposed in terns of
fencing woul d properly prevent predators from
getting to the sheep. So yes, | have very strong
concerns about the sheep being there, and |I would
much prefer to see nechani cal nethods of
mai nt ai ni ng the property.

MR. MERCIER: Ckay. Thank you. [|I'm
going to pose the sane questions to WIIliam and
Jennifer WIIians.

THE WTNESS (W Wllians): W don't,
or at least | don't, and | think ny wife doesn't,
have any additional either negative or positive
coments toward those things. | take no position
at all on the grazing of sheep. | take no
position on that.

MR. MERCI ER:  Thank you. | have no
ot her questi ons.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M.

Mercier. W'll now continue with
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cross-exam nation by M. Silvestri followed by M.
Nguyen.

M. Silvestri.

MR. SILVESTRI: | have no additional
questions, M. Mrissette. Thank you.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. W'l
continue with cross-exam nation by M. Nguyen
foll owed by M. ol enbi ewski .

M. Nguyen.

MR. NGUYEN. Thank you, M. Morissette.
| have no questions for the group. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. We'Il now
continue with cross-exam nation by M.
ol enbi ewski followed by Dr. Near.

M. ol enbi ewski .

MR, GOLEMBI EWBKI: | have no additi onal
questions. | think their exhibits speak for
t hensel ves. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M.
ol enbi ewski. We'll now continue wth
cross-exam nation by Dr. Near followed by M.
Carter.

Dr. Near.

DR. NEAR | have no questions at this
time, M. Mirissette. Thank you.
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MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. We'Il now
continue wth cross-exam nation by M. Carter

foll owed by nysel f.

M. Carter.

MR. CARTER | have no questions. And
| would like to thank the group for their tine.
Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M. Carter.
And wth that, | have no questions. W wl|

continue wth cross-exam nation of the grouped
resident intervenors by the petitioner, Attorney
Hof f man.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: | have no questi ons,
M. Morissette.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Hof fran. We'll now continue with
Ccross-exam nation by the grouped resident
I ntervenors by the Town of W ndsor.

Attorney Sjoberg.

ATTORNEY SJOBERG. No questions, M.
Mori ssette.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. W'l
continue with cross-exam nation by Lisa Bress.

Ms. Bress.

M5. BRESS. Thank you. | have no
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guestions, M. Morissette.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Very good.
W will continue with the appearance of the
petitioner. |In accordance wth the Council's
March 21, 2024 continued evidentiary hearing neno,
we wll continue with the appearance of the
petitioner, Wndsor Solar One, LLC, to verify the
new exhi bits marked as Roman nuneral |1, Itens
B-10 on the hearing program

Attorney Hof f man, pl ease begin by
I dentifying the new exhibits you have filed in
this matter and verifying the exhibits by the
appropriate sworn w tnesses.
BRAD PARSONS,
STEVE KOCHI S
ERI K BEDNAREK
BRYAN FI TZGERAL D,
JAMES CERKANOWI C/Z

havi ng been previously duly sworn, continued
to testify on their oaths as foll ows:

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you, M.
Morissette. So the items in Section I1-B-10 are
A, a revised spill prevention and materials

storage plan; B, a revised site plan L-6.1; C, the
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resunme of Erik Bednarek; and D, an additi onal
photo sinulation that was conducted. And so in
the interest of tine, |I'"'mjust going to have one
W t ness swear each exhibit unless there are

obj ections to that so that we can continue on.

So M. Parsons, did prepare or cause to
be prepared ItemI|-B-10A, the revised spill
prevention and materials storage plan?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): Yes, | did.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And is that exhibit
accurate to the best of your know edge?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): Yes, it is.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you have any
changes to that exhibit?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): | do not.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you adopt
t hat exhibit as your sworn testinony?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): | do.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you. M.
Kochis, did you prepare or cause to be prepared
Itens |1-B-10B as in "boy" and "D' as in "dog," B
being the revised site plan L-6.1, and D being the
addi ti onal photo sinulations?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): Yes, | did.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: And are those two
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exhi bits accurate to the best of your know edge?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): Yes, they are.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: Do you have any
changes to those exhibits today?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): No, | do not.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you adopt
them as your sworn testinony?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): Yes, | do.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:.  And M. Bednar ek,
did you prepare or cause to be prepared the Item
|1-B-10C, which is your resune? M. Bednarek?

THE W TNESS (Bednarek): (No response.)

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Well, in that case,
M. Kochis, since | have you here, did you assi st
In the preparation of M. Bednarek's resune which
is Itemll-B-10C?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): Yes, | did.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:. And is that accurate
to the best of your know edge?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): Yes, it is.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you have any
changes to that?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): No, | do not.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: And do you adopt

that as your sworn testinony here today?
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THE W TNESS (Kochis): Yes, | do.

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN. W th that, M.
Morissette, | would offer up all four exhibits as
full exhibits in this proceeding.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
Hof f man. Does any party or intervenor object to
the adm ssion of the petitioner's new exhibits?

Att orney Sjoberg.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG No objection, M.
Mori ssette.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you. Lisa
Bress?

M5. BRESS. No objection, M.
Mori ssette.

MR. MORI SSETTE: And Ms. Harrison.

M5. HARRI SON: No objections, M.
Morissette. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. The
exhi bits are hereby adm tted.

(Petitioner's Late-Filed Exhibits
I1-B-1A, 11-B-1B, 11-B-1C and |11-B-1D: Received
I n evidence - described in index.)

MR, MORI SSETTE: We will continue with
cross-exam nation of the petitioner on the new

exhibits by the Town of Wndsor. Attorney
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Sj oberg.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG.  Thank you, M.
Morissette. | only have two questions, and they
revol ve around | guess it would be Roman |1-B-10D
as in "dog," additional photo sinulations based on
the revised planting plan. Pending Council
approval, would the petitioner be open to
I ncreasing the diversity of the species along the
front age?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. §j oberg,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. Yes, the petitioner
woul d be able to increase the diversity of the
pl anti ngs al ong the frontage.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG. And ny | ast
guestion, does the petitioner have any, pending
Counci | approval, does the petitioner have any
obj ections to using blue spruce and/or Scotch pine
as additional species along the frontage?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. §j oberg,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. The petitioner does not
obj ect to using blue spruce or Scotch pine.

ATTORNEY SJIOBERG. Thank you. | have
no further questions, M. Mborissette.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
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S oberg. We'lIl now continue wth
cross-exam nation of the petitioner on the new
exhi bits by Lisa Bress.

Li sa.

M5. BRESS. Thank you, M. Morissette.
|"msorry if it sounds redundant because | did
nmention sone of ny concerns in the previous
guestioning, but I'mgoing to go through them
quickly, if I can. Mst of ny concerns revolve
around the site plan and the visual sinulation.
And |'mgoing to do the visual sinmulation first.
And I'mgoing to repeat what | just said, why
aren't the solar panels included in the visual
si mul ation?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. So the solar panels are
in fact included in the visual sinulation. If
you' re | ooking at any one of the three views
provi ded, either north-south or entrance, you'll
see the first page is howit exists today, titled
"existing conditions." The second page is titled
"no screening." And fromthere you can see
strai ght through to what are blue rectangl es
behi nd an agricultural style fence behind the

exi sting vegetation that is currently in place in
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the field.

And then if you scroll to the third and
final page of each different view, you'll see what
Is titled a "vegetated buffer.” And again, from
the view of the photo sim you have the existing
veget ati on, the new vegetation, the fence and then
t he panels behind it. The panels are in fact
t hose blue rectangles that are in the field.

M5. BRESS. Ckay. So | guess | didn't
see the blue rectangles as the panels. And am|
seeing correctly then that from your vi sual
simul ati on, even though the plantings are spaced,
there's not going to be a visual record of the
sol ar panel s above the fence? Because |I'mnot --
| didn't see anything higher than the fence in
that particular visualization. | don't have it in
front of ne, | apol ogize but...

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
are you --

THE WTNESS (Parsons): [|'Il take that,
Bryan. This is Brad Parsons. M. Bress, | think
just based on the angle where you're seeing there,
the fence that is shown is about 7 feet tall, and
t he panels thensel ves are only another foot or two

hi gher than that proposed fence. So dependi ng on

57




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

t he actual angle that the photo was taken, it
does, the panels are just slightly above the
proposed fence.

M5. BRESS. Thank you. That's the
point I"'mtrying to nmake. Thank you so nuch. So
to me in the visual simulation | could not see
clearly that the panels would be at |east a foot
above the fence and the current vegetation. Thank
you so nmuch for that answer.

So the other visual sinulation question
| had was as a party to the proceeding, again, |I'm
not sure why a visual sinulation wasn't done from
t he vantage point of the abutters' property
I nstead of just the northern corner that faces the
street. There are six residents that are abutters
and their honmes are there. And ny son is, as you
know, is the furthest to the right. And | know
presently | can see, even when there's trees
coverage there, | can see through holes, large
holes. So |I'm wondering why a visual simnulation
wasn't done fromthe property, and can one be done
that actually reflects the viewoint fromthe
abutters' vantage point with the current site
pl anti ngs?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Bress, this
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Is Brad Parsons. | think the reason we did not do
a site photo fromthat is we cannot just enter
private property.

M5. BRESS. | knew you were going to
say that.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): So that is
actually specifically why we did the one fromthe
corner up there was to be at approximtely the
back side, the rear side of those houses on that
northern side and | ooki ng south towards the array.
So basically the intent with that sinmulation was

to try and m mc what was goi ng on wi thout having

to enter sonebody's property illegally.
M5. BRESS. | appreciate that. |
wll -- I"mnot going to comment. |'mgoing to

ask, if given perm ssion, which ny son and | would
certainly give you, would the petitioner be
willing to do an actual visual sinulation with the
pl antings froman abutter's property so that it
can be viewed properly by the Council and the
public?

ATTORNEY HOFFMAN: M. Morissette, |'m
going to object to that question as it's a
hypot hetical. It calls for specul ation.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Attorney
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Hoffran. | wll also cormment that we are going to
be closing the hearing today and we will not be
accepting any nore exhibits to be filed as part of
this docket, so for themto file sonething in
addition is not acceptable at this tine.

M5. BRESS. | understand. Thank you
very nmuch, M. Morissette. So I'll ask a
di fferent question.

M. Parsons, does the current visual
simulation fromthe corner accurately reflect what
I's going to be seen by the abutters in the
property in the north?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Bress, this
Is Brad Parsons. Yes, it does accurately reflect
what will be seen fromthe property in the north
based on a three to four year growth. So the
vi sual sinulation was done show ng the hei ght of
t he | andscaping at a, you know, three to four year
growt h height, so not just directly at planting
but, you know, upon a little bit of maturity but
not full maturity.

M5. BRESS. But will it be fromthe
abutters' perspective and not fromthe street
which is what the visual simulation is

denonstrati ng?
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THE W TNESS (Parsons): The vi sual
simulation is dem-- again, Brad Parsons. The
visual sinmulation is denonstrating the sane
vegetation that you see on the corner |ooking from
the south will continue along that northern
portion of the fence |ine as shown on the
| andscape plan that was included with the
subm ssi on.

M5. BRESS: And how far will that
| andscaping go in terns of the six abutters who
currently reside there, how far across wll that
go, has it been extended or is it still halfway
t hrough the property?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Bress, this
I's Brad Parsons again. |t has been extended all
t he way past those four abutters. As you can see
fromthe view, just take a | ook, get a chance to
| ook at the revised | andscape plan that was
submtted, that vegetation was extended. The
duration of the shift, the slight shift to the
south of all those panels, that proposed | andscape
veget ati on was extended al ong that whol e | ength.

M5. BRESS. Right. But has it been
extended the full length of the abutters, it's

still where it was last tine, correct? | don't
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t hi nk you have to answer. | know the answer.
Thank you. | appreciate it.

Ckay. Al right. I'mgoing to go to
t he pl ant mai ntenance note, please, on the site
pl an, Nunber 3. Wth no ground irrigation for
regular watering on the site plan, who wll be
wat eri ng the plantings and how often?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. The petitioner is
responsi ble for the plant maintenance. So
dependi ng on the weather, it would be watered as
needed. | would add that there is irrigation that
runs through the field al nost past where the
current location of the inverter pad is. So there
Is irrigation out there to the extent we needed to
use that.

Again, it is the petitioner's
responsibility to do that. In the past we have
hired our sheep grazing contractors to water those
pl anti ngs that we've nade at other sites under an
addi ti onal scope. So whether it's done by us or
It's contracted out, that's sonething that the
petitioner is responsible for doing.

M5. BRESS. Thank you. And | did read

I n your plan that there is no irrigation, so thank
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you for the correction that there is sone by the
pad. But | did read specifically in your plan
that there was no irrigation for the watering of
these plants, that it would be done by a
contractor. So that's what | was asking that
guestion for.

So does the contract for this work go
out to bid and will local contractors who know t he
area be given any preference in the bidding
process? Because | think |I just heard you say
that the sheep person m ght be the waterer.

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): Yes, M.
Bress. This is Bryan Fitzgerald. So just to
clarify quickly, are you referring to the actual
construction of the facility as far as the
contractor is concerned?

M5. BRESS. The watering, |'mstill
referring to the watering of the vegetation that
you're putting in.

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): Yes,
absolutely. So we've done it multiple ways in the
past. W' ve either worked wth our construction
contractor or we've hired a local nursery, for
exanple, right, to do the initial planting,
procure the trees fromthem they plant them they
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water them and they provide a one-year warranty,
for exanple. W' ve done that in the past. W've
had it under the scope of our contractor. And

t hen we have hired our sheep grazing partner to
water at a different project. So we woul d pursue
It in one of those three ways.

M5. BRESS. kay. And that definitely
|l eft up to the petitioner with no input fromthe
muni ci pality or the owner or the abutters, right?

THE WTNESS (Fitzgerald): That is |eft
up to the petitioner under the scope of our
contract.

M5. BRESS. Geat. Thank you. And who
will be nonitoring or inspecting to see that the
design plan and watering is being carried out
regul arly?

THE WTNESS (Fitzgerald): Again, this
Is Bryan Fitzgerald. So the quality control is
managed by Verogy project nmanagers. Again, we are
what's known as an EPC contractor, neaning, in
addition to the initial devel opnent work, we'll do
t he engi neering, procurenent and construction. So
we do have a constructi on nmanagenent team i n-house
that reports back on weekly and daily, weekly

progress, and we will nanage that internally as
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far as the plantings are concerned. Cbviously,
the stormmater is checked on by the local soil
conservation districts, and the overall
constructability of the array and the integrity of
It would be inspected and approved by the | ocal
bui | di ng i nspect or.

M5. BRESS. Gkay. So you've sort of, |
t hi nk you answered ny next question which is, can
a local contractor with a proven track record with
the Town of Wndsor or soneone in the nunicipality
be able to review the work, so you're saying the
| ocal building inspector does have an opportunity
to review whether or not the design plan is being
carried out?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): Correct, M.
Bress. So this is Bryan Fitzgerald. And in
projects that are approved by the Siting Council,
before they start construction they have to have
their construction draw ngs, typically their
civil, racking structural and el ectrical approved
by the | ocal building inspectors for code
conpliance. That's on all electrical connections,
structural capability of the racking, civil
designs, et cetera. So during -- prior to pulling

the building permts, the local nmunicipality
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reviews all those draw ngs.

M5. BRESS. That's very reassuring.
Thank you. | guess ny question was nore though in
relation to ongoi ng nmai ntenance of the plantings
and design. So in that case it would not be
soneone nunicipality connected, it would just be,
again, the contractor that you chose to hire; is
t hat correct?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
that's correct. So again, that's Verogy's
responsibility. And in every situation it's in
our best interest to keep those plantings alive.

M5. BRESS. Thank you. GCkay. So
Nunmber 3 and nunber 5 in the mai ntenance notes, as
a gardener and according to a fellow tree warden
-- not a fellow, but a tree warden friend |
consul ted, the one year as | nentioned before or
growi ng season of watering does not ensure that
the plants or trees have been actually
established. |[|'ve had many die after a year. Can
a |l onger commtnent of two years of watering and
pl ant replacenent be witten into the site plan to
ensure that the trees and plants are established
and alive after nore than a year?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
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Bryan Fitzgerald. W can nost |ikely be anenabl e
to that, to a two-year period instead of a

one-year peri od.

M5. BRESS. | appreciate that very
much. | just have a couple of questions on the
pl anting notes. | nentioned before the balled and
burl apped trees need to have -- they have wre

baskets and burl ap, but that needs to be renoved
before planting in order for the plants to
establish and thrive. Can that requirenent be
added to Nunber 5? It just nentions that they're
bal | ed and burl apped, but it doesn't say that it
will be renoved before planting. That was
sonet hi ng soneone nentioned to ne.

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. That commentary can be
added in here. Nunber 5 under plant nai ntenance
notes; is that correct?

M5. BRESS: Yes, sir. And then ny
concern about Nunber 7, |'ve already stated, and |
apol ogi ze but | have to ask the question. So
Nunber 7 clearly states that tree substitutions
can be done with the approval of the owner and
Verogy. And as | said, while I'mpleased to see

the owner's invol venent, how does that guarantee
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that this design will be fulfilled, how does that
prevent the design from being changed at whim for
a variety of reasons, be it finances or, you know,
ot her reasons? I|I'ma little concerned about

Nunmber 7 because | feel as if, if we don't have
sone sort of a guarantee that what we're | ooking
at is going to happen, then this is kind of like a
waste of tine.

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. And I guess the
response there is that during construction there
are progress reports that are delivered to the
Siting Council. Upon conpletion of any project,
there's a report delivered to the Siting Council.
|f we construct sonething that's materially
different than what's on the design, including the
| andscaping in the |andscaping plan, the Siting
Counci| woul d cone back and obviously order us to
change that because it was different fromthe
desi gn.

M5. BRESS. Thank you. That was ny
next question, so you answered it. M question
was does the Siting Council have any input after
It is approved. Thank you so nuch.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Bress, this
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Is Brad Parsons. 1'd just like to add just to
clarify why that note is there. It is there
because at certain specific tines certain species
m ght not be available, but it is always the
Intent to replace any species that m ght be
unavai l able at the tinme with a |ike species or
simlar species. That is the intent. So not
changi ng an evergreen tree with a deci duous tree,
It would be a |like evergreen tree.

M5. BRESS. Thank you. And |
appreciate it. |'ma gardener, so | actually did
know t he reason, and | do understand that, but |
was j ust concerned that there m ght be significant
changes to this beautiful plan. And | wanted to
know t hat there was sone opportunity, and you
answered that question that the Siting Council
could do that, and your intent is to follow the
pl an as nuch as possible. | do appreciate that.

Ckay. Just a few nore questions and
then I'mdone. Wy -- |let's see, not why. |
know, and | don't know if this is an i nappropriate
guestion, although we are referencing the site
plan, but it doesn't have to do wth the
vegetation. | just wanted to ask a foll ow up

guestion. Are the inverters enclosed or do they
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have any buffers or vegetation around themto
mtigate noise emssions or is it the sane as | ast
ti me?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. It is the sane as the
design you saw | ast tine.

M5. BRESS. kay. And are the fans
still facing the north, have they not been changed
or repositioned to face Amazon or where there are
no residential homes, is it the sane?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. The fans, |ooking at
the orientation of the pads which are north to
south, and the inverters wll be nounted al ong
that orientation, correct, the fans would either
be facing east or west, not north.

M5. BRESS. (Gkay. Because | think |ast
time honestly, and, you know, ny nenory is pretty
good, we had said that, but then there was a
change to the plan and then soneone answered and
said that the fans were now facing north and
south. So | just want to nake sure | know which
way they are, and that's basically because of
noise mtigation. | just was hoping that they

woul d be faced away from people and nore toward
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Amazon. So are you saying now that you think the
orientation is east and west now?
THE WTNESS (Fitzgerald): That's

correct, the orient -- go ahead, Brad.
THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad
Parsons. | wll confirmthat the orientation of

the inverters are east and west. And as noted in
our noi se study that was provided, the project
woul d be in conpliance with all state and | ocal
federal codes with regard to noise as well.

M5. BRESS. kay. Thank you so nuch.
Ckay. So the other questions that | have are the
di stances to the panels and so on. In this new,
this site plan, have they changed or are they the
sanme?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Bress, this
I's Brad Parsons. The |ocation of the panels have
not changed as part of this plan. |t was just
updated to the | andscapi ng.

M5. BRESS. Ckay, that's what |
t hought. So the distances -- and how about --
this question | didn't ask last tine though. |
asked about the distances to the panels, but how
close is the site entrance where construction

vehicles enter to the residence across the street
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and the residence in the north?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): Bear with ne,
one second, Ms. Bress.

M5. BRESS: No rush. And | can cone
back to it, if it's helpful to the Council.

THE W TNESS ( Cer kanowi cz): Ms. Bress,
this is Janes Cerkanowicz with the petitioner. |
can state that the approximate di stance fromthe
entrance, proposed entrance of the site, is
roughly 160 feet to the nearest residence.

M5. BRESS. Thank you very nuch. Let's
see. So, can | ask this question, after the
| andscapi ng changes, how nuch farm and i s being
preserved at the nonent on this new plan on the
site -- reserved, | should say, for farm ng? |
know the patch is there for the farnmer to grow his
stuff, his feed, but | was just curious how nuch
Is actually being reserved or protected.

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. W'II|l get a quick
cal cul ation for you.

M5. BRESS. kay, | can nove on. So
based on that, | was just asking would this site
pl an i nvol ve any other changes to the existing

envi ronnent which due to their | ocation or nature
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could result in conversion of farmand to
nonagricul tural use? That's ny concern there,

i ke could anything in this site plan or changes
to the environnment result in the conversion of
sone of the farmand, prine farmand to
nonagri cul tural use?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Bress,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. So our original plan,
as all are aware, is to use the sheep grazing here
to keep the area that is fenced in fromthe
panels, the affected area of the project, in
productive agricultural use, a concept and a
met hod that the Departnent of Agriculture had
signed off on to keep the land in farnm and status
effectively. So that is our goal currently.

| think it was nmenti oned previously
that M. Morissette nentioned that the Siting
Counci | has exclusive jurisdiction. |f they had
mandat ed us not to do sheep grazing, then that's
sonet hi ng we woul d have to abi de by.

M5. BRESS. | appreciate that, but |
t hink you may have m sunderstood ny question. M
guesti on was nore about the existing environnment
with the panels being placed, due to their

| ocation or nature, would the panels being there
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result in conversion of farmand to
nonagricul tural use at the end of the l[ife of this
pr oj ect ?

THE WTNESS (Fitzgerald): This is
Bryan Fitzgerald, Ms. Bress. At the end of the
life of this project?

M5. BRESS: O at any tine.

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): At any tine
it's not our belief that it woul d.

M5. BRESS.: kay. And then at the end
of the project --

THE WTNESS (Fitzgerald): Then at the
end of the term we have financial assurances in
the | ease agreenent with the | andowner to ensure
the entire systemis deconm ssioned and renoved so
that the land could in fact go back to a nore
traditional agricultural use, row crop, hay
farm ng, et cetera.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Bress, this
Is Brad Parsons. W don't control the use of the
| and after our lease is up as well.

M5. BRESS. Gkay. But there is nothing
in the panels or in the way the panels perform or
in the | ocation of the panels that m ght cause an

inability to use that farmas farnl and agai n?
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THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad
Parsons. There is nothing to our know edge t hat
woul d cause that to happen.

The other thing | would also just |ike
to state. You nentioned prinme farm and before.
This project is not |ocated on any prine farn and.

M5. BRESS. kay. So it's not
desi gnated as prine, but it is just farn and?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): Correct.

M5. BRESS. kay. | thought | read
that in there. GCkay. So thank you. Thank you
for that.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): And there is
also -- sorry, this is Brad Parsons -- | did have
a calculation, give or take 6 and a half to 7
acres on avail able remai ning area on the north
side of the river that the farnmer woul d be using.

M5. BRESS. Gkay. And how nmany acres
Is the facility taking up?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): | have that
i nformation. Just a second.

THE W TNESS (Cerkanowi cz): This is
Janmes Cerkanowi cz. The fenced [imts, within the
fenced limts of the project is 598,872 square

feet, and then | would need to just convert that
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to acreage in a second here.

M5. BRESS. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Ms. Bress, if | could
I nterrupt.

M5. BRESS. Yes, sir.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Your questioning this
afternoon is limted to the Late-Filed exhibits
that were filed on March 28, 2024. | have al |l owed
you sone | eeway in asking questions beyond what
was filed. So this is just to nake you aware that
you are to stay within the limts of those
Late-Fil ed exhibits.

M5. BRESS. | appreciate that, M.
Morissette. And | had questions about whether or
not it had to be strictly restricted to the
vegetation or could it be, because a new site plan
was presented, could we ask questions about the
site plan. So thank you so nuch for clarifying
that. And thank you for the |leeway. | don't
believe | have any additional questions about the
veget ati on.

| do have additional questions
regardi ng sone of the features of the site plan,
but | think I could, in order to be respectful to

the Council, | wll reserve those concerns or
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guestions -- as soon as | get the acreage

answer -- | will reserve those questions or
concerns for ny ability to do -- | don't know what
it's called, the wap-up or whatever. So thank
you very nmuch. |If | could just hear, if you

woul dn't mnd ne hearing the question to the
acreage that's being used for the facility, | wll
end nmy questioning there.

THE WTNESS (Fitzgerald): This is
Bryan Fitzgerald. The acreage for the facility is
approximately 13.5 noted in Section 6 of the
petition, by the way, too.

M5. BRESS. Thank you. And thank you,
M. Morissette, for your indul gence and your
expl anation. | appreciate it.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Ms. Bress.
| would like to say there is no wap-up, per se.
When we cl ose the hearing, you will have the
opportunity to file briefs --

M5. BRESS: Yes, that's what | neant.
| couldn't remenber the word.

MR. MORI SSETTE: -- associated with the
record but no additional testinony will be
al | owned.

M5. BRESS: | understand that. Thank
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you. Honestly, | don't think then, if it's about
t he vegetation, ny follow ng questions were
basi cally about the DEEP report or, you know, the
siteinrelation to the DEEP stuff. So | wll
stop here. And thank you again for the
opportunity to ask additional questions.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you. We'Il now
continue with cross-exam nation of the petitioner

by the grouped resident intervenors, Leslie

Harri son.

Leslie.

M5. HARRI SON: Thank you, M.
Morissette. | don't have too many.

In terns of the visual sinulation, |
di d have a question about all of the photos that
were provided. Wre they all taken at street
| evel ?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): This is Steve
Kochis of VHB. The north view and the south view
were taken from approximately a 5-foot view ng
height. The entry view was taken from Googl e
Street View because of our interest in show ng the
site with full leaf-on as one of the alternatives.
And accordingly, I"'mnot entirely sure of the

hei ght, but | would guess that it was probably the
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hei ght of the Google Street View canera nounted on
top of a car.

M5. HARRI SON:  Thank you, M. Kochis.
The reason for ny questioning is | don't see
anything in the visual simulation that woul d
I ndi cate how residents in two-story buil dings, of
which there are many in the Strawoberry Hill
condom ni um conpl ex, would see. | don't think the
fence would cover it, and | can't renenber which
gentl enen from W50 spoke to say that the panels
woul d protrude anot her foot above the fence, but
there were no -- am| correct there were no visual
sinmulations that were taken from say, sone kind
of a bucket truck that would nore closely
represent what those of us that have two-story
buil dings wll see.

THE W TNESS (Kochis): This is Steve
Kochis. That's correct, no visual sinulations
wer e perfornmed outside of what has been put into
evi dence so far.

M5. HARRI SON:  Coul d soneone from WSO
make sone kind of statenent about what kind of
gl are we m ght be seeing | ooking out our
second-story w ndows and how | ong that woul d take

pl ace given that we're on, or at least | am on
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Ri ver Street, west side of River Street?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Harrison,
this is Brad Parsons with Verogy and W ndsor Sol ar
One. As part of our submssion, | believe it was
our followup to the interrogatories, a glare
anal ysis was conpleted for this project and that
I ncl uded | ocations both at basically first floor
| evel as well as second floor |evel on various
| ocations on the western side of River Street at
the | ocati ons of those condom niuns, and there was
no glare as part of that ultinmate study result.

M5. HARRI SON: Ckay. How about what |
Wi Il visually see not including glare? WII |
see, for instance, | see M. Kochis's picture here
on the screen, and | see a whol e bunch of solar
panels behind him |Is that what | wll see out ny
wi ndow, second-story w ndow?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad
Parsons. Ms. Harrison, that photo is taken from
ground level as well. You wll see solar panels
on the site.

M5. HARRI SON: Ckay. Thank you very
much.

THE W TNESS (Cerkanowi cz): This is

Janes Cerkanowicz. |'d also just like to note
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that that is a fixed tilt panel array in his
background and that the tracking systemis snaller
in terns of how the panels are grouped and tends
to be less visible fromny personal experience of
seei ng where we have another site where we
recently devel oped the trackers.

M5. HARRI SON:  Thank you very nuch.
Ckay. Under the -- noving to the planting plan
listed as site plan 6.1. Under the plant
mai nt enance notes | believe M. Fitzgerald al ready
answered this question, can you rem nd nme who the
contractor will be? | don't need a nane, but it's
basically an overseeing position, is that correct,
overseei ng others doing tasks?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M.
Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald. So Verogy
acts as the EPC contractor for the engineering,
procurenent and construction, so the direct
oversi ght of all construction, including the
pl anti ng of the | andscapi ng plan, would be nanaged
and overseen by project nmanagers enpl oyed by
Ver ogy.

M5. HARRI SON: Thank you. That's what
| thought you were going to say. So in Iltem4

under plant nmai ntenance notes, | believe it
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currently states water shall be applied in
sufficient quantity to thoroughly saturate the
soil and the root zone of each plant.

WI | docunentation be provided to the
contractor as to how nuch water should be applied
to each different type of plant so to ensure
conpliance with the directive, "thoroughly
saturate"?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M.
Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald. The
| andscapi ng plan herein as well as the final
construction drawi ngs would be provided to the
actual contractor responsible for doing the work.
So they would read it as we're reading it today
and be directed to thoroughly saturate the soil
and the root zone of each plant.

M5. HARRI SON: So the contractor woul d
hire people that know what thoroughly saturate
means for each different species that's planted?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M.
Harrison, yes. Again, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.
I n any event, the construction oversight team at
Verogy woul d instruct those contractors to again
follow the | andscape plan to a T here to ensure

ultimate success of the | andscapi ng pl an.
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M5. HARRI SON: Ckay. Thank you. Wbuld
the contractor be nodi fying whatever directions
are provi ded based upon whether there's been an
i nch of rain or nore in the precedi ng week?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M.
Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald. |If the
contractor doing the work were to nodify anyt hi ng,
It would have to be wth Verogy's approval first.
So to your point, if there was sufficient
rainfall, that would first have to be approved by
Verogy to ensure that the watering plan has been
executed appropriately.

M5. HARRI SON: Ckay. And if there was
no rain in the previous week, would the contractor
be required to thoroughly saturate the rootball
nore than once in the week that follows?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M.
Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald. Yes, to the
extent that is precisely what the plan describes.

M5. HARRI SON: Ckay. The plan just
says that they have to, you know, if there's been
an inch of rain, it's okay. | don't see any
specific directions as to what to do if there
hasn't been an inch of rain.

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): Yes. And
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fromour experience, sonetines it's a decision
that gets nade by the contractor specifically
doing the watering. Like |I've nentioned
previously today, sonetines that's done by a sheep
grazing partner. They've got an agricul tural
background, so it works out quite well that way.
They understand thoroughly what you're describing
here right now And if that plant needs to be
saturated, it would be saturated.

M5. HARRI SON:  Ckay. Thank you. And
can the plan be nodified to specifically state
what period of calendar tine will be used to
constitute a week, is it Sunday to Saturday,
Monday to Sunday so that we could nonitor when
we've had an inch of rain as to what day that was?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M.
Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald. | would nove
forward under the assunption that the week is
Monday to Sunday.

M5. HARRI SON:  Ckay.

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): A typical
wor k week is Monday to Friday, obviously, but |
t hi nk Monday to Sunday should suffice for this
situati on.

M5. HARRISON:. Wth all due respect,
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could that be added to the plan specifically,
pl ease?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M.
Harrison, yes, we could add that note in there.

M5. HARRI SON: Thank you. Under the
section entitled planting notes, this one is
probably just ne not being a gardener, but |Item
Nunber 4 states a 3-inch deep nul ch per
specification shall be installed under all trees
and shrubs and in the planting beds. | assune
that neans on top of the soil, not under the tree
and under the shrub?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M.
Harrison, that is correct. It is, as described,
once the tree has been planted the nul ch bed there
Is installed. And while |I'"mnot a | andscape
architect nyself, one did put this together, and
that's typically to keep noisture in the soil for
a longer period of tine.

M5. HARRISON:. R ght. | had to read it
two or three times for "under all the trees,"”
t hi nki ng that you were tal ki ng about planting and
you were going to lay mulch in the hole and then
put the tree on top of it, and | was pretty sure

that, ny limted understandi ng, that probably
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wasn't what you intended to do. So what you j ust
described is what | thought you actually neant.
Thank you.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Harrison,
this is Brad Parsons. Just to direct you back to
our site plans that were submtted under the | ast
Late-File exhibit, there are details on L-6.2 that
show just that.

M5. HARRISON: 6.27? | only saw 6. 1.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): That was all
that was required as part of this Late-File.

M5. HARRI SON: You nean the previous
Late-File?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): Correct.

M5. HARRI SON: Ckay. Thank you. |I'm
sorry. Staying under the planting notes in Item5
It states, and Lisa approached this froma
different direction, it says all trees shall be
bal | ed and burl apped, unless otherwi se noted in
t he drawi ngs or specification, or approved by the
owner's representative. In the current L-6.1
drawing is there any plant that is not to be
bal l ed or burl apped? | couldn't find anything on
the plan that indicated such.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad
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Parsons. There is no plan to have -- all th
plants will be balled and burl apped because
will likely cone froma nursery. | think th

note is neant to represent if you were poten
transplanting a tree on site, you wouldn't b

and burlap a tree that you had just taken --

e
t hey
at
tially

al |

M5. HARRI SON: Moved. Ckay. Thank you

very much. And am | correct that | cannot s
anything, | cannot see or read anything in t
L-6.1 docunent that is the actual specificat
that is cited in Iltemb5? Item5 says unless
ot herwi se noted in the drawings, which | can
or specification. |s the specification a no
Is there sonme other thing that | can't see?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Harri
this is Brad Parsons again. 1In this case, t
specifications are the notes. So what you s
here is that. There is no intent to have, y
know, all these trees are intended to be bal
and burl apped and com ng froma nursery.

M5. HARRI SON: Ckay. Because | n
that in Item6 there was a part of that note
said specifically if there was any devi ation
bet ween the drawi ng and the specification, t

specification would take precedence. And |

ee
hi s

I on

see,

te or

son,
he
ee
ou
| ed

ot ed
t hat

he

j ust
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wasn't sure if there was sonething that | coul dn't
see that was different than that.

Ckay. In ltem10 it currently states
areas designated | oam and seed shall receive a
m ni mum of 6 inches of | oam and specified seed
mx. Are those areas currently identified on the
pl anting pl an?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): This is Steve
Kochis. There are no specific | oamand seed areas
within the site plan.

M5. HARRI SON: So does that nean that
they're not shown or does that nean that there
aren't going to be any?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): This is Steve
Kochis again. That's intended that there w |
i kely be no | oam and seed to 6-inch depths for
this site plan.

M5. HARRI SON:. Ckay. Did |
m sunderstand in a previous one of these hearings
that there was going to be sone kind of planting
seed m x that would entice pollinators?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Harrison,
this is Brad Parsons. So yes, | think with regard
to the | oam and seed within the | andscapi ng pl an

there was no specific area designated in that
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situation. However, froman overall standpoint,
yes, it is shown on the site plans prior to this
L-6.1 that the area will be seeded with a seed m x
that has pollinator friendly species.

M5. HARRISON:. So this L-6.1 that we're
| ooking at today is, we'd have to | ook backwards
to find information about that, it's not all
contained on this L-6.1 plan that we're |ooking at
t oday?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): This is Steve

Kochis. The idea here is there's no specific | oam

and seed. | believe the intent here is to not
i nport any loamto the site. |It's to use the
existing topsoil. It wll be, a seed mx wll be

br oadcast onto the site to pronbte vegetative
growth, but the idea is they're not bringing in
any loam So when | answered that we're not going
to do | oam and seed, we're really not bringing

| oamin, but we will be seeding it.

M5. HARRI SON: Could | respectfully ask
that the plan be nodified to docunent that as
cogently as you just did, please?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad
Parsons. | think we can identify and/or nove the

| ocation where the seeding is already identified
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on the plans and nove it to the | andscape pl an
shoul d the Council choose to have that done.

M5. HARRISON:. Right. And | think
M. Kochis also said no bringing in of loam so |
woul d think that that sort of docunentation would
need to be adjusted perhaps.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): M. Harri son,
this is Brad Parsons. | think these are just
standard notes that | andscapers put on nost of
their plans. Qoviously if we need to renove that,
but there is no specific area that is called out
as designated | oam and seed, so therefore that
note would not apply on this specific plan.

M5. HARRI SON:  Ckay. Thank you. And |
think Lisa Bress asked this question, | think the
answer was no, around the equi pnent pad there's
been no consideration of additional plantings on
at least the three sides that face residenti al
bui l dings to hel p absorb and defl ect any of the
noi se.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad
Parsons. Ms. Harrison, that is correct, no
addi ti onal plantings around the inverters have
been proposed. And as previously stated, our

noi se study was conpleted and to show that the
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project was in conpliance.

M5. HARRI SON: Ckay. Thank you very
much. That concludes ny questions. | appreciate
the opportunity to ask them

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, Ms.

Harri son.

We'll now take a 12-m nute break and we
wi Il conme back at 3:50 to resune cross-exam nation
by the Council. Thank you, everyone. W'I|I| see
you at 3:50.

(Wher eupon, a recess was taken from
3:39 p.m wuntil 3:50 p.m)

MR. MORI SSETTE: We're back on the
record. We will continue with cross-exam nation
of the petitioner by the Council, starting with
M. Mercier followed by M. Silvestri.

M. Mercier.

MR. MERCIER: Thank you. | just had a
question on site plan L-6.1, the new revi sed
| andscape plan. And earlier we tal ked, there was
testinony regarding the nmulching that was Note 3
under the planting notes. 1Is the nulching, is
that sonething that's going to be annually
replenished or is that just for the planting phase

of the project?
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THE WTNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Mercier,

this is --

THE W TNESS (Parsons): Go ahead,
Bryan.

THE WTNESS (Fitzgerald): Sure. M.
Mercier, this is Bryan Fitzgerald. | was going to

mention this is for construction, so that would be
for the construction. Any annual replenishnment
woul d have to be taken up in the operations and
mai nt enance pl an.

MR MERCIER. Ckay. Well, is the
intent to replenish the nmulch annually after the
pl anti ngs take hol d?

THE WTNESS (Fitzgerald): Again, this
Is Bryan Fitzgerald. M. Mercier, | guess | would
defer to our | andscape architect, but to answer
that direct, it could be nore of a see-as-you-go.
And that m ght not be what you want to hear, but
I f the plants are taking off and grow ng and
performin the way we'd ideally like to see them
perform it mght not be necessary anynore on an
annual basi s.

MR. MERCIER. Ckay. How would you
envi sion them growi ng, do you anticipate them

form ng a dense coverage where nothing, you know,
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wi Il be, can grow under them such as |ike grass or
weeds, so it's just going to be bare dirt or just
remmants of mulch with weeds or sonethi ng?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Mercier,
this is Bryan Fitzgerald. As far as how we
anticipate it to grow, | would envision pretty
much what you see in the visual sinulations. That
was at the direction of the | andscape architect at
a three to four year growh height. But the
pl anti ng plan al so includes a nunber of shrubs,
not necessarily ground dwelling shrubs or so, but
areas to kind of fill those gaps fromthe soil
| evel up or fromgrass level up. But it's our
under st andi ng that vegetation would take over
there and sonetinmes with or without nul ch, whether
It be weeds taking over or grasses taking over,
what we see is that the field sonetines to
naturally extend into that area under the trees.

MR. MERCIER. kay. Thank you. At
what point of the construction would the plantings
occur, would it be, you know, before stabilization
of the site, you know, with the grass seed and
pollinator mx or is it going to be after?

THE W TNESS (Fitzgerald): M. Mercier,

that's a great question. And | think it's
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probably a two-part answer because it can be
dependent on when and if we're granted the ability
to start construction, and by that | nean when we
woul d have the ability to start. Cbviously, it
woul d be best to plant these trees in the late
fall or early, early spring and not in the mddle
of the summer. So we'd have to kind of see how

t hat progressed.

But Brad, correct ne if I'"'mwong if
you think there would be any inpacts to
stabilization.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad.
That's correct, | nean, we would still stabilize
the site prior to or at |least do a tenporary
stabilization of the site prior to the start of
construction, and then tine of year would be the
point with when we woul d actually plant the
pl anti ngs.

MR. MERCIER: Yes. | guess ny question
would be if you did them you know, near the end
of the project before stabilization, would the E&S
control fencing be in the way or are you going to
put it near the street or is the fencing going to
be hugging the perineter fencing that's supposed

to be installed? | wasn't sure how that portion
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woul d work out, whether you' d have to take down
the erosion control fencing to install the

pl antings and then reinstall it if it's not
stabilized, would you have any insight as to where
t he --

THE W TNESS (Kochis): [1'll take that
one. This is Steve Kochis. Wat we typically do
on the sites that reach that |evel, what we've
found working with multiple contractors, is we'l|l
reach a period of stabilization at the site that's
agreeable to the conservation district and/or CT
DEEP, who will be the erosion control overseers,
along with the qualified inspector and VHB as
engi neer of record, and we will work with themto
renove the portions of silt fence without risk of
erosion that we need to, to install the plantings.

And 1'Il also add, if it adds sone
clarity, that Note 3 under planting notes right
now does state that no plant materials wll be
Installed until all grading and construction has
been conpleted in the area. So that kind of
suggests that the planting is going to happen at
the end of the construction peri od.

MR. MERCIER: (Ckay. Since you just

ment i oned sone erosion and sedi nentati on control s,
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| understand DEEP has just updated their E&S
controls. The old version was 2002 and now t he
effective date of the new version is March 30,
2024. | guess, first of all, is your site beyond
50 percent design?

THE W TNESS (Kochis): This is Steve
Kochis. | would say yes it is beyond 50 percent
design. And we're working with CT DEEP to
understand the nature of when the new manuals wl |l
beconme effective, especially in regards to
projects like this that have been in devel opnent
for years and as far as if any changes woul d need
to be nmade since we're going to be going for a CT
DEEP Stormnat er General Permt sonetine later this
year.

MR. MERCIER: Ckay. So you're under
consul tation with them regardi ng what ever
gui del i ne they decide to use.

THE W TNESS (Kochis): This is Steve
Kochis. Yes, we'll continue to coordinate with CT
DEEP and make sure that we're neeting the
appropriate manual. And if any changes are
needed, they would be included in our D&M pl an for
this project.

MR MERCIER. Geat. Thank you. One
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ot her question | have is regarding the plant
schedul e up in the upper right corner of the
| andscape planting plan. You have several species
of trees, you have Red QGak, sone BalsamFir, Wite
Spruce. | just heard naybe there m ght be sone
Scotch Pine and Bl ue Spruce potentially. As these
grow i n height over the years, is there any type
of shadi ng concerns, would you have to top any of
t hese trees, would there be any kind of potenti al
shading; and if so, at what potential heights
woul d you have to cut themoff at?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad
Parsons. | think when we di scussed the sel ection
of these species with the | andscape architect when
t hey were posing them and we believe that while
we don't expect to quote-unquote "top" any trees
here with this, I think if, you know, selective
trimmng was required that we may need to do that.
However, it's our understanding that |ikely by the
tinme that these at their 35-year life that wll
still be within a point where there will be
m ni mal shadi ng i npacts with regard to any of the
proposed | andscapi ng.

MR. MERCI ER: Thank you. | have no

ot her questi ons.
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MR, MORI SSETTE: We'll now conti nue
Wi th cross-exam nation of the petitioner by M.
Silvestri followed by M. Nguyen.

M. Silvestri.

MR SILVESTRI: Thank you, M.
Morissette. | have a few questions regarding the
spill prevention and materials storage plan. And
If we could turn to page 2 on that, under
reporting it says conplete an incident report for
each spill. Question |I have, where would one
obtain an incident report?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad
Parsons. | think they would foll ow whatever the
DEEP guidelines for -- the intent was for themto
fol |l ow what ever DEEP guidelines there are for
spill reporting.

MR, SILVESTRI: So would that be
I ncl uded shoul d the project be approved wthin
this spill prevention and materials storage plan?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): That is not a
problemto add that, sir. Again, Brad Parsons.

MR. SILVESTRI: ay. Thank you. And

under spill cleanup it has obtain the Spill

Response Kit fromthe designated | ocation on site.

Any i dea where that designated | ocation m ght be
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at this point?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad
Par sons again. No, we don't have any specific
| dea on where exactly that designated |ocation is.
Usually it is something that is part of our
contractor's responsibility when they are on site,
and they tend to do job briefings every norning
where those things are identified.

MR. SILVESTRI: And that woul d probably
fall in line as to where any refueling or fuel
storage would al so go, would that be correct?

THE W TNESS (Parsons): That woul d be
correct, M. Silvestri.

MR SILVESTRI: Al right. Next
guestion | have regards the entry view veget at ed
buf fer depiction that you have. And |'m not sure
where we left off with our last discussion on the
pl anting plan, but did we tal k about suppl enenti ng
it with sone | ow grow ng shrubs? So, for exanple,
where | ook at the pickup truck that's parked
there, you have a few |l ow grow ng shrubs on the
right side. I'mcurious if that could be extended
further to the right to kind of cover sone of the
gaps that are there.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): Bear with ne,
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M. Silvestri. This is Brad. I'mjust trying to
pul | up that one visual again.

MR. SILVESTRI: |'mnot sure what the
plants are, if they're Rhododendrons or Bayberries
or Holly. They look nice to fill in the gaps
close to the truck, and I'mcurious if it could be
extended. W talked the last tinme about not being
able to put nore evergreens in because the
evergreens in the back are going to spread out,
but I"mcurious in the foreground if nore
pl anti ngs could be put there.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): |'mactually
| ooking. I'mtrying to -- this is Brad. [|I'm
trying to actually cross-reference our |andscape
plan right now wth the visual sinulation and
trying to actually count what's been put there.
And it may actually appear that not all the
pl antings that are on the | andscape plan are in
and filling that gap area, fromwhat | can tell
here, or maybe it's just the angle. It also m ght
be the angle of which the photo was taken.

MR, SILVESTRI: | tried to coordinate
the two and | couldn't. Wen | ook at L-6.1,
there's a bunch of little circles that are there

that | have no idea what they are.
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THE W TNESS (Parsons): This is Brad.
| can say when we | ook at L-6.1 there, you see the
three larger proposed trees with the inverted half
circles?

MR, SILVESTRI: Yes.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): Those are the
three taller trees you can see in that visual
si mul ati on phot o.

MR SILVESTRI: Correct.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): And obvi ously
when you're |l ooking at that third tree fromthe
south on L-6.1, you can definitely see that there
shoul d be shrubs in front of that third tree. So
again, I'mnot sure if it's just the angle at
which we're | ooking at that or whether those were
m stakenly omtted fromthe visual sinulation.

MR, SILVESTRI: So it's possible that
t he visual simulation would be enhanced based on
what you have on L-6.1.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): | believe so,
sir, fromlooking at it. The way that |I'm seeing
this and trying to correlate the visual sinulation
that's there, it does appear to ne that the shrubs
on the north side of the, what ['ll call the

circle wth the dot there on L-6.1, just south of
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the driveway, that there's six shrubs there. And
It does appear to ne that all six of those are
shown. It's hard to kind of count in there, but
the ones on the south side of that larger circle
wth the dot in the center of it, that those may
not be showi ng up on the visual screening itself.

MR. SILVESTRI: That's what | don't see
at that point. And like | say, if it's on L-6.1,
It should be on your entry view vegetated buffer
depiction which I think would be nice to fill in
the gaps that | see there. So that's ny whol e
point of trying to get there.

THE W TNESS (Parsons): Yeah. And |
think it should be there, sir. It mght have just
been sonething that was m ssed in the revised plan
when this was updat ed.

MR. SILVESTRI: Very good. M.
Morissette, that's all | have. And | thank you,
and | thank the panel.

MR MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M.
Silvestri. W'Ill now continue with
cross-exam nation by M. Nguyen foll owed by M.
ol enbi ewski .

M. Nguyen.

MR. NGUYEN. | have no questions, M.
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Morissette. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M. Nguyen.
We'll now continue with cross-exam nation by M.
ol enbi ewski followed by Dr. Near.

M. Gol enbi ewski .

MR GCOLEMBI EWsKI :  Thank you, M.
Morissette. | have no questions.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M.
ol enbi ewski. We'll continue with
cross-exam nation by Dr. Near followed by M.
Carter.

Dr. Near.

(No response.)

MR. MORI SSETTE: Ckay. We'Il nove on.
Dr. Near is not with us. W'Il nove on to M.
Carter.

M. Carter, any cross-exam nation?

MR. CARTER  Just one thing actually.
| just want to |look at the |ast page of the spill
prevention plan. | just noticed a typo | just
wanted to get cleared up. Under section 4, site
and energency contact info under local fire
departnent | just wanted to note that fire marshal
just has one "L."

MR. MORI SSETTE: Thank you, M. Carter.
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MR. CARTER And that's all that |
have. Thank you.

MR. MORI SSETTE: Very good. Thank you.
And | have no follow up questions for the
petitioner. So that concludes our hearing for
today. Therefore, before closing this evidentiary
record in this matter, the Connecticut Siting
Counci | announces that briefs and proposed
findings of fact may be filed with the Council by
any party or intervenor no later than May 9, 2024.
The subm ssion of briefs and proposed findings of
fact are not required by this Council; rather, we
| eave it to the choice of the parties and
I nt ervenors.

Anyone who has not becone a party or
I ntervenor but who desires to nmake his or her
views known to the Council, may file witten
statenents with the Council within 30 days of the
dat e hereof.

The Council will issue draft findings
of fact, and thereafter parties and intervenors
may identify errors or inconsistencies between the
Council's draft findings of fact and the record.
However, no new i nformati on, no new evi dence and

no argunents and no reply briefs w thout our
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perm ssion will be considered by the Council.

Copies of the transcript of this
hearing will be filed in the Wndsor Town Clerk's
of fice.

| hereby declare this hearing
adj ourned. And thank you everyone for your
participation. Go out and enjoy the beautiful day
out there. Thank you.

(Wher eupon, the hearing concluded at
4:07 p.m)
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CERTI FI CATE FOR REMOTE HEARI NG

I hereby certify that the foregoing 105 pages
are a conplete and accurate conputer-aided
transcription of ori gi nal stenotype notes taken
of the CONTI NUED REMOTE HEARI NG hel d before the
CONNECTI CUT SI TING COUNCI L I N RE:  PETI TI ON NUMBER
1598, W ndsor Solar One, LLC Petition for a

Decl aratory Ruling, pursuant to Connecti cut

General Statutes, Section 4-176 and Section

16- 50k, for the proposed construction, naintenance
and operation of a 3.0-negawatt AC sol ar

phot ovol taic electrlcvgeneratlng facility located
at 445 River Street, Wndsor, Connecticut, and
associ ated el ectrical interconnection, which was
hel d before JOHN MORI SSETTE, PRESI DI NG OFFI CER, on
April 9, 2024.

u-' i I," ] Yy

Lisa L. Warner, CSR 061
Court Reporter
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 01             MR. MORISSETTE:  Good afternoon, ladies
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 05  4-176 and 16-50k, for the proposed construction,

 06  maintenance and operation of a 3.0-megawatt AC

 07  solar photovoltaic electric generating facility

 08  located at 445 River Street in Windsor,

 09  Connecticut and the associated electrical

 10  interconnection.

 11             Please be advised that the Council does

 12  not issue permits for stormwater management.  If

 13  the proposed project is approved by the Council, a

 14  Department of Energy and Environmental Protection,

 15  also known as DEEP, Stormwater Permit is

 16  independently required.  DEEP could hold a public

 17  hearing on any Stormwater Permit application.

 18             Please also be advised that the

 19  Council's project evaluation criteria under the

 20  statute does not include consideration of property

 21  value.

 22             A verbatim transcript will be made of

 23  this hearing and deposited at the Windsor Town

 24  Clerk's Office for the convenience of the public.

 25             The Council will take a 10 to 15 minute
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 01  break at a convenient juncture at around 3:30 p.m.

 02             Now we will continue with the Town of

 03  Windsor's appearance.  In accordance with the

 04  Council's March 21, 2024 continued evidentiary

 05  hearing memo, we will begin with the appearance of

 06  the Town of Windsor.

 07             Will the town present its witness panel

 08  for the purposes of taking the oath, and we'll

 09  have Attorney Bachman administer the oath.

 10             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Good afternoon, Mr.

 11  Morissette.  Can everyone hear me okay?

 12             MR. MORISSETTE:  Yes, we can.  Thank

 13  you.

 14             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  For the record, my

 15  name is Stefan Sjoberg.  I'm an attorney with

 16  Updike, Kelly & Spellacy, and I'll be representing

 17  the Town of Windsor in these proceedings.  Our

 18  witness panel today, we have Eric Barz, town

 19  planner for the Town of Windsor.  We have Todd

 20  Sealy, assistant town planner for the Town of

 21  Windsor.  We have Suzanne Choate, town engineer

 22  for the Town of Windsor.  Our fourth witness,

 23  Gregory Tocci, senior principal consultant with

 24  Cavanaugh Tocci Associates, will not be

 25  participating for purposes of today's hearing.  I
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 01  offer them to be sworn in at this time.

 02             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 03  Sjoberg.

 04             Attorney Bachman, please swear in the

 05  witnesses.

 06             ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you, Mr.

 07  Morissette.  Can the witnesses please raise their

 08  right hand.

 09  E R I C   B A R Z,

 10  T O D D   S E A L Y,

 11  S U Z A N N E   C H O A T E,

 12       having been first duly sworn by Attorney

 13       Bachman, testified on their oaths as follows:

 14             ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you.

 15             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 16  Bachman.

 17             Attorney Sjoberg, please begin by

 18  verifying all the exhibits by the appropriate

 19  sworn witnesses.

 20             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Thank you, Mr.

 21  Morissette.  We have reevaluated the town's

 22  exhibits previously submitted to the Council in

 23  conjunction with the petitioner's Late-Filed

 24  exhibits and deemed Exhibits 3, 4 and 5 to no

 25  longer be applicable to this petition.  For

�0008

 01  clarification, I'm referring to the example of the

 02  proposed berm with the vegetation and the two maps

 03  with the property line information.  So for

 04  purposes of the record, I would ask that Exhibits

 05  3, 4 and 5 to no longer be included.

 06             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 07  Sjoberg.  Please continue.

 08             DIRECT EXAMINATION

 09             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Sure.  So I have

 10  three exhibits listed in the hearing program under

 11  Roman III, subsection B.  They include Item Number

 12  1, Town of Windsor request for party status, Item

 13  Number 2, Town of Windsor responses to petitioner

 14  interrogatories, and Item Number 6, Town of

 15  Windsor prefile testimony of Eric Barz.  I offer

 16  them subject to verification by the witness panel.

 17             Mr. Barz, did you prepare or assist in

 18  the preparation of the exhibits listed in the

 19  hearing program under Roman III, subsection B,

 20  specifically Items 1, 2 and 6?

 21             THE WITNESS (Barz):  I did.

 22             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Do you have any

 23  corrections, modifications or amendments to offer

 24  to any of those exhibits?

 25             THE WITNESS (Barz):  No, I have no
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 01  modifications.

 02             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Is the information

 03  contained in those exhibits true and accurate to

 04  the best of your knowledge?

 05             THE WITNESS (Barz):  Yes.

 06             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  And do you adopt the

 07  information contained in those exhibits as your

 08  testimony in this proceeding?

 09             THE WITNESS (Barz):  I do.

 10             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Mr. Sealy, did you

 11  prepare or assist in the preparation of exhibits

 12  listed in the hearing program under Roman III,

 13  subsection B, Items 1 and 2?

 14             THE WITNESS (Sealy):  I did.

 15             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Do you have any

 16  corrections, modifications or amendments to offer

 17  to any of those exhibits?

 18             THE WITNESS (Sealy):  I do not.

 19             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Is the information

 20  contained in those exhibits true and accurate to

 21  the best of your knowledge?

 22             THE WITNESS (Sealy):  They are, yes.

 23             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  And do you adopt the

 24  information contained in those exhibits as your

 25  testimony in this proceeding?
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 01             THE WITNESS (Sealy):  I do.

 02             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Ms. Choate, did you

 03  prepare or assist in the preparation of exhibits

 04  listed in the hearing program under Roman III,

 05  subsection B, specifically Items 1 and 2?

 06             THE WITNESS (Choate):  I did.

 07             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Do you have any

 08  corrections, modifications or amendments to offer

 09  to any of those exhibits?

 10             THE WITNESS (Choate):  I do not.

 11             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Is the information

 12  contained in those exhibits true and accurate to

 13  the best of your knowledge?

 14             THE WITNESS (Choate):  Yes.

 15             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  And do you adopt the

 16  information contained in those exhibits as your

 17  testimony in these proceedings?

 18             THE WITNESS (Choate):  Yes.

 19             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Mr. Morissette, I

 20  offer them as full exhibits.

 21             MR.  MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 22  Sjoberg.

 23             Does any party or intervenor object to

 24  the admission of the Town of Windsor's Exhibits

 25  B-1, 2 and 6 and excluding 3, 4 and 5?
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 01             Attorney Hoffman.

 02             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No objection, sir.

 03             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Lisa

 04  Bress?

 05             MS. BRESS:  No objection.

 06             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  And I

 07  believe Leslie Harrison is representing the

 08  grouped resident intervenors; is that correct?

 09             MS. HARRISON:  Yes.  No objection.

 10             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.

 11  The Exhibits B-1, 2 and 6 are hereby admitted.

 12             (Town of Windsor Exhibits III-B-1,

 13  III-B-2 and III-B-6:  Received in evidence -

 14  described in index.)

 15             MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now begin with

 16  the cross-examination of the Town of Windsor by

 17  the Council starting with Mr. Mercier followed by

 18  Mr. Silvestri.

 19             Mr. Mercier, good afternoon.

 20             CROSS-EXAMINATION

 21             MR. MERCIER:  Good afternoon.  Thank

 22  you.  I just have a couple of questions regarding

 23  the proposed site.  And as you're aware, the

 24  petitioner is proposing to host sheep at the site,

 25  most likely from April to October, if the project
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 01  was approved.  If the project was approved, does

 02  the town have any concerns regarding the potential

 03  for sheep grazing at the site?

 04             THE WITNESS (Choate):  No.

 05             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Did you hear us

 06  okay?

 07             MR. MERCIER:  I believe that was "no";

 08  is that correct?

 09             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  That's correct.

 10             MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  Also,

 11  regarding the revised landscape plan, although

 12  this information wasn't taken in by the petitioner

 13  yet and sworn to, have you had an opportunity to

 14  review the revised landscape plan that was

 15  submitted by email on April 2nd from the

 16  petitioner?

 17             THE WITNESS (Sealy):  (Pause)  Oh, yes.

 18  Sorry.

 19             MR. MERCIER:  Does the town have any

 20  further comment on the landscape plan that was

 21  submitted on April 2nd?

 22             THE WITNESS (Sealy):  I do not, no.

 23             MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I have no

 24  other questions.

 25             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr.
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 01  Mercier.  We'll now continue with

 02  cross-examination of the Town of Windsor by Mr.

 03  Silvestri followed by Mr. Nguyen.

 04             Mr. Silvestri, good afternoon.

 05             MR. SILVESTRI:  Good afternoon, Mr.

 06  Morissette.  And good afternoon, all.  I have a

 07  few questions on the segment of River Street that

 08  runs north and south.  And am I correct that there

 09  are no utility poles on that section of the road,

 10  only light poles?

 11             THE WITNESS (Barz):  I believe that is

 12  correct.

 13             MR. SILVESTRI:  Okay.  Thank you.  Do

 14  you recall when those light poles were put in and

 15  the utilities were run underground?

 16             THE WITNESS (Barz):  That would have

 17  been done when the Strawberry Hills development

 18  was built back in the mid-eighties.

 19             MR. SILVESTRI:  Mid-eighties.  Thank

 20  you.  And just one last question on that.  Was

 21  there any set reason why that section went

 22  underground?

 23             THE WITNESS (Barz):  It is the standard

 24  in the zoning regulations that all the utilities

 25  be put underground unless there are engineering
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 01  challenges that make it impractical.

 02             MR. SILVESTRI:  Very good.  Thank you

 03  for your responses.

 04             Mr. Morissette, I'm all set.  Thank

 05  you.

 06             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr.

 07  Silvestri.  We'll now continue with

 08  cross-examination by Mr. Nguyen followed by Mr.

 09  Golembiewski.

 10             Good afternoon, Mr. Nguyen.

 11             MR. NGUYEN:  Good afternoon, Mr.

 12  Morissette.  I have no questions.  Thank you.

 13             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Nguyen.

 14  We'll now continue with cross-examination by Mr.

 15  Golembiewski followed by Dr. Near.

 16             Mr. Golembiewski, good afternoon.

 17             MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  Good afternoon, Mr.

 18  Morissette.  I don't have any questions either.

 19             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.

 20             MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  Thank you.

 21             MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now continue

 22  with cross-examination by Dr. Near followed by Mr.

 23  Carter.

 24             Dr. Near, good afternoon.

 25             DR. NEAR:  Good afternoon, Mr.
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 01  Morissette and all.  And like my colleague before

 02  me, I do not have any questions at this time.

 03             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.

 04  We'll now continue with cross-examination by

 05  Mr. Carter followed by myself.

 06             Mr. Carter, good afternoon.

 07             MR. CARTER:  Good afternoon, Mr.

 08  Morissette.  And good afternoon, all.  I hope

 09  you're all enjoying this beautiful weather.  I

 10  also don't have any questions for the town.  So

 11  thank you.

 12             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  With that,

 13  I do not have any questions either.  So we will

 14  continue with the cross-examination of the Town of

 15  Windsor by the petitioner.

 16             Attorney Hoffman, good afternoon.

 17             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Good afternoon.  I

 18  can't believe it, but I think I will have more

 19  cross-examination than the Council today.

 20             I would direct the town to its response

 21  to Interrogatory Number 12.  The last paragraph of

 22  that response, which is right above Interrogatory

 23  13, talks about the town staff suggesting that

 24  Amazon place the noisy trucks on the opposite --

 25  noisy truck docks, excuse me, on the opposite side
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 01  of the building.  Do you see that?

 02             THE WITNESS (Barz):  Yes.

 03             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Do you know how

 04  noisy those trucks are approximately?

 05             THE WITNESS (Barz):  Not off the top of

 06  my head, no.

 07             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

 08  And going to Interrogatory 13, you said that

 09  Amazon was held to the requirements set forth in

 10  the zoning regulations, but the question was about

 11  TCLP testing.  Do the town zoning regulations

 12  require any TCLP testing for anything?

 13             THE WITNESS (Barz):  Not that I'm aware

 14  of.

 15             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

 16  And shifting to Interrogatory 15, the second

 17  paragraph states that the town required all

 18  environmental testing that is required within its

 19  zoning regulations.  What environmental testing is

 20  required within the town's zoning regulations?

 21             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Respectfully, I'm

 22  going to object to this.  I don't see the

 23  relevancy given that the proceeding that we're

 24  under is not subject to zoning regulations in the

 25  town.
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 01             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  If I may respond,

 02  Mr. Morissette?

 03             MR. MORISSETTE:  Certainly.

 04             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  The fact is, is that

 05  the Siting Council does at least take the zoning

 06  regulations into account, and the town has pointed

 07  to its zoning regulations elsewhere during these

 08  proceedings.  And so I'm just trying to get a

 09  comparison between the two.  This will be my last

 10  question about the zoning regs.

 11             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 12  Hoffman.

 13             Attorney Bachman, do you have any

 14  comment on this?

 15             ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  We certainly do take

 16  the town's regulations into account, Mr.

 17  Morissette, in any jurisdictional matter.  And so

 18  it has been brought up during the proceeding, and

 19  I think that Mr. Attorney Hoffman's question is

 20  appropriate.

 21             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 22  Bachman.

 23             Therefore, Attorney Sjoberg, we do

 24  believe that the question is appropriate.  And if

 25  the witnesses could provide a response, please.
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 01             THE WITNESS (Barz):  There is no

 02  mandatory environmental testing required within

 03  the zoning regulations other than the Planning and

 04  Zoning Commission may require such analysis.

 05             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

 06  With that, I do want to move to correct an

 07  inadvertent error in the record, but we have to

 08  cast our mind back to the first day of hearing.

 09  At that day of hearing -- and these questions are

 10  going to be predominantly for Mr. Barz, I think.

 11  At that first day of hearing, one of Windsor Solar

 12  One's witnesses, Mr. Fitzgerald, testified that

 13  the zoning for the Amazon project, when it was

 14  constructed, was industrial, but that's not 100

 15  percent accurate, is it, Mr. Barz?

 16             THE WITNESS (Barz):  I'm trying to

 17  recall.  There's a finger of agricultural land,

 18  zoned land that might be on the property that was

 19  left at the time of the rezoning to provide a

 20  buffer from the Strawberry Hills neighborhood.  I

 21  think that's what you're looking for.

 22             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  That's exactly

 23  correct, sir.  So if I can refresh your

 24  recollection, on October 11, 2016 the town

 25  planning and zoning commission put on its agenda
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 01  for a zone boundary change from agricultural and

 02  industrial to warehouse for the Amazon site.  Does

 03  that ring a bell?

 04             THE WITNESS (Barz):  Yes.

 05             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  And then on

 06  November 9, 2016, the planning and zoning

 07  commission ruled on that zone change to warehouse

 08  and decided that changing the zone to warehouse

 09  from agricultural and industrial was inappropriate

 10  because industrial would be more protected.  Is

 11  that correct?

 12             THE WITNESS (Barz):  I have a vague

 13  recollection of that.  I don't specifically

 14  remember that, but it sounds plausible.

 15             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Do you have a

 16  recollection of your testimony before the town

 17  planning and zoning commission on December 13,

 18  2016?

 19             THE WITNESS (Barz):  That was eight

 20  years ago.  I don't.

 21             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Fair enough.  But at

 22  that time you presented to the zoning commission

 23  to change the land use for the Amazon project from

 24  agricultural and industrial to industrial.  Do you

 25  recall that?
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 01             THE WITNESS (Barz):  I believe so.

 02             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I

 03  have no further questions.

 04             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 05  Hoffman.  We'll now continue with

 06  cross-examination of the Town of Windsor by Lisa

 07  Bress.

 08             Lisa, good afternoon.

 09             MS. BRESS:  Good afternoon.  I don't

 10  have any questions for the Town of Windsor.  I'll

 11  be completely honest.  I did not recognize that I

 12  would have an opportunity to cross-examine the

 13  town of Windsor, so I don't have any questions

 14  prepared.  I'm sorry.

 15             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Ms. Bress.

 16  We'll now continue with cross-examination of the

 17  Town of Windsor by Leslie Harrison.

 18             Ms. Harrison.

 19             MS. HARRISON:  Thank you very much.  I,

 20  like Lisa Bress, did not know that I would have

 21  this opportunity so I had no questions prepared

 22  either.  Thank you.

 23             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you,

 24  Ms. Harrison.

 25             We'll now continue with the appearance
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 01  by Keith and Lisa Bress.  Will the party present

 02  its witness panel for purposes of taking the oath.

 03  Attorney Bachman will administer the oath.

 04             Keith and Lisa Bress, please.

 05             MS. BRESS:  No witnesses, thank you,

 06  just myself.

 07             MR. MORISSETTE:  Okay.  Very good.

 08  Lisa Bress, have you offered the exhibits listed

 09  under the hearing program as Roman numeral IV-B-1

 10  and 2 for identification purposes?

 11             ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Mr. Morissette,

 12  could we please put Ms. Bress under oath before we

 13  ask her to verify the exhibits.

 14             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  I'm moving

 15  ahead too fast here.  Thank you, Attorney Bachman.

 16  Please administer the oath.

 17  L I S A   B R E S S,

 18       having been first duly sworn by Attorney

 19       Bachman, testified on her oath as follows:

 20             ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you.

 21             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 22  Bachman.

 23             Ms. Bress, now that you are sworn in,

 24  you have offered the exhibits listed under the

 25  hearing program as Roman numeral IV-B-1 and 2 for
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 01  identification purposes.

 02             THE WITNESS (Bress):  I don't know what

 03  they are, but if I submitted them to the Council,

 04  I absolutely did.

 05             MR. MORISSETTE:  Let's see here.  Your

 06  request, Exhibit Number 1 was a request for party

 07  status.

 08             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes.

 09             MR. MORISSETTE:  And number 2 is your

 10  prefile testimony, dated February 1, 2024.

 11             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, sir.  Thank

 12  you for that.

 13             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Are there

 14  any objections to marking the exhibits for

 15  identification purposes only at this time?

 16             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No objection from

 17  the town.

 18             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No objection from

 19  Windsor Solar One, sir.

 20             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Ms. Bress,

 21  do you object?

 22             MS. BRESS:  Not at all, sir.

 23             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Ms. Bress,

 24  did you prepare or assist in the preparation of

 25  Exhibits IV-B-1 and 2?
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 01             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes.

 02             MR. MORISSETTE:  Do you have any

 03  addictions, clarifications, deletions or

 04  modifications of those documents?

 05             THE WITNESS (Bress):  No, sir.

 06             MR. MORISSETTE:  Are these exhibits

 07  true and accurate to the best of your knowledge?

 08             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Absolutely, yes.

 09             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  And do you

 10  offer these exhibits as your testimony here today?

 11             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, I do.

 12             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Does any

 13  party or intervenor object to the admission of

 14  Lisa Bress's exhibits?

 15             Attorney Hoffman.

 16             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No objection, Mr.

 17  Morissette.

 18             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Attorney

 19  Sjoberg?

 20             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No objection.

 21             MR. MORISSETTE:  And Ms. Harrison.

 22             MS. HARRISON:  No objection.

 23             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  The

 24  exhibits are hereby admitted.

 25             (Bress Exhibits IV-B-1 and IV-B-2:
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 01  Received in evidence - described in index.)

 02             MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now begin with

 03  cross-examination of Ms. Bress by the Council,

 04  starting with Mr. Mercier followed by Mr.

 05  Silvestri.

 06             Mr. Mercier.

 07             CROSS-EXAMINATION

 08             MR. MERCIER:  Yes.  Thank you.  Ms.

 09  Bress, did you have a chance to review the

 10  landscape plan that was sent to you by the

 11  petitioner on April 2nd by email?

 12             THE WITNESS (Bress):  The new one, sir?

 13             MR. MERCIER:  That's correct.

 14             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, I have.

 15             MR. MERCIER:  Do you have any comments

 16  regarding this revised landscape plan?

 17             THE WITNESS (Bress):  I, again, not

 18  fully understanding the proceeding, I had a set of

 19  questions that I thought I would be able to ask of

 20  the petitioner.  So yes, I do have some comments

 21  about it.

 22             MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Fair enough.  Do

 23  you have any concerns regarding the proposal to

 24  potentially graze sheep at the site?

 25             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, I do.  I
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 01  have concerns about the site plan, and I do have

 02  concerns about the potential grazing of sheep at

 03  the site.

 04             MR. MERCIER:  What concerns might you

 05  have regarding the sheep?

 06             THE WITNESS (Bress):  The concerns that

 07  I have regarding the sheep have to do with the

 08  information that Leslie Harrison shared, a couple

 09  of things.  One was the information regarding no

 10  shelter for the animals during that period of

 11  time.  That's quite a few months.  And I'm just

 12  wondering, like, will they be wandering the

 13  property, will they be just all over the place,

 14  will they be contained, will they be subject to

 15  predation from our coyotes and bears and animals

 16  around.  I'm also concerned about the waste that

 17  will be produced.  It could be smelly.  And if the

 18  sheep are going to be grazed in the northern area

 19  or area close to the residents, I have some very

 20  strong concerns about what that might smell like

 21  for a number of months.  So those are my concerns,

 22  safety of animals, smell, protection for the

 23  animals, and those are my concerns in that regard.

 24             As far as the site plan, I can tell you

 25  those concerns, but I don't know if this is the
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 01  proper time.

 02             MR. MERCIER:  Yes.  What are your

 03  concerns regarding the site plan?

 04             THE WITNESS (Bress):  My concerns

 05  regarding the site plan revolve around watering

 06  and who is responsible for that.  My concerns

 07  around the site plan are who is going to monitor

 08  the design and maintenance for the landscaping.

 09             I have additional concerns about the

 10  site plan in that there is in the site plan an

 11  opportunity for it to be, plants to be monitored

 12  for a year, but there's no irrigation there and

 13  there is no -- so if there is any death in the

 14  plants, there's no requirement by the petitioner

 15  to come back in and replace them after a year.

 16  And as a gardener, avid gardener, I've often put

 17  in plants, shrubs, trees, and after a year,

 18  despite watering them regularly every day,

 19  sometimes every other day, they're dead.

 20             So my concern in that regard is if

 21  there's no, you know, something in the site plan

 22  that says that someone is going to regularly water

 23  on a certain schedule, who is going to be

 24  responsible for that, who is going to oversee

 25  that, and if the plants die, how are we going to
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 01  replace them if the year is over.  Those are some

 02  of the concerns I had there.

 03             I also had some concerns about the way

 04  the trees were going to be installed.  There's no

 05  indication in there that balled and burlapped

 06  trees will have the wires removed.  It says that,

 07  you know, tree substitutions can be approved by

 08  the landscape architect and approved by the

 09  owner's representative.  Well, while I'm pleased

 10  to see the owner's involvement, I don't see how

 11  that doesn't prevent Verogy from changing the

 12  entire plan due to costs or other factors after

 13  the project is approved.

 14             I mean, Number 7 clearly says they can

 15  propose any tree substitutions whatsoever, and

 16  there is absolutely no just cause needed or no --

 17  you know, it doesn't really -- there's no

 18  guarantee in this plan, in this written plan that

 19  says that they couldn't substitute the trees.

 20  This plan is beautiful, but there's no, nothing

 21  that says that it's going to be taken care of

 22  after a year, and there's nothing in this plan

 23  that says that there is a remedy or there's going

 24  to be no substitutions just in case, you know, if

 25  it's too expensive or they find afterward that
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 01  it's not working for them or they don't want to do

 02  it, there's nothing in this plan that says that

 03  they're required.  So that's the concern I have

 04  there about that.

 05             And then I have some other continued

 06  things about, you know, again, where the inverters

 07  are placed and, you know, that there's no

 08  buffering there.  I have some concerns about the

 09  fact that the visual -- I'm sorry, I don't know if

 10  I'm allowed to tell you this, but I also have some

 11  concerns about the visual simulation.  There's no

 12  panels in the visual simulation.  So how can a

 13  comparison be made about the visual screening and

 14  the plantings' adequacy when there's no

 15  visualization of the panels placed behind them.  I

 16  mean, to me I'm looking at something, I'm saying,

 17  well, that looks very lovely and the trees look

 18  lovely, but where are the panels?  How do I even

 19  know how this is going to look in reference to the

 20  panels.

 21             And then in another visual simulation,

 22  which again I appreciated, but as an abutter, my

 23  son being an abutter and as party to this hearing,

 24  the visual simulations were not done from the

 25  vantage point of the abutters.  The visual
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 01  simulation is done from a corner of the property

 02  on the street totally to the side of all the

 03  abutters.  So I'm looking again at a beautiful

 04  visual simulation of a corner, not of a visual

 05  simulation from the properties that this project

 06  is abutting.  So again, my concern would have been

 07  can we have a visual simulation of actually what

 08  we're going to see from the abutters' property.

 09  That's not in here.

 10             So those are some of the concerns I

 11  have.  I mean, there's many more.  But if I don't

 12  have an opportunity, I'm not sure whether I'm

 13  going to have an opportunity to ask those

 14  questions again.  But thank you for your question.

 15             And I do have continued concerns also

 16  about the landscape and the footprint in relation

 17  to traffic and the ability of trucks to make the

 18  turn from Poquonock Avenue to River Street and

 19  from down Kennedy Road to River Street and then up

 20  River Street.  Those are very, very sharp turns.

 21  And my limited understanding of solar panels is

 22  they're very long and very large.  So I am just

 23  even concerned about how those panels are going to

 24  maneuver with those trucks around those corners on

 25  a two-lane road like River Street and enter this
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 01  property for months and months at a time while

 02  construction is going on.

 03             So again, I don't want to take too much

 04  of the Council's time, but these are some of the

 05  questions I have about the new site plan.  And

 06  thank you so much for your question.

 07             MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.

 08             MR. MORISSETTE:  Ms. Bress, for your

 09  information, the petitioner will be appearing this

 10  afternoon to be cross-examined on the exhibits

 11  that were filed, including the visual and

 12  landscaping plan.

 13             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Mr. Morissette,

 14  I'm so grateful for that information.  Thank you.

 15             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.

 16             Mr. Mercier, please continue.

 17             MR. MERCIER:  I have no other

 18  questions.  Thank you.

 19             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Thank you,

 20  Mr. Mercier.  We'll now continue with

 21  cross-examination by Mr. Silvestri followed by Mr.

 22  Nguyen.

 23             Mr. Silvestri.

 24             MR. SILVESTRI:  Thank you, Mr.

 25  Morissette.  Actually, Mr. Mercier posed the
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 01  questions that I was going to pose.  So I thank

 02  him, and I thank Ms. Bress for her responses.

 03  Thank you.

 04             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll

 05  continue with cross-examination of Ms. Bress by

 06  Mr. Nguyen followed by Mr. Golembiewski.

 07             Mr. Nguyen.

 08             MR. NGUYEN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.

 09  I have no questions for Ms. Bress.  Thank you.

 10             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now

 11  continue with Mr. Golembiewski followed by Dr.

 12  Near.

 13             Mr. Golembiewski.

 14             MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  Thank you, Mr.

 15  Morissette.  I don't have any questions at this

 16  point.  Thank you.

 17             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now

 18  continue with Dr. Near followed by Mr. Carter.

 19             Dr. Near.

 20             DR. NEAR:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.

 21  I have no questions at this time for Ms. Bress.

 22  Thank you for being here, Ms. Bress.  I appreciate

 23  your presence.

 24             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Thank you too.

 25             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Dr. Near.
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 01  We'll now continue with Mr. Carter followed by

 02  myself.  Mr. Carter.

 03             MR. CARTER:  Thank you.  Ms. Bress,

 04  thank you for your time.  I have no questions.

 05             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Thank you, Mr.

 06  Carter.

 07             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.

 08             Ms. Bress, I do not have any questions

 09  either.  We will now continue with

 10  cross-examination by Attorney Hoffman.

 11             Attorney Hoffman.

 12             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you, Mr.

 13  Morissette.

 14             Ms. Bress, I just have a couple of

 15  questions.  While I understand that Keith Bress is

 16  an abutter, you're not an abutter to the facility,

 17  correct?

 18             THE WITNESS (Bress):  I requested

 19  permission, clearly explaining that I was not an

 20  abutter.  My son has a disability and he requested

 21  that I represent him, and the Council graciously

 22  accepted and allowed that to happen.

 23             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  I'm not disagreeing

 24  with that at all, Ms. Bress, but you and your son

 25  are both intervenors in this proceeding, you both
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 01  have independent rights of one another, and so I'm

 02  trying to distinguish between the two of you.  So

 03  you're not an abutter but Ms. Bress is, correct?

 04             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Correct, but we

 05  were able to apply as abutters.

 06             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And we never

 07  objected to -- well, you're not able to apply as

 08  an abutter, he was, but anybody in the Town of

 09  Windsor can apply?

 10             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes.

 11             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you live

 12  about four miles from the site, give or take?

 13             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Eight minutes.

 14  I'm not sure how many miles, yes.

 15             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Fair enough.  But

 16  you live south of Route 305, right?

 17             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, we spend

 18  quite a bit of time there.

 19             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  When you're

 20  visiting your son as you're looking out from the,

 21  towards the solar panels, can you see the Amazon

 22  facility from Mr. Bress's house?

 23             THE WITNESS (Bress):  No.

 24             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  You can't see it at

 25  all?

�0034

 01             THE WITNESS (Bress):  No, I didn't even

 02  see it when we went to look for the house because

 03  it's to the left and up the hill so the tree cover

 04  was tremendous and I had -- if you can believe

 05  this, I should have known, but I had no idea that

 06  it was there, which is kind of weird.

 07             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And can you hear it

 08  from the house?

 09             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Nope, haven't

 10  heard anything so far.  He's only been there since

 11  September 1st, so we haven't heard anything as of

 12  yet.

 13             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And I know that

 14  Mr. Bress works from home for at least part of the

 15  time.  Does he also work outside the home?

 16             THE WITNESS (Bress):  At this time he

 17  is working part-time outside the home.

 18             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  And what

 19  livestock does the current property owner have on

 20  the property where the solar facility is being

 21  considered?

 22             THE WITNESS (Bress):  I couldn't speak

 23  to that except to know that when we've driven past

 24  there, I've been in Windsor for over 32 years, the

 25  only livestock I've ever seen there has been cows
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 01  occasionally in the field.

 02             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  So he's got

 03  cows there?

 04             THE WITNESS (Bress):  I don't know if

 05  they're still grazed in that section because I

 06  haven't seen them since he's moved in, but I do

 07  know that they're somewhere on the property.

 08             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you.  And at

 09  the conclusion of your testimony you say that as

 10  town councilor you led the effort to create the

 11  first clean and sustainable energy task force in

 12  Windsor.

 13             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Correct.

 14             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  How many renewable

 15  energy facilities was that task force responsible

 16  for constructing?

 17             THE WITNESS (Bress):  The task force

 18  does not construct renewable energy facilities.

 19  The task force was commissioned to do a study.

 20  And it had about eight members, various community

 21  members of different expertise, and they were

 22  commissioned to do a two-year study to propose

 23  initiatives to the town council on best practices

 24  for clean and sustainable energy.

 25             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And did they
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 01  recommend an increase in renewable energy?

 02             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Honestly, it was

 03  two years ago.  I'm not certain what's exactly in

 04  the document, but I would -- I don't know, to be

 05  honest, but I would guess, it was very lengthy,

 06  like 50 pages, and there were a variety of

 07  projects recommended.  There's been solar

 08  installed on top of local buildings and the

 09  firehouse.  So I'm sure there were renewable

 10  energy suggestions in there, yes.

 11             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Outstanding.  Thank

 12  you.  I have nothing further.

 13             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 14  Hoffman.  We'll now continue with

 15  cross-examination of Ms. Bress by Attorney

 16  Sjoberg.

 17             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Thank you, Mr.

 18  Morissette.  The town does not have any questions

 19  for Lisa Bress.  Thank you.

 20             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 21  Sjoberg.  We'll continue with cross-examination of

 22  Lisa Bress by the grouped resident intervenors,

 23  Leslie Harrison.

 24             MS. HARRISON:  Yes.  Based on her

 25  submitted testimony, I don't have any questions
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 01  for Ms. Bress.

 02             I did have one, and that is I heard

 03  Attorney Hoffman say that you're not an abutter,

 04  but I heard you say that you spent a great deal of

 05  time or some period of time at your son's new

 06  home.  And you also, and I have personal knowledge

 07  of this, you also appeared at a Strawberry Hills

 08  community meeting.

 09             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes.

 10             MS. HARRISON:  And I wondered if you

 11  could talk about what you heard at that meeting

 12  and what the general sentiment was.

 13             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Well, I attended

 14  that meeting in a different --

 15             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Mr. Morissette, I'd

 16  like to object to that.  That's hearsay.

 17             MS. HARRISON:  I thought she stated

 18  that in her letter.

 19             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  What she stated in

 20  her letter I was going to allow to ask, but if

 21  she's testifying as to what other people said, it

 22  is by definition hearsay.  Those people aren't

 23  here.  They had a chance to attend the public

 24  comment meeting that the Siting Council put

 25  forward and they did not.
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 01             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 02  Hoffman.

 03             Attorney Bachman, your opinion on this?

 04             ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you, Mr.

 05  Morissette.  Certainly, if part of it is in the

 06  letter, anything Ms. Bress may have stated.  Yes,

 07  it is hearsay, anything anyone else has said, but

 08  if she could just give a brief summary of general

 09  comments that she may have heard, I think that

 10  would be acceptable.  Thank you.

 11             THE WITNESS (Bress):  Sure.  I'm happy

 12  to make it brief.  Basically I attended in a

 13  different capacity.  I was invited because I was,

 14  my son was purchasing a home there or had

 15  purchased the home, but I was invited as deputy

 16  mayor of Windsor.  So I will just say that at that

 17  meeting, as I stated in my letter, without going

 18  into detail about all the concerns, that there

 19  were many, I would say 30 or more, residents at

 20  that meeting that had specific concerns regarding

 21  the installation of a utility scale solar project

 22  in their neighborhoods.

 23             And Ms. Bachman, I think I can get into

 24  detail or nothing further, but there was great

 25  concern about many of the issues that Leslie is
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 01  nicely raising, and I'm trying to raise, all of

 02  the things we're raising are based on the concerns

 03  by those residents.

 04             And I will just say one more thing that

 05  is not hearsay.  I've received tons of emails from

 06  people who are actually afraid to participate in

 07  this proceeding because they do not feel confident

 08  to participate nor to speak publicly nor to even

 09  email.  So I just want the Council to know that

 10  the reason Leslie and I go on so long is because

 11  we've heard from constituents and we're trying to

 12  share that honestly and sincerely with the Council

 13  and the petitioner.

 14             MR. MORISSETTE:  Anything else, Ms.

 15  Harrison?

 16             MS. HARRISON:  Since I wasn't planning

 17  to ask questions of Ms. Bress, I do not have any

 18  others at this time.  Thank you very much for the

 19  opportunity.

 20             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.

 21  We will now continue with the appearance of the

 22  grouped resident intervenors.  Will the groped

 23  resident intervenors present its witness panel for

 24  the purposes of taking the oath.  That would be

 25  Leslie Harrison, William and Jennifer Williams.
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 01             MS. HARRISON:  This is Leslie Harrison.

 02  I have no witnesses other than myself.

 03             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Attorney

 04  Bachman, could you please administer the oath to

 05  the witness, Leslie Harrison.

 06             ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you, Mr.

 07  Morissette.  I do see Jennifer and William

 08  Williams on the screen here.  And since their

 09  request for intervenor status are grouped, I would

 10  just hope that we could swear them all in at the

 11  same time.

 12             MR. MORISSETTE:  Certainly.  William

 13  and Jennifer?

 14             JENNIFER WILLIAMS:  Yes.  Hi.  We're

 15  here.

 16             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.

 17  We're going to swear you in as well.

 18             ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Could the witnesses

 19  please raise their right hand.

 20  L E S L I E   H A R R I S O N,

 21  J E N N I F E R   W I L L I A M S,

 22  W I L L I A M   W I L L I A M S,

 23       having been first duly sworn by Attorney

 24       Bachman, testified on their oaths as follows:

 25             ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you.
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 01             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 02  Bachman.

 03             Leslie Harrison and William and

 04  Jennifer Williams, you have offered the exhibits

 05  listed under hearing program Roman numerals V-B-1

 06  and 2.  Do you offer those as your exhibits?

 07             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  This is Leslie

 08  Harrison.  I presume that is my request to be an

 09  intervenor.

 10             MR. MORISSETTE:  It's your request to

 11  be intervenor dated December 11th, and William and

 12  Jennifer Williams' request for intervenor status

 13  dated December 13th.

 14             THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  Yes.  This

 15  is William.

 16             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.

 17             THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  Yeah, we

 18  did send that in.

 19             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  And this is

 20  Leslie.  Yes.

 21             MR. MORISSETTE:  Is there any objection

 22  to marking these exhibits for identification

 23  purposes only at this time?

 24             MS. BRESS:  No.

 25             A VOICE:  No.
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 01             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Leslie

 02  Harrison and William and Jennifer Williams, did

 03  you prepare or assist in the preparation of

 04  Exhibits V-B-1 and 2?

 05             THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  I don't

 06  have access to those right now.

 07             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  This is Leslie

 08  Harrison.  I prepared my request.

 09             MR. MORISSETTE:  The question is did

 10  you prepare it?  William and Jennifer, did you

 11  prepare your --

 12             THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  Yeah, I

 13  prepared my request.

 14             MR. MORISSETTE:  Okay.  Very good.

 15  Thank you.  Do you have any additions,

 16  clarifications, deletions or modifications to

 17  those documents?

 18             THE WITNESS (W. Harrison):  No.

 19             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  This is Leslie

 20  Harrison.  No, I do not.

 21             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Are these

 22  exhibits true and accurate to the best of your

 23  knowledge?

 24             THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  Yes.  This

 25  is William.  Yes, they are.
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 01             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  This is Leslie

 02  Harrison.  Yes, it is.

 03             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  And do you

 04  offer these exhibits as your testimony today?

 05             THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  William and

 06  Jennifer.  Yes.

 07             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  Leslie

 08  Harrison.  Yes.

 09             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.

 10  Does any party or intervenor object to the

 11  admission of the grouped resident intervenors'

 12  exhibits?

 13             Attorney Hoffman.

 14             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No objection, Mr.

 15  Morissette.

 16             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Attorney

 17  Sjoberg?

 18             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No objection.

 19             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Ms. Bress?

 20             MS. BRESS:  No.

 21             MR. MORISSETTE:  No objection?

 22             MS. BRESS:  I'm sorry.  No objection.

 23             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.

 24             THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  No

 25  objection.
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 01             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  The

 02  exhibits are hereby admitted.

 03             (Grouped Resident Intervenors Exhibits

 04  V-B-1 and V-B-2:  Received in evidence - described

 05  in index.)

 06             MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now begin with

 07  cross-examination of the grouped resident

 08  intervenors by the Council starting with Mr.

 09  Mercier and followed by Mr. Silvestri.

 10             Mr. Mercier.

 11             CROSS-EXAMINATION

 12             MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I guess I'll

 13  address the questions first to Leslie Harrison and

 14  similar to the other questions I asked of the town

 15  and Lisa Bress.  Have you had a chance to review

 16  the landscape plan that was submitted by the

 17  petitioner on April 2nd by email?

 18             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  I have.

 19             MR. MERCIER:  Looking at the plan, do

 20  you have any concerns regarding the planting

 21  schedule that was established, you know, all the

 22  different types of shrubs and trees along River

 23  Road and to the north?

 24             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  I did have

 25  some specific questions which I prepared for the

�0045

 01  petitioner.  I could use those now or I could use

 02  those when it's the appropriate time.

 03             MR. MERCIER:  If you have questions,

 04  yes, you'll have to ask the petitioner at that

 05  time.

 06             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  Okay.

 07             MR. MERCIER:  What --

 08             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  I'm sorry.

 09             MR. MERCIER:  Go ahead.

 10             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  I was pleased

 11  to see that they had added some trees and shrubs

 12  certainly along the portions south of the access

 13  road that they're planning.

 14             I think Ms. Bress covered most of my

 15  concerns when she said things about the fact that

 16  traffic in the area would be substantial --

 17  appears to be substantially increased not only

 18  during the construction but also, as pointed out,

 19  these are very, very small roads.  The road from

 20  Poquonock Avenue is, I mean, dangerous for two

 21  passenger cars to go in each direction at the same

 22  time in the same space.  I cannot imagine a truck

 23  containing solar panels, how that would get by

 24  that way.  So maybe they will prohibit it from

 25  going that way.  But even a turn, I mean, it's a
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 01  right angle turn two lanes wide to turn from River

 02  Street onto the other side of River Street to get

 03  to the access road.  And I just -- I don't know

 04  how these panels are transported, but unless

 05  they're flown in, I don't know how that would be a

 06  safe way to do that.

 07             And I also have concerns, as she spoke,

 08  about the lack of water.  I know that the plan

 09  indicates that the contractor will be required to

 10  bring in water since there is no irrigation.  But

 11  we've had a significant amount of water in the

 12  last few days and weeks here, but we've also

 13  had -- I've lived here 38 years in this very

 14  house -- and we've also had years where we've had

 15  tremendous drought.  And I don't know how much it

 16  costs to haul in water, but given the planting

 17  requirements for new plants, I would think that

 18  that would be a significant amount of water that

 19  would need to be brought in, in a year that is

 20  drought plagued.

 21             Other than that, as I wasn't prepared

 22  to speak to this as myself, I was prepared to ask

 23  the petitioner, I don't have any other concerns

 24  that come to the top of my mind.  But I think Ms.

 25  Bress spoke very eloquently about concerns that I
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 01  would have had, had I had time to prepare for it.

 02             MR. MERCIER:  Thank you for that.  Do

 03  you have any concerns regarding the potential for

 04  sheep grazing at the site if the site was

 05  approved?

 06             THE WITNESS (Harrison):  Yes, I do.  I

 07  have significant concerns about that.  Ms. Bress

 08  spoke to many of them, and I spoke to many in the

 09  last hearing when I questioned the petitioner.

 10  The first one was that I believe on the record we

 11  have heard that the petitioner sees no financial

 12  benefit one way or the other to mechanical methods

 13  of maintaining the property or to sheep or

 14  animals.  And if there is no financial difference,

 15  then I would advocate for mechanical, strongly

 16  advocate for mechanical preferences to do that

 17  because of the very things that Ms. Bress spoke

 18  about.

 19             We have had a significant number of

 20  lightning storms the last few summers.  And my

 21  understanding is these panels, while grounded, are

 22  still metal, and the sheep, I was told by the

 23  petitioner I believe in the interrogatory, that

 24  many times they take shelter under the panels.

 25  Well, side strikes and other things such as that

�0048

 01  do occur, and dead sheep smell even worse than

 02  live sheep, in my opinion.

 03             And we do have a significant number of

 04  predators in the area.  I have a game cam out in

 05  my backyard.  And we have bears, we have coyotes.

 06  We even have bobcats.  And I don't think that

 07  anything that is being proposed in terms of

 08  fencing would properly prevent predators from

 09  getting to the sheep.  So yes, I have very strong

 10  concerns about the sheep being there, and I would

 11  much prefer to see mechanical methods of

 12  maintaining the property.

 13             MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm

 14  going to pose the same questions to William and

 15  Jennifer Williams.

 16             THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  We don't,

 17  or at least I don't, and I think my wife doesn't,

 18  have any additional either negative or positive

 19  comments toward those things.  I take no position

 20  at all on the grazing of sheep.  I take no

 21  position on that.

 22             MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I have no

 23  other questions.

 24             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr.

 25  Mercier.  We'll now continue with
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 01  cross-examination by Mr. Silvestri followed by Mr.

 02  Nguyen.

 03             Mr. Silvestri.

 04             MR. SILVESTRI:  I have no additional

 05  questions, Mr. Morissette.  Thank you.

 06             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll

 07  continue with cross-examination by Mr. Nguyen

 08  followed by Mr. Golembiewski.

 09             Mr. Nguyen.

 10             MR. NGUYEN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.

 11  I have no questions for the group.  Thank you.

 12             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now

 13  continue with cross-examination by Mr.

 14  Golembiewski followed by Dr. Near.

 15             Mr. Golembiewski.

 16             MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  I have no additional

 17  questions.  I think their exhibits speak for

 18  themselves.  Thank you.

 19             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr.

 20  Golembiewski.  We'll now continue with

 21  cross-examination by Dr. Near followed by Mr.

 22  Carter.

 23             Dr. Near.

 24             DR. NEAR:  I have no questions at this

 25  time, Mr. Morissette.  Thank you.
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 01             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now

 02  continue with cross-examination by Mr. Carter

 03  followed by myself.

 04             Mr. Carter.

 05             MR. CARTER:  I have no questions.  And

 06  I would like to thank the group for their time.

 07  Thank you.

 08             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.

 09  And with that, I have no questions.  We will

 10  continue with cross-examination of the grouped

 11  resident intervenors by the petitioner, Attorney

 12  Hoffman.

 13             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  I have no questions,

 14  Mr. Morissette.

 15             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 16  Hoffman.  We'll now continue with

 17  cross-examination by the grouped resident

 18  intervenors by the Town of Windsor.

 19             Attorney Sjoberg.

 20             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No questions, Mr.

 21  Morissette.

 22             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll

 23  continue with cross-examination by Lisa Bress.

 24             Ms. Bress.

 25             MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  I have no
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 01  questions, Mr. Morissette.

 02             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Very good.

 03  We will continue with the appearance of the

 04  petitioner.  In accordance with the Council's

 05  March 21, 2024 continued evidentiary hearing memo,

 06  we will continue with the appearance of the

 07  petitioner, Windsor Solar One, LLC, to verify the

 08  new exhibits marked as Roman numeral II, Items

 09  B-10 on the hearing program.

 10             Attorney Hoffman, please begin by

 11  identifying the new exhibits you have filed in

 12  this matter and verifying the exhibits by the

 13  appropriate sworn witnesses.

 14  B R A D   P A R S O N S,

 15  S T E V E   K O C H I S,

 16  E R I K   B E D N A R E K,

 17  B R Y A N   F I T Z G E R A L D,

 18  J A M E S   C E R K A N O W I C Z,

 19       having been previously duly sworn, continued

 20       to testify on their oaths as follows:

 21             DIRECT EXAMINATION

 22             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you, Mr.

 23  Morissette.  So the items in Section II-B-10 are

 24  A, a revised spill prevention and materials

 25  storage plan; B, a revised site plan L-6.1; C, the
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 01  resume of Erik Bednarek; and D, an additional

 02  photo simulation that was conducted.  And so in

 03  the interest of time, I'm just going to have one

 04  witness swear each exhibit unless there are

 05  objections to that so that we can continue on.

 06             So Mr. Parsons, did prepare or cause to

 07  be prepared Item II-B-10A, the revised spill

 08  prevention and materials storage plan?

 09             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Yes, I did.

 10             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And is that exhibit

 11  accurate to the best of your knowledge?

 12             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Yes, it is.

 13             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you have any

 14  changes to that exhibit?

 15             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I do not.

 16             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you adopt

 17  that exhibit as your sworn testimony?

 18             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I do.

 19             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you.  Mr.

 20  Kochis, did you prepare or cause to be prepared

 21  Items II-B-10B as in "boy" and "D" as in "dog," B

 22  being the revised site plan L-6.1, and D being the

 23  additional photo simulations?

 24             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, I did.

 25             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And are those two
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 01  exhibits accurate to the best of your knowledge?

 02             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, they are.

 03             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Do you have any

 04  changes to those exhibits today?

 05             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  No, I do not.

 06             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you adopt

 07  them as your sworn testimony?

 08             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, I do.

 09             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And Mr. Bednarek,

 10  did you prepare or cause to be prepared the Item

 11  II-B-10C, which is your resume?  Mr. Bednarek?

 12             THE WITNESS (Bednarek):  (No response.)

 13             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Well, in that case,

 14  Mr. Kochis, since I have you here, did you assist

 15  in the preparation of Mr. Bednarek's resume which

 16  is Item II-B-10C?

 17             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, I did.

 18             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And is that accurate

 19  to the best of your knowledge?

 20             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, it is.

 21             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you have any

 22  changes to that?

 23             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  No, I do not.

 24             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you adopt

 25  that as your sworn testimony here today?
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 01             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, I do.

 02             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  With that, Mr.

 03  Morissette, I would offer up all four exhibits as

 04  full exhibits in this proceeding.

 05             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney

 06  Hoffman.  Does any party or intervenor object to

 07  the admission of the petitioner's new exhibits?

 08             Attorney Sjoberg.

 09             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No objection, Mr.

 10  Morissette.

 11             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Lisa

 12  Bress?

 13             MS. BRESS:  No objection, Mr.

 14  Morissette.

 15             MR. MORISSETTE:  And Ms. Harrison.

 16             MS. HARRISON:  No objections, Mr.

 17  Morissette.  Thank you.

 18             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  The

 19  exhibits are hereby admitted.

 20             (Petitioner's Late-Filed Exhibits

 21  II-B-1A, II-B-1B, II-B-1C and II-B-1D:  Received

 22  in evidence - described in index.)

 23             MR. MORISSETTE:  We will continue with

 24  cross-examination of the petitioner on the new

 25  exhibits by the Town of Windsor.  Attorney
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 01  Sjoberg.

 02             CROSS-EXAMINATION

 03             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Thank you, Mr.

 04  Morissette.  I only have two questions, and they

 05  revolve around I guess it would be Roman II-B-10D

 06  as in "dog," additional photo simulations based on

 07  the revised planting plan.  Pending Council

 08  approval, would the petitioner be open to

 09  increasing the diversity of the species along the

 10  frontage?

 11             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Sjoberg,

 12  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  Yes, the petitioner

 13  would be able to increase the diversity of the

 14  plantings along the frontage.

 15             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  And my last

 16  question, does the petitioner have any, pending

 17  Council approval, does the petitioner have any

 18  objections to using blue spruce and/or Scotch pine

 19  as additional species along the frontage?

 20             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Sjoberg,

 21  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  The petitioner does not

 22  object to using blue spruce or Scotch pine.

 23             ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Thank you.  I have

 24  no further questions, Mr. Morissette.

 25             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney
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 01  Sjoberg.  We'll now continue with

 02  cross-examination of the petitioner on the new

 03  exhibits by Lisa Bress.

 04             Lisa.

 05             MS. BRESS:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.

 06  I'm sorry if it sounds redundant because I did

 07  mention some of my concerns in the previous

 08  questioning, but I'm going to go through them

 09  quickly, if I can.  Most of my concerns revolve

 10  around the site plan and the visual simulation.

 11  And I'm going to do the visual simulation first.

 12  And I'm going to repeat what I just said, why

 13  aren't the solar panels included in the visual

 14  simulation?

 15             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 16  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So the solar panels are

 17  in fact included in the visual simulation.  If

 18  you're looking at any one of the three views

 19  provided, either north-south or entrance, you'll

 20  see the first page is how it exists today, titled

 21  "existing conditions."  The second page is titled

 22  "no screening."  And from there you can see

 23  straight through to what are blue rectangles

 24  behind an agricultural style fence behind the

 25  existing vegetation that is currently in place in
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 01  the field.

 02             And then if you scroll to the third and

 03  final page of each different view, you'll see what

 04  is titled a "vegetated buffer."  And again, from

 05  the view of the photo sim, you have the existing

 06  vegetation, the new vegetation, the fence and then

 07  the panels behind it.  The panels are in fact

 08  those blue rectangles that are in the field.

 09             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  So I guess I didn't

 10  see the blue rectangles as the panels.  And am I

 11  seeing correctly then that from your visual

 12  simulation, even though the plantings are spaced,

 13  there's not going to be a visual record of the

 14  solar panels above the fence?  Because I'm not --

 15  I didn't see anything higher than the fence in

 16  that particular visualization.  I don't have it in

 17  front of me, I apologize but...

 18             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 19  are you --

 20             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I'll take that,

 21  Bryan.  This is Brad Parsons.  Ms. Bress, I think

 22  just based on the angle where you're seeing there,

 23  the fence that is shown is about 7 feet tall, and

 24  the panels themselves are only another foot or two

 25  higher than that proposed fence.  So depending on
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 01  the actual angle that the photo was taken, it

 02  does, the panels are just slightly above the

 03  proposed fence.

 04             MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  That's the

 05  point I'm trying to make.  Thank you so much.  So

 06  to me in the visual simulation I could not see

 07  clearly that the panels would be at least a foot

 08  above the fence and the current vegetation.  Thank

 09  you so much for that answer.

 10             So the other visual simulation question

 11  I had was as a party to the proceeding, again, I'm

 12  not sure why a visual simulation wasn't done from

 13  the vantage point of the abutters' property

 14  instead of just the northern corner that faces the

 15  street.  There are six residents that are abutters

 16  and their homes are there.  And my son is, as you

 17  know, is the furthest to the right.  And I know

 18  presently I can see, even when there's trees

 19  coverage there, I can see through holes, large

 20  holes.  So I'm wondering why a visual simulation

 21  wasn't done from the property, and can one be done

 22  that actually reflects the viewpoint from the

 23  abutters' vantage point with the current site

 24  plantings?

 25             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this
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 01  is Brad Parsons.  I think the reason we did not do

 02  a site photo from that is we cannot just enter

 03  private property.

 04             MS. BRESS:  I knew you were going to

 05  say that.

 06             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  So that is

 07  actually specifically why we did the one from the

 08  corner up there was to be at approximately the

 09  back side, the rear side of those houses on that

 10  northern side and looking south towards the array.

 11  So basically the intent with that simulation was

 12  to try and mimic what was going on without having

 13  to enter somebody's property illegally.

 14             MS. BRESS:  I appreciate that.  I

 15  will -- I'm not going to comment.  I'm going to

 16  ask, if given permission, which my son and I would

 17  certainly give you, would the petitioner be

 18  willing to do an actual visual simulation with the

 19  plantings from an abutter's property so that it

 20  can be viewed properly by the Council and the

 21  public?

 22             ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Mr. Morissette, I'm

 23  going to object to that question as it's a

 24  hypothetical.  It calls for speculation.

 25             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney
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 01  Hoffman.  I will also comment that we are going to

 02  be closing the hearing today and we will not be

 03  accepting any more exhibits to be filed as part of

 04  this docket, so for them to file something in

 05  addition is not acceptable at this time.

 06             MS. BRESS:  I understand.  Thank you

 07  very much, Mr. Morissette.  So I'll ask a

 08  different question.

 09             Mr. Parsons, does the current visual

 10  simulation from the corner accurately reflect what

 11  is going to be seen by the abutters in the

 12  property in the north?

 13             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this

 14  is Brad Parsons.  Yes, it does accurately reflect

 15  what will be seen from the property in the north

 16  based on a three to four year growth.  So the

 17  visual simulation was done showing the height of

 18  the landscaping at a, you know, three to four year

 19  growth height, so not just directly at planting

 20  but, you know, upon a little bit of maturity but

 21  not full maturity.

 22             MS. BRESS:  But will it be from the

 23  abutters' perspective and not from the street

 24  which is what the visual simulation is

 25  demonstrating?
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 01             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  The visual

 02  simulation is dem -- again, Brad Parsons.  The

 03  visual simulation is demonstrating the same

 04  vegetation that you see on the corner looking from

 05  the south will continue along that northern

 06  portion of the fence line as shown on the

 07  landscape plan that was included with the

 08  submission.

 09             MS. BRESS:  And how far will that

 10  landscaping go in terms of the six abutters who

 11  currently reside there, how far across will that

 12  go, has it been extended or is it still halfway

 13  through the property?

 14             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this

 15  is Brad Parsons again.  It has been extended all

 16  the way past those four abutters.  As you can see

 17  from the view, just take a look, get a chance to

 18  look at the revised landscape plan that was

 19  submitted, that vegetation was extended.  The

 20  duration of the shift, the slight shift to the

 21  south of all those panels, that proposed landscape

 22  vegetation was extended along that whole length.

 23             MS. BRESS:  Right.  But has it been

 24  extended the full length of the abutters, it's

 25  still where it was last time, correct?  I don't
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 01  think you have to answer.  I know the answer.

 02  Thank you.  I appreciate it.

 03             Okay.  All right.  I'm going to go to

 04  the plant maintenance note, please, on the site

 05  plan, Number 3.  With no ground irrigation for

 06  regular watering on the site plan, who will be

 07  watering the plantings and how often?

 08             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 09  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  The petitioner is

 10  responsible for the plant maintenance.  So

 11  depending on the weather, it would be watered as

 12  needed.  I would add that there is irrigation that

 13  runs through the field almost past where the

 14  current location of the inverter pad is.  So there

 15  is irrigation out there to the extent we needed to

 16  use that.

 17             Again, it is the petitioner's

 18  responsibility to do that.  In the past we have

 19  hired our sheep grazing contractors to water those

 20  plantings that we've made at other sites under an

 21  additional scope.  So whether it's done by us or

 22  it's contracted out, that's something that the

 23  petitioner is responsible for doing.

 24             MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  And I did read

 25  in your plan that there is no irrigation, so thank
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 01  you for the correction that there is some by the

 02  pad.  But I did read specifically in your plan

 03  that there was no irrigation for the watering of

 04  these plants, that it would be done by a

 05  contractor.  So that's what I was asking that

 06  question for.

 07             So does the contract for this work go

 08  out to bid and will local contractors who know the

 09  area be given any preference in the bidding

 10  process?  Because I think I just heard you say

 11  that the sheep person might be the waterer.

 12             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Yes, Ms.

 13  Bress.  This is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So just to

 14  clarify quickly, are you referring to the actual

 15  construction of the facility as far as the

 16  contractor is concerned?

 17             MS. BRESS:  The watering, I'm still

 18  referring to the watering of the vegetation that

 19  you're putting in.

 20             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Yes,

 21  absolutely.  So we've done it multiple ways in the

 22  past.  We've either worked with our construction

 23  contractor or we've hired a local nursery, for

 24  example, right, to do the initial planting,

 25  procure the trees from them, they plant them, they
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 01  water them, and they provide a one-year warranty,

 02  for example.  We've done that in the past.  We've

 03  had it under the scope of our contractor.  And

 04  then we have hired our sheep grazing partner to

 05  water at a different project.  So we would pursue

 06  it in one of those three ways.

 07             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  And that definitely

 08  left up to the petitioner with no input from the

 09  municipality or the owner or the abutters, right?

 10             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  That is left

 11  up to the petitioner under the scope of our

 12  contract.

 13             MS. BRESS:  Great.  Thank you.  And who

 14  will be monitoring or inspecting to see that the

 15  design plan and watering is being carried out

 16  regularly?

 17             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Again, this

 18  is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So the quality control is

 19  managed by Verogy project managers.  Again, we are

 20  what's known as an EPC contractor, meaning, in

 21  addition to the initial development work, we'll do

 22  the engineering, procurement and construction.  So

 23  we do have a construction management team in-house

 24  that reports back on weekly and daily, weekly

 25  progress, and we will manage that internally as

�0065

 01  far as the plantings are concerned.  Obviously,

 02  the stormwater is checked on by the local soil

 03  conservation districts, and the overall

 04  constructability of the array and the integrity of

 05  it would be inspected and approved by the local

 06  building inspector.

 07             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  So you've sort of, I

 08  think you answered my next question which is, can

 09  a local contractor with a proven track record with

 10  the Town of Windsor or someone in the municipality

 11  be able to review the work, so you're saying the

 12  local building inspector does have an opportunity

 13  to review whether or not the design plan is being

 14  carried out?

 15             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Correct, Ms.

 16  Bress.  So this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  And in

 17  projects that are approved by the Siting Council,

 18  before they start construction they have to have

 19  their construction drawings, typically their

 20  civil, racking structural and electrical approved

 21  by the local building inspectors for code

 22  compliance.  That's on all electrical connections,

 23  structural capability of the racking, civil

 24  designs, et cetera.  So during -- prior to pulling

 25  the building permits, the local municipality
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 01  reviews all those drawings.

 02             MS. BRESS:  That's very reassuring.

 03  Thank you.  I guess my question was more though in

 04  relation to ongoing maintenance of the plantings

 05  and design.  So in that case it would not be

 06  someone municipality connected, it would just be,

 07  again, the contractor that you chose to hire; is

 08  that correct?

 09             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 10  that's correct.  So again, that's Verogy's

 11  responsibility.  And in every situation it's in

 12  our best interest to keep those plantings alive.

 13             MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  Okay.  So

 14  Number 3 and number 5 in the maintenance notes, as

 15  a gardener and according to a fellow tree warden

 16  -- not a fellow, but a tree warden friend I

 17  consulted, the one year as I mentioned before or

 18  growing season of watering does not ensure that

 19  the plants or trees have been actually

 20  established.  I've had many die after a year.  Can

 21  a longer commitment of two years of watering and

 22  plant replacement be written into the site plan to

 23  ensure that the trees and plants are established

 24  and alive after more than a year?

 25             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,
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 01  Bryan Fitzgerald.  We can most likely be amenable

 02  to that, to a two-year period instead of a

 03  one-year period.

 04             MS. BRESS:  I appreciate that very

 05  much.  I just have a couple of questions on the

 06  planting notes.  I mentioned before the balled and

 07  burlapped trees need to have -- they have wire

 08  baskets and burlap, but that needs to be removed

 09  before planting in order for the plants to

 10  establish and thrive.  Can that requirement be

 11  added to Number 5?  It just mentions that they're

 12  balled and burlapped, but it doesn't say that it

 13  will be removed before planting.  That was

 14  something someone mentioned to me.

 15             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 16  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  That commentary can be

 17  added in here.  Number 5 under plant maintenance

 18  notes; is that correct?

 19             MS. BRESS:  Yes, sir.  And then my

 20  concern about Number 7, I've already stated, and I

 21  apologize but I have to ask the question.  So

 22  Number 7 clearly states that tree substitutions

 23  can be done with the approval of the owner and

 24  Verogy.  And as I said, while I'm pleased to see

 25  the owner's involvement, how does that guarantee
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 01  that this design will be fulfilled, how does that

 02  prevent the design from being changed at whim for

 03  a variety of reasons, be it finances or, you know,

 04  other reasons?  I'm a little concerned about

 05  Number 7 because I feel as if, if we don't have

 06  some sort of a guarantee that what we're looking

 07  at is going to happen, then this is kind of like a

 08  waste of time.

 09             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 10  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  And I guess the

 11  response there is that during construction there

 12  are progress reports that are delivered to the

 13  Siting Council.  Upon completion of any project,

 14  there's a report delivered to the Siting Council.

 15  If we construct something that's materially

 16  different than what's on the design, including the

 17  landscaping in the landscaping plan, the Siting

 18  Council would come back and obviously order us to

 19  change that because it was different from the

 20  design.

 21             MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  That was my

 22  next question, so you answered it.  My question

 23  was does the Siting Council have any input after

 24  it is approved.  Thank you so much.

 25             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this
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 01  is Brad Parsons.  I'd just like to add just to

 02  clarify why that note is there.  It is there

 03  because at certain specific times certain species

 04  might not be available, but it is always the

 05  intent to replace any species that might be

 06  unavailable at the time with a like species or

 07  similar species.  That is the intent.  So not

 08  changing an evergreen tree with a deciduous tree,

 09  it would be a like evergreen tree.

 10             MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  And I

 11  appreciate it.  I'm a gardener, so I actually did

 12  know the reason, and I do understand that, but I

 13  was just concerned that there might be significant

 14  changes to this beautiful plan.  And I wanted to

 15  know that there was some opportunity, and you

 16  answered that question that the Siting Council

 17  could do that, and your intent is to follow the

 18  plan as much as possible.  I do appreciate that.

 19             Okay.  Just a few more questions and

 20  then I'm done.  Why -- let's see, not why.  I

 21  know, and I don't know if this is an inappropriate

 22  question, although we are referencing the site

 23  plan, but it doesn't have to do with the

 24  vegetation.  I just wanted to ask a follow-up

 25  question.  Are the inverters enclosed or do they
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 01  have any buffers or vegetation around them to

 02  mitigate noise emissions or is it the same as last

 03  time?

 04             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 05  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  It is the same as the

 06  design you saw last time.

 07             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  And are the fans

 08  still facing the north, have they not been changed

 09  or repositioned to face Amazon or where there are

 10  no residential homes, is it the same?

 11             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 12  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  The fans, looking at

 13  the orientation of the pads which are north to

 14  south, and the inverters will be mounted along

 15  that orientation, correct, the fans would either

 16  be facing east or west, not north.

 17             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  Because I think last

 18  time honestly, and, you know, my memory is pretty

 19  good, we had said that, but then there was a

 20  change to the plan and then someone answered and

 21  said that the fans were now facing north and

 22  south.  So I just want to make sure I know which

 23  way they are, and that's basically because of

 24  noise mitigation.  I just was hoping that they

 25  would be faced away from people and more toward
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 01  Amazon.  So are you saying now that you think the

 02  orientation is east and west now?

 03             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  That's

 04  correct, the orient -- go ahead, Brad.

 05             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad

 06  Parsons.  I will confirm that the orientation of

 07  the inverters are east and west.  And as noted in

 08  our noise study that was provided, the project

 09  would be in compliance with all state and local

 10  federal codes with regard to noise as well.

 11             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  Thank you so much.

 12  Okay.  So the other questions that I have are the

 13  distances to the panels and so on.  In this new,

 14  this site plan, have they changed or are they the

 15  same?

 16             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this

 17  is Brad Parsons.  The location of the panels have

 18  not changed as part of this plan.  It was just

 19  updated to the landscaping.

 20             MS. BRESS:  Okay, that's what I

 21  thought.  So the distances -- and how about --

 22  this question I didn't ask last time though.  I

 23  asked about the distances to the panels, but how

 24  close is the site entrance where construction

 25  vehicles enter to the residence across the street
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 01  and the residence in the north?

 02             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Bear with me,

 03  one second, Ms. Bress.

 04             MS. BRESS:  No rush.  And I can come

 05  back to it, if it's helpful to the Council.

 06             THE WITNESS (Cerkanowicz):  Ms. Bress,

 07  this is James Cerkanowicz with the petitioner.  I

 08  can state that the approximate distance from the

 09  entrance, proposed entrance of the site, is

 10  roughly 160 feet to the nearest residence.

 11             MS. BRESS:  Thank you very much.  Let's

 12  see.  So, can I ask this question, after the

 13  landscaping changes, how much farmland is being

 14  preserved at the moment on this new plan on the

 15  site -- reserved, I should say, for farming?  I

 16  know the patch is there for the farmer to grow his

 17  stuff, his feed, but I was just curious how much

 18  is actually being reserved or protected.

 19             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 20  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  We'll get a quick

 21  calculation for you.

 22             MS. BRESS:  Okay, I can move on.  So

 23  based on that, I was just asking would this site

 24  plan involve any other changes to the existing

 25  environment which due to their location or nature
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 01  could result in conversion of farmland to

 02  nonagricultural use?  That's my concern there,

 03  like could anything in this site plan or changes

 04  to the environment result in the conversion of

 05  some of the farmland, prime farmland to

 06  nonagricultural use?

 07             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress,

 08  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So our original plan,

 09  as all are aware, is to use the sheep grazing here

 10  to keep the area that is fenced in from the

 11  panels, the affected area of the project, in

 12  productive agricultural use, a concept and a

 13  method that the Department of Agriculture had

 14  signed off on to keep the land in farmland status

 15  effectively.  So that is our goal currently.

 16             I think it was mentioned previously

 17  that Mr. Morissette mentioned that the Siting

 18  Council has exclusive jurisdiction.  If they had

 19  mandated us not to do sheep grazing, then that's

 20  something we would have to abide by.

 21             MS. BRESS:  I appreciate that, but I

 22  think you may have misunderstood my question.  My

 23  question was more about the existing environment

 24  with the panels being placed, due to their

 25  location or nature, would the panels being there
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 01  result in conversion of farmland to

 02  nonagricultural use at the end of the life of this

 03  project?

 04             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  This is

 05  Bryan Fitzgerald, Ms. Bress.  At the end of the

 06  life of this project?

 07             MS. BRESS:  Or at any time.

 08             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  At any time

 09  it's not our belief that it would.

 10             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  And then at the end

 11  of the project --

 12             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Then at the

 13  end of the term, we have financial assurances in

 14  the lease agreement with the landowner to ensure

 15  the entire system is decommissioned and removed so

 16  that the land could in fact go back to a more

 17  traditional agricultural use, row crop, hay

 18  farming, et cetera.

 19             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this

 20  is Brad Parsons.  We don't control the use of the

 21  land after our lease is up as well.

 22             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  But there is nothing

 23  in the panels or in the way the panels perform or

 24  in the location of the panels that might cause an

 25  inability to use that farm as farmland again?
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 01             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad

 02  Parsons.  There is nothing to our knowledge that

 03  would cause that to happen.

 04             The other thing I would also just like

 05  to state.  You mentioned prime farmland before.

 06  This project is not located on any prime farmland.

 07             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  So it's not

 08  designated as prime, but it is just farmland?

 09             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Correct.

 10             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  I thought I read

 11  that in there.  Okay.  So thank you.  Thank you

 12  for that.

 13             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  And there is

 14  also -- sorry, this is Brad Parsons -- I did have

 15  a calculation, give or take 6 and a half to 7

 16  acres on available remaining area on the north

 17  side of the river that the farmer would be using.

 18             MS. BRESS:  Okay.  And how many acres

 19  is the facility taking up?

 20             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I have that

 21  information.  Just a second.

 22             THE WITNESS (Cerkanowicz):  This is

 23  James Cerkanowicz.  The fenced limits, within the

 24  fenced limits of the project is 598,872 square

 25  feet, and then I would need to just convert that
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 01  to acreage in a second here.

 02             MS. BRESS:  Thank you.

 03             MR. MORISSETTE:  Ms. Bress, if I could

 04  interrupt.

 05             MS. BRESS:  Yes, sir.

 06             MR. MORISSETTE:  Your questioning this

 07  afternoon is limited to the Late-Filed exhibits

 08  that were filed on March 28, 2024.  I have allowed

 09  you some leeway in asking questions beyond what

 10  was filed.  So this is just to make you aware that

 11  you are to stay within the limits of those

 12  Late-Filed exhibits.

 13             MS. BRESS:  I appreciate that, Mr.

 14  Morissette.  And I had questions about whether or

 15  not it had to be strictly restricted to the

 16  vegetation or could it be, because a new site plan

 17  was presented, could we ask questions about the

 18  site plan.  So thank you so much for clarifying

 19  that.  And thank you for the leeway.  I don't

 20  believe I have any additional questions about the

 21  vegetation.

 22             I do have additional questions

 23  regarding some of the features of the site plan,

 24  but I think I could, in order to be respectful to

 25  the Council, I will reserve those concerns or
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 01  questions -- as soon as I get the acreage

 02  answer -- I will reserve those questions or

 03  concerns for my ability to do -- I don't know what

 04  it's called, the wrap-up or whatever.  So thank

 05  you very much.  If I could just hear, if you

 06  wouldn't mind me hearing the question to the

 07  acreage that's being used for the facility, I will

 08  end my questioning there.

 09             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  This is

 10  Bryan Fitzgerald.  The acreage for the facility is

 11  approximately 13.5 noted in Section 6 of the

 12  petition, by the way, too.

 13             MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  And thank you,

 14  Mr. Morissette, for your indulgence and your

 15  explanation.  I appreciate it.

 16             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Ms. Bress.

 17  I would like to say there is no wrap-up, per se.

 18  When we close the hearing, you will have the

 19  opportunity to file briefs --

 20             MS. BRESS:  Yes, that's what I meant.

 21  I couldn't remember the word.

 22             MR. MORISSETTE:  -- associated with the

 23  record but no additional testimony will be

 24  allowed.

 25             MS. BRESS:  I understand that.  Thank
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 01  you.  Honestly, I don't think then, if it's about

 02  the vegetation, my following questions were

 03  basically about the DEEP report or, you know, the

 04  site in relation to the DEEP stuff.  So I will

 05  stop here.  And thank you again for the

 06  opportunity to ask additional questions.

 07             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now

 08  continue with cross-examination of the petitioner

 09  by the grouped resident intervenors, Leslie

 10  Harrison.

 11             Leslie.

 12             MS. HARRISON:  Thank you, Mr.

 13  Morissette.  I don't have too many.

 14             In terms of the visual simulation, I

 15  did have a question about all of the photos that

 16  were provided.  Were they all taken at street

 17  level?

 18             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve

 19  Kochis of VHB.  The north view and the south view

 20  were taken from approximately a 5-foot viewing

 21  height.  The entry view was taken from Google

 22  Street View because of our interest in showing the

 23  site with full leaf-on as one of the alternatives.

 24  And accordingly, I'm not entirely sure of the

 25  height, but I would guess that it was probably the
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 01  height of the Google Street View camera mounted on

 02  top of a car.

 03             MS. HARRISON:  Thank you, Mr. Kochis.

 04  The reason for my questioning is I don't see

 05  anything in the visual simulation that would

 06  indicate how residents in two-story buildings, of

 07  which there are many in the Strawberry Hill

 08  condominium complex, would see.  I don't think the

 09  fence would cover it, and I can't remember which

 10  gentlemen from WSO spoke to say that the panels

 11  would protrude another foot above the fence, but

 12  there were no -- am I correct there were no visual

 13  simulations that were taken from, say, some kind

 14  of a bucket truck that would more closely

 15  represent what those of us that have two-story

 16  buildings will see.

 17             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve

 18  Kochis.  That's correct, no visual simulations

 19  were performed outside of what has been put into

 20  evidence so far.

 21             MS. HARRISON:  Could someone from WSO

 22  make some kind of statement about what kind of

 23  glare we might be seeing looking out our

 24  second-story windows and how long that would take

 25  place given that we're on, or at least I am, on
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 01  River Street, west side of River Street?

 02             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison,

 03  this is Brad Parsons with Verogy and Windsor Solar

 04  One.  As part of our submission, I believe it was

 05  our follow-up to the interrogatories, a glare

 06  analysis was completed for this project and that

 07  included locations both at basically first floor

 08  level as well as second floor level on various

 09  locations on the western side of River Street at

 10  the locations of those condominiums, and there was

 11  no glare as part of that ultimate study result.

 12             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  How about what I

 13  will visually see not including glare?  Will I

 14  see, for instance, I see Mr. Kochis's picture here

 15  on the screen, and I see a whole bunch of solar

 16  panels behind him.  Is that what I will see out my

 17  window, second-story window?

 18             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad

 19  Parsons.  Ms. Harrison, that photo is taken from

 20  ground level as well.  You will see solar panels

 21  on the site.

 22             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you very

 23  much.

 24             THE WITNESS (Cerkanowicz):  This is

 25  James Cerkanowicz.  I'd also just like to note
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 01  that that is a fixed tilt panel array in his

 02  background and that the tracking system is smaller

 03  in terms of how the panels are grouped and tends

 04  to be less visible from my personal experience of

 05  seeing where we have another site where we

 06  recently developed the trackers.

 07             MS. HARRISON:  Thank you very much.

 08  Okay.  Under the -- moving to the planting plan

 09  listed as site plan 6.1.  Under the plant

 10  maintenance notes I believe Mr. Fitzgerald already

 11  answered this question, can you remind me who the

 12  contractor will be?  I don't need a name, but it's

 13  basically an overseeing position, is that correct,

 14  overseeing others doing tasks?

 15             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms.

 16  Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So Verogy

 17  acts as the EPC contractor for the engineering,

 18  procurement and construction, so the direct

 19  oversight of all construction, including the

 20  planting of the landscaping plan, would be managed

 21  and overseen by project managers employed by

 22  Verogy.

 23             MS. HARRISON:  Thank you.  That's what

 24  I thought you were going to say.  So in Item 4

 25  under plant maintenance notes, I believe it

�0082

 01  currently states water shall be applied in

 02  sufficient quantity to thoroughly saturate the

 03  soil and the root zone of each plant.

 04             Will documentation be provided to the

 05  contractor as to how much water should be applied

 06  to each different type of plant so to ensure

 07  compliance with the directive, "thoroughly

 08  saturate"?

 09             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms.

 10  Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  The

 11  landscaping plan herein as well as the final

 12  construction drawings would be provided to the

 13  actual contractor responsible for doing the work.

 14  So they would read it as we're reading it today

 15  and be directed to thoroughly saturate the soil

 16  and the root zone of each plant.

 17             MS. HARRISON:  So the contractor would

 18  hire people that know what thoroughly saturate

 19  means for each different species that's planted?

 20             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms.

 21  Harrison, yes.  Again, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.

 22  In any event, the construction oversight team at

 23  Verogy would instruct those contractors to again

 24  follow the landscape plan to a T here to ensure

 25  ultimate success of the landscaping plan.
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 01             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Would

 02  the contractor be modifying whatever directions

 03  are provided based upon whether there's been an

 04  inch of rain or more in the preceding week?

 05             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms.

 06  Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  If the

 07  contractor doing the work were to modify anything,

 08  it would have to be with Verogy's approval first.

 09  So to your point, if there was sufficient

 10  rainfall, that would first have to be approved by

 11  Verogy to ensure that the watering plan has been

 12  executed appropriately.

 13             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  And if there was

 14  no rain in the previous week, would the contractor

 15  be required to thoroughly saturate the rootball

 16  more than once in the week that follows?

 17             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms.

 18  Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  Yes, to the

 19  extent that is precisely what the plan describes.

 20             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  The plan just

 21  says that they have to, you know, if there's been

 22  an inch of rain, it's okay.  I don't see any

 23  specific directions as to what to do if there

 24  hasn't been an inch of rain.

 25             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Yes.  And

�0084

 01  from our experience, sometimes it's a decision

 02  that gets made by the contractor specifically

 03  doing the watering.  Like I've mentioned

 04  previously today, sometimes that's done by a sheep

 05  grazing partner.  They've got an agricultural

 06  background, so it works out quite well that way.

 07  They understand thoroughly what you're describing

 08  here right now.  And if that plant needs to be

 09  saturated, it would be saturated.

 10             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you.  And

 11  can the plan be modified to specifically state

 12  what period of calendar time will be used to

 13  constitute a week, is it Sunday to Saturday,

 14  Monday to Sunday so that we could monitor when

 15  we've had an inch of rain as to what day that was?

 16             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms.

 17  Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  I would move

 18  forward under the assumption that the week is

 19  Monday to Sunday.

 20             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.

 21             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  A typical

 22  work week is Monday to Friday, obviously, but I

 23  think Monday to Sunday should suffice for this

 24  situation.

 25             MS. HARRISON:  With all due respect,
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 01  could that be added to the plan specifically,

 02  please?

 03             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms.

 04  Harrison, yes, we could add that note in there.

 05             MS. HARRISON:  Thank you.  Under the

 06  section entitled planting notes, this one is

 07  probably just me not being a gardener, but Item

 08  Number 4 states a 3-inch deep mulch per

 09  specification shall be installed under all trees

 10  and shrubs and in the planting beds.  I assume

 11  that means on top of the soil, not under the tree

 12  and under the shrub?

 13             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms.

 14  Harrison, that is correct.  It is, as described,

 15  once the tree has been planted the mulch bed there

 16  is installed.  And while I'm not a landscape

 17  architect myself, one did put this together, and

 18  that's typically to keep moisture in the soil for

 19  a longer period of time.

 20             MS. HARRISON:  Right.  I had to read it

 21  two or three times for "under all the trees,"

 22  thinking that you were talking about planting and

 23  you were going to lay mulch in the hole and then

 24  put the tree on top of it, and I was pretty sure

 25  that, my limited understanding, that probably
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 01  wasn't what you intended to do.  So what you just

 02  described is what I thought you actually meant.

 03  Thank you.

 04             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison,

 05  this is Brad Parsons.  Just to direct you back to

 06  our site plans that were submitted under the last

 07  Late-File exhibit, there are details on L-6.2 that

 08  show just that.

 09             MS. HARRISON:  6.2?  I only saw 6.1.

 10             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  That was all

 11  that was required as part of this Late-File.

 12             MS. HARRISON:  You mean the previous

 13  Late-File?

 14             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Correct.

 15             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm

 16  sorry.  Staying under the planting notes in Item 5

 17  it states, and Lisa approached this from a

 18  different direction, it says all trees shall be

 19  balled and burlapped, unless otherwise noted in

 20  the drawings or specification, or approved by the

 21  owner's representative.  In the current L-6.1

 22  drawing is there any plant that is not to be

 23  balled or burlapped?  I couldn't find anything on

 24  the plan that indicated such.

 25             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad
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 01  Parsons.  There is no plan to have -- all the

 02  plants will be balled and burlapped because they

 03  will likely come from a nursery.  I think that

 04  note is meant to represent if you were potentially

 05  transplanting a tree on site, you wouldn't ball

 06  and burlap a tree that you had just taken --

 07             MS. HARRISON:  Moved.  Okay.  Thank you

 08  very much.  And am I correct that I cannot see

 09  anything, I cannot see or read anything in this

 10  L-6.1 document that is the actual specification

 11  that is cited in Item 5?  Item 5 says unless

 12  otherwise noted in the drawings, which I can see,

 13  or specification.  Is the specification a note or

 14  is there some other thing that I can't see?

 15             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison,

 16  this is Brad Parsons again.  In this case, the

 17  specifications are the notes.  So what you see

 18  here is that.  There is no intent to have, you

 19  know, all these trees are intended to be balled

 20  and burlapped and coming from a nursery.

 21             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Because I noted

 22  that in Item 6 there was a part of that note that

 23  said specifically if there was any deviation

 24  between the drawing and the specification, the

 25  specification would take precedence.  And I just
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 01  wasn't sure if there was something that I couldn't

 02  see that was different than that.

 03             Okay.  In Item 10 it currently states

 04  areas designated loam and seed shall receive a

 05  minimum of 6 inches of loam and specified seed

 06  mix.  Are those areas currently identified on the

 07  planting plan?

 08             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve

 09  Kochis.  There are no specific loam and seed areas

 10  within the site plan.

 11             MS. HARRISON:  So does that mean that

 12  they're not shown or does that mean that there

 13  aren't going to be any?

 14             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve

 15  Kochis again.  That's intended that there will

 16  likely be no loam and seed to 6-inch depths for

 17  this site plan.

 18             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Did I

 19  misunderstand in a previous one of these hearings

 20  that there was going to be some kind of planting

 21  seed mix that would entice pollinators?

 22             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison,

 23  this is Brad Parsons.  So yes, I think with regard

 24  to the loam and seed within the landscaping plan

 25  there was no specific area designated in that
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 01  situation.  However, from an overall standpoint,

 02  yes, it is shown on the site plans prior to this

 03  L-6.1 that the area will be seeded with a seed mix

 04  that has pollinator friendly species.

 05             MS. HARRISON:  So this L-6.1 that we're

 06  looking at today is, we'd have to look backwards

 07  to find information about that, it's not all

 08  contained on this L-6.1 plan that we're looking at

 09  today?

 10             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve

 11  Kochis.  The idea here is there's no specific loam

 12  and seed.  I believe the intent here is to not

 13  import any loam to the site.  It's to use the

 14  existing topsoil.  It will be, a seed mix will be

 15  broadcast onto the site to promote vegetative

 16  growth, but the idea is they're not bringing in

 17  any loam.  So when I answered that we're not going

 18  to do loam and seed, we're really not bringing

 19  loam in, but we will be seeding it.

 20             MS. HARRISON:  Could I respectfully ask

 21  that the plan be modified to document that as

 22  cogently as you just did, please?

 23             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad

 24  Parsons.  I think we can identify and/or move the

 25  location where the seeding is already identified
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 01  on the plans and move it to the landscape plan

 02  should the Council choose to have that done.

 03             MS. HARRISON:  Right.  And I think

 04  Mr. Kochis also said no bringing in of loam, so I

 05  would think that that sort of documentation would

 06  need to be adjusted perhaps.

 07             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison,

 08  this is Brad Parsons.  I think these are just

 09  standard notes that landscapers put on most of

 10  their plans.  Obviously if we need to remove that,

 11  but there is no specific area that is called out

 12  as designated loam and seed, so therefore that

 13  note would not apply on this specific plan.

 14             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I

 15  think Lisa Bress asked this question, I think the

 16  answer was no, around the equipment pad there's

 17  been no consideration of additional plantings on

 18  at least the three sides that face residential

 19  buildings to help absorb and deflect any of the

 20  noise.

 21             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad

 22  Parsons.  Ms. Harrison, that is correct, no

 23  additional plantings around the inverters have

 24  been proposed.  And as previously stated, our

 25  noise study was completed and to show that the

�0091

 01  project was in compliance.

 02             MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you very

 03  much.  That concludes my questions.  I appreciate

 04  the opportunity to ask them.

 05             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Ms.

 06  Harrison.

 07             We'll now take a 12-minute break and we

 08  will come back at 3:50 to resume cross-examination

 09  by the Council.  Thank you, everyone.  We'll see

 10  you at 3:50.

 11             (Whereupon, a recess was taken from

 12  3:39 p.m. until 3:50 p.m.)

 13             MR. MORISSETTE:  We're back on the

 14  record.  We will continue with cross-examination

 15  of the petitioner by the Council, starting with

 16  Mr. Mercier followed by Mr. Silvestri.

 17             Mr. Mercier.

 18             MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I just had a

 19  question on site plan L-6.1, the new revised

 20  landscape plan.  And earlier we talked, there was

 21  testimony regarding the mulching that was Note 3

 22  under the planting notes.  Is the mulching, is

 23  that something that's going to be annually

 24  replenished or is that just for the planting phase

 25  of the project?
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 01             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Mercier,

 02  this is --

 03             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Go ahead,

 04  Bryan.

 05             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Sure.  Mr.

 06  Mercier, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  I was going to

 07  mention this is for construction, so that would be

 08  for the construction.  Any annual replenishment

 09  would have to be taken up in the operations and

 10  maintenance plan.

 11             MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Well, is the

 12  intent to replenish the mulch annually after the

 13  plantings take hold?

 14             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Again, this

 15  is Bryan Fitzgerald.  Mr. Mercier, I guess I would

 16  defer to our landscape architect, but to answer

 17  that direct, it could be more of a see-as-you-go.

 18  And that might not be what you want to hear, but

 19  if the plants are taking off and growing and

 20  perform in the way we'd ideally like to see them

 21  perform, it might not be necessary anymore on an

 22  annual basis.

 23             MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  How would you

 24  envision them growing, do you anticipate them

 25  forming a dense coverage where nothing, you know,
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 01  will be, can grow under them such as like grass or

 02  weeds, so it's just going to be bare dirt or just

 03  remnants of mulch with weeds or something?

 04             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Mercier,

 05  this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  As far as how we

 06  anticipate it to grow, I would envision pretty

 07  much what you see in the visual simulations.  That

 08  was at the direction of the landscape architect at

 09  a three to four year growth height.  But the

 10  planting plan also includes a number of shrubs,

 11  not necessarily ground dwelling shrubs or so, but

 12  areas to kind of fill those gaps from the soil

 13  level up or from grass level up.  But it's our

 14  understanding that vegetation would take over

 15  there and sometimes with or without mulch, whether

 16  it be weeds taking over or grasses taking over,

 17  what we see is that the field sometimes to

 18  naturally extend into that area under the trees.

 19             MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Thank you.  At

 20  what point of the construction would the plantings

 21  occur, would it be, you know, before stabilization

 22  of the site, you know, with the grass seed and

 23  pollinator mix or is it going to be after?

 24             THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Mercier,

 25  that's a great question.  And I think it's

�0094

 01  probably a two-part answer because it can be

 02  dependent on when and if we're granted the ability

 03  to start construction, and by that I mean when we

 04  would have the ability to start.  Obviously, it

 05  would be best to plant these trees in the late

 06  fall or early, early spring and not in the middle

 07  of the summer.  So we'd have to kind of see how

 08  that progressed.

 09             But Brad, correct me if I'm wrong if

 10  you think there would be any impacts to

 11  stabilization.

 12             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad.

 13  That's correct, I mean, we would still stabilize

 14  the site prior to or at least do a temporary

 15  stabilization of the site prior to the start of

 16  construction, and then time of year would be the

 17  point with when we would actually plant the

 18  plantings.

 19             MR. MERCIER:  Yes.  I guess my question

 20  would be if you did them, you know, near the end

 21  of the project before stabilization, would the E&S

 22  control fencing be in the way or are you going to

 23  put it near the street or is the fencing going to

 24  be hugging the perimeter fencing that's supposed

 25  to be installed?  I wasn't sure how that portion
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 01  would work out, whether you'd have to take down

 02  the erosion control fencing to install the

 03  plantings and then reinstall it if it's not

 04  stabilized, would you have any insight as to where

 05  the --

 06             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  I'll take that

 07  one.  This is Steve Kochis.  What we typically do

 08  on the sites that reach that level, what we've

 09  found working with multiple contractors, is we'll

 10  reach a period of stabilization at the site that's

 11  agreeable to the conservation district and/or CT

 12  DEEP, who will be the erosion control overseers,

 13  along with the qualified inspector and VHB as

 14  engineer of record, and we will work with them to

 15  remove the portions of silt fence without risk of

 16  erosion that we need to, to install the plantings.

 17             And I'll also add, if it adds some

 18  clarity, that Note 3 under planting notes right

 19  now does state that no plant materials will be

 20  installed until all grading and construction has

 21  been completed in the area.  So that kind of

 22  suggests that the planting is going to happen at

 23  the end of the construction period.

 24             MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Since you just

 25  mentioned some erosion and sedimentation controls,
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 01  I understand DEEP has just updated their E&S

 02  controls.  The old version was 2002 and now the

 03  effective date of the new version is March 30,

 04  2024.  I guess, first of all, is your site beyond

 05  50 percent design?

 06             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve

 07  Kochis.  I would say yes it is beyond 50 percent

 08  design.  And we're working with CT DEEP to

 09  understand the nature of when the new manuals will

 10  become effective, especially in regards to

 11  projects like this that have been in development

 12  for years and as far as if any changes would need

 13  to be made since we're going to be going for a CT

 14  DEEP Stormwater General Permit sometime later this

 15  year.

 16             MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  So you're under

 17  consultation with them regarding whatever

 18  guideline they decide to use.

 19             THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve

 20  Kochis.  Yes, we'll continue to coordinate with CT

 21  DEEP and make sure that we're meeting the

 22  appropriate manual.  And if any changes are

 23  needed, they would be included in our D&M plan for

 24  this project.

 25             MR. MERCIER:  Great.  Thank you.  One
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 01  other question I have is regarding the plant

 02  schedule up in the upper right corner of the

 03  landscape planting plan.  You have several species

 04  of trees, you have Red Oak, some Balsam Fir, White

 05  Spruce.  I just heard maybe there might be some

 06  Scotch Pine and Blue Spruce potentially.  As these

 07  grow in height over the years, is there any type

 08  of shading concerns, would you have to top any of

 09  these trees, would there be any kind of potential

 10  shading; and if so, at what potential heights

 11  would you have to cut them off at?

 12             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad

 13  Parsons.  I think when we discussed the selection

 14  of these species with the landscape architect when

 15  they were posing them, and we believe that while

 16  we don't expect to quote-unquote "top" any trees

 17  here with this, I think if, you know, selective

 18  trimming was required that we may need to do that.

 19  However, it's our understanding that likely by the

 20  time that these at their 35-year life that will

 21  still be within a point where there will be

 22  minimal shading impacts with regard to any of the

 23  proposed landscaping.

 24             MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I have no

 25  other questions.
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 01             MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now continue

 02  with cross-examination of the petitioner by Mr.

 03  Silvestri followed by Mr. Nguyen.

 04             Mr. Silvestri.

 05             MR. SILVESTRI:  Thank you, Mr.

 06  Morissette.  I have a few questions regarding the

 07  spill prevention and materials storage plan.  And

 08  if we could turn to page 2 on that, under

 09  reporting it says complete an incident report for

 10  each spill.  Question I have, where would one

 11  obtain an incident report?

 12             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad

 13  Parsons.  I think they would follow whatever the

 14  DEEP guidelines for -- the intent was for them to

 15  follow whatever DEEP guidelines there are for

 16  spill reporting.

 17             MR. SILVESTRI:  So would that be

 18  included should the project be approved within

 19  this spill prevention and materials storage plan?

 20             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  That is not a

 21  problem to add that, sir.  Again, Brad Parsons.

 22             MR. SILVESTRI:  Okay.  Thank you.  And

 23  under spill cleanup it has obtain the Spill

 24  Response Kit from the designated location on site.

 25  Any idea where that designated location might be
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 01  at this point?

 02             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad

 03  Parsons again.  No, we don't have any specific

 04  idea on where exactly that designated location is.

 05  Usually it is something that is part of our

 06  contractor's responsibility when they are on site,

 07  and they tend to do job briefings every morning

 08  where those things are identified.

 09             MR. SILVESTRI:  And that would probably

 10  fall in line as to where any refueling or fuel

 11  storage would also go, would that be correct?

 12             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  That would be

 13  correct, Mr. Silvestri.

 14             MR. SILVESTRI:  All right.  Next

 15  question I have regards the entry view vegetated

 16  buffer depiction that you have.  And I'm not sure

 17  where we left off with our last discussion on the

 18  planting plan, but did we talk about supplementing

 19  it with some low growing shrubs?  So, for example,

 20  where I look at the pickup truck that's parked

 21  there, you have a few low growing shrubs on the

 22  right side.  I'm curious if that could be extended

 23  further to the right to kind of cover some of the

 24  gaps that are there.

 25             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Bear with me,
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 01  Mr. Silvestri.  This is Brad.  I'm just trying to

 02  pull up that one visual again.

 03             MR. SILVESTRI:  I'm not sure what the

 04  plants are, if they're Rhododendrons or Bayberries

 05  or Holly.  They look nice to fill in the gaps

 06  close to the truck, and I'm curious if it could be

 07  extended.  We talked the last time about not being

 08  able to put more evergreens in because the

 09  evergreens in the back are going to spread out,

 10  but I'm curious in the foreground if more

 11  plantings could be put there.

 12             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I'm actually

 13  looking.  I'm trying to -- this is Brad.  I'm

 14  trying to actually cross-reference our landscape

 15  plan right now with the visual simulation and

 16  trying to actually count what's been put there.

 17  And it may actually appear that not all the

 18  plantings that are on the landscape plan are in

 19  and filling that gap area, from what I can tell

 20  here, or maybe it's just the angle.  It also might

 21  be the angle of which the photo was taken.

 22             MR. SILVESTRI:  I tried to coordinate

 23  the two and I couldn't.  When I look at L-6.1,

 24  there's a bunch of little circles that are there

 25  that I have no idea what they are.
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 01             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad.

 02  I can say when we look at L-6.1 there, you see the

 03  three larger proposed trees with the inverted half

 04  circles?

 05             MR. SILVESTRI:  Yes.

 06             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Those are the

 07  three taller trees you can see in that visual

 08  simulation photo.

 09             MR. SILVESTRI:  Correct.

 10             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  And obviously

 11  when you're looking at that third tree from the

 12  south on L-6.1, you can definitely see that there

 13  should be shrubs in front of that third tree.  So

 14  again, I'm not sure if it's just the angle at

 15  which we're looking at that or whether those were

 16  mistakenly omitted from the visual simulation.

 17             MR. SILVESTRI:  So it's possible that

 18  the visual simulation would be enhanced based on

 19  what you have on L-6.1.

 20             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I believe so,

 21  sir, from looking at it.  The way that I'm seeing

 22  this and trying to correlate the visual simulation

 23  that's there, it does appear to me that the shrubs

 24  on the north side of the, what I'll call the

 25  circle with the dot there on L-6.1, just south of
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 01  the driveway, that there's six shrubs there.  And

 02  it does appear to me that all six of those are

 03  shown.  It's hard to kind of count in there, but

 04  the ones on the south side of that larger circle

 05  with the dot in the center of it, that those may

 06  not be showing up on the visual screening itself.

 07             MR. SILVESTRI:  That's what I don't see

 08  at that point.  And like I say, if it's on L-6.1,

 09  it should be on your entry view vegetated buffer

 10  depiction which I think would be nice to fill in

 11  the gaps that I see there.  So that's my whole

 12  point of trying to get there.

 13             THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Yeah.  And I

 14  think it should be there, sir.  It might have just

 15  been something that was missed in the revised plan

 16  when this was updated.

 17             MR. SILVESTRI:  Very good.  Mr.

 18  Morissette, that's all I have.  And I thank you,

 19  and I thank the panel.

 20             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr.

 21  Silvestri.  We'll now continue with

 22  cross-examination by Mr. Nguyen followed by Mr.

 23  Golembiewski.

 24             Mr. Nguyen.

 25             MR. NGUYEN:  I have no questions, Mr.
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 01  Morissette.  Thank you.

 02             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Nguyen.

 03  We'll now continue with cross-examination by Mr.

 04  Golembiewski followed by Dr. Near.

 05             Mr. Golembiewski.

 06             MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  Thank you, Mr.

 07  Morissette.  I have no questions.

 08             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr.

 09  Golembiewski.  We'll continue with

 10  cross-examination by Dr. Near followed by Mr.

 11  Carter.

 12             Dr. Near.

 13             (No response.)

 14             MR. MORISSETTE:  Okay.  We'll move on.

 15  Dr. Near is not with us.  We'll move on to Mr.

 16  Carter.

 17             Mr. Carter, any cross-examination?

 18             MR. CARTER:  Just one thing actually.

 19  I just want to look at the last page of the spill

 20  prevention plan.  I just noticed a typo I just

 21  wanted to get cleared up.  Under section 4, site

 22  and emergency contact info under local fire

 23  department I just wanted to note that fire marshal

 24  just has one "L."

 25             MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.
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 01             MR. CARTER:  And that's all that I

 02  have.  Thank you.

 03             MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.

 04  And I have no follow-up questions for the

 05  petitioner.  So that concludes our hearing for

 06  today.  Therefore, before closing this evidentiary

 07  record in this matter, the Connecticut Siting

 08  Council announces that briefs and proposed

 09  findings of fact may be filed with the Council by

 10  any party or intervenor no later than May 9, 2024.

 11  The submission of briefs and proposed findings of

 12  fact are not required by this Council; rather, we

 13  leave it to the choice of the parties and

 14  intervenors.

 15             Anyone who has not become a party or

 16  intervenor but who desires to make his or her

 17  views known to the Council, may file written

 18  statements with the Council within 30 days of the

 19  date hereof.

 20             The Council will issue draft findings

 21  of fact, and thereafter parties and intervenors

 22  may identify errors or inconsistencies between the

 23  Council's draft findings of fact and the record.

 24  However, no new information, no new evidence and

 25  no arguments and no reply briefs without our
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 01  permission will be considered by the Council.

 02             Copies of the transcript of this

 03  hearing will be filed in the Windsor Town Clerk's

 04  office.

 05             I hereby declare this hearing

 06  adjourned.  And thank you everyone for your

 07  participation.  Go out and enjoy the beautiful day

 08  out there.  Thank you.

 09             (Whereupon, the hearing concluded at

 10  4:07 p.m.)

 11  
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            1              MR. MORISSETTE:  Good afternoon, ladies 



            2   and gentlemen.  This continued evidentiary hearing 



            3   is called to order this Tuesday, April 9, 2024, at 



            4   2 p.m.  My name is John Morissette, member and 



            5   presiding officer of the Connecticut Siting 



            6   Council.  



            7              If you haven't done so already, I ask 



            8   that everyone please mute their computer audio 



            9   and/or telephones now.  A copy of the prepared 



           10   agenda is available on the Council's Petition 



           11   Number 1598 webpage, along with the record of this 



           12   matter, the public hearing notice, instructions 



           13   for public access to this public hearing, and the 



           14   Council's Citizens Guide to Siting Council 



           15   Procedures.  Other members of the Council are Mr. 



           16   Silvestri, Mr. Nguyen, Mr. Golembiewski, Dr. Near 



           17   and Mr. Carter.  



           18              Members of the staff are Executive 



           19   Director Melanie Bachman, Siting Analyst Robert 



           20   Mercier and administrative support Dakota 



           21   LaFountain.



           22              This evidentiary session is a 



           23   continuation of the public hearings held on 



           24   February 8th and March 19, 2024.  It is held 



           25   pursuant to the provisions of Title 16 of the 
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            1   Connecticut General Statutes and of the Uniform 



            2   Administrative Procedure Act upon a petition from 



            3   Windsor Solar One, LLC for a declaratory ruling 



            4   pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes, Section 



            5   4-176 and 16-50k, for the proposed construction, 



            6   maintenance and operation of a 3.0-megawatt AC 



            7   solar photovoltaic electric generating facility 



            8   located at 445 River Street in Windsor, 



            9   Connecticut and the associated electrical 



           10   interconnection.  



           11              Please be advised that the Council does 



           12   not issue permits for stormwater management.  If 



           13   the proposed project is approved by the Council, a 



           14   Department of Energy and Environmental Protection, 



           15   also known as DEEP, Stormwater Permit is 



           16   independently required.  DEEP could hold a public 



           17   hearing on any Stormwater Permit application.  



           18              Please also be advised that the 



           19   Council's project evaluation criteria under the 



           20   statute does not include consideration of property 



           21   value.  



           22              A verbatim transcript will be made of 



           23   this hearing and deposited at the Windsor Town 



           24   Clerk's Office for the convenience of the public.  



           25              The Council will take a 10 to 15 minute 
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            1   break at a convenient juncture at around 3:30 p.m.  



            2              Now we will continue with the Town of 



            3   Windsor's appearance.  In accordance with the 



            4   Council's March 21, 2024 continued evidentiary 



            5   hearing memo, we will begin with the appearance of 



            6   the Town of Windsor.  



            7              Will the town present its witness panel 



            8   for the purposes of taking the oath, and we'll 



            9   have Attorney Bachman administer the oath.  



           10              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Good afternoon, Mr. 



           11   Morissette.  Can everyone hear me okay?  



           12              MR. MORISSETTE:  Yes, we can.  Thank 



           13   you.  



           14              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  For the record, my 



           15   name is Stefan Sjoberg.  I'm an attorney with 



           16   Updike, Kelly & Spellacy, and I'll be representing 



           17   the Town of Windsor in these proceedings.  Our 



           18   witness panel today, we have Eric Barz, town 



           19   planner for the Town of Windsor.  We have Todd 



           20   Sealy, assistant town planner for the Town of 



           21   Windsor.  We have Suzanne Choate, town engineer 



           22   for the Town of Windsor.  Our fourth witness, 



           23   Gregory Tocci, senior principal consultant with 



           24   Cavanaugh Tocci Associates, will not be 



           25   participating for purposes of today's hearing.  I 
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            1   offer them to be sworn in at this time.  



            2              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



            3   Sjoberg.  



            4              Attorney Bachman, please swear in the 



            5   witnesses. 



            6              ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you, Mr. 



            7   Morissette.  Can the witnesses please raise their 



            8   right hand.



            9   E R I C   B A R Z,



           10   T O D D   S E A L Y,



           11   S U Z A N N E   C H O A T E,



           12        having been first duly sworn by Attorney     



           13        Bachman, testified on their oaths as follows:



           14              ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you.



           15              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



           16   Bachman.  



           17              Attorney Sjoberg, please begin by 



           18   verifying all the exhibits by the appropriate 



           19   sworn witnesses.  



           20              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Thank you, Mr. 



           21   Morissette.  We have reevaluated the town's 



           22   exhibits previously submitted to the Council in 



           23   conjunction with the petitioner's Late-Filed 



           24   exhibits and deemed Exhibits 3, 4 and 5 to no 



           25   longer be applicable to this petition.  For 
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            1   clarification, I'm referring to the example of the 



            2   proposed berm with the vegetation and the two maps 



            3   with the property line information.  So for 



            4   purposes of the record, I would ask that Exhibits 



            5   3, 4 and 5 to no longer be included.  



            6              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



            7   Sjoberg.  Please continue.  



            8              DIRECT EXAMINATION 



            9              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Sure.  So I have 



           10   three exhibits listed in the hearing program under 



           11   Roman III, subsection B.  They include Item Number 



           12   1, Town of Windsor request for party status, Item 



           13   Number 2, Town of Windsor responses to petitioner 



           14   interrogatories, and Item Number 6, Town of 



           15   Windsor prefile testimony of Eric Barz.  I offer 



           16   them subject to verification by the witness panel.  



           17              Mr. Barz, did you prepare or assist in 



           18   the preparation of the exhibits listed in the 



           19   hearing program under Roman III, subsection B, 



           20   specifically Items 1, 2 and 6?  



           21              THE WITNESS (Barz):  I did.  



           22              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Do you have any 



           23   corrections, modifications or amendments to offer 



           24   to any of those exhibits?  



           25              THE WITNESS (Barz):  No, I have no 
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            1   modifications.



            2              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Is the information 



            3   contained in those exhibits true and accurate to 



            4   the best of your knowledge?  



            5              THE WITNESS (Barz):  Yes.  



            6              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  And do you adopt the 



            7   information contained in those exhibits as your 



            8   testimony in this proceeding?  



            9              THE WITNESS (Barz):  I do.



           10              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Mr. Sealy, did you 



           11   prepare or assist in the preparation of exhibits 



           12   listed in the hearing program under Roman III, 



           13   subsection B, Items 1 and 2?  



           14              THE WITNESS (Sealy):  I did.



           15              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Do you have any 



           16   corrections, modifications or amendments to offer 



           17   to any of those exhibits?  



           18              THE WITNESS (Sealy):  I do not.



           19              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Is the information 



           20   contained in those exhibits true and accurate to 



           21   the best of your knowledge?  



           22              THE WITNESS (Sealy):  They are, yes.



           23              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  And do you adopt the 



           24   information contained in those exhibits as your 



           25   testimony in this proceeding?  
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            1              THE WITNESS (Sealy):  I do.



            2              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Ms. Choate, did you 



            3   prepare or assist in the preparation of exhibits 



            4   listed in the hearing program under Roman III, 



            5   subsection B, specifically Items 1 and 2?  



            6              THE WITNESS (Choate):  I did.



            7              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Do you have any 



            8   corrections, modifications or amendments to offer 



            9   to any of those exhibits?  



           10              THE WITNESS (Choate):  I do not.  



           11              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Is the information 



           12   contained in those exhibits true and accurate to 



           13   the best of your knowledge?  



           14              THE WITNESS (Choate):  Yes.



           15              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  And do you adopt the 



           16   information contained in those exhibits as your 



           17   testimony in these proceedings?  



           18              THE WITNESS (Choate):  Yes.



           19              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Mr. Morissette, I 



           20   offer them as full exhibits.  



           21              MR.  MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



           22   Sjoberg.  



           23              Does any party or intervenor object to 



           24   the admission of the Town of Windsor's Exhibits 



           25   B-1, 2 and 6 and excluding 3, 4 and 5?  
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            1              Attorney Hoffman.  



            2              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No objection, sir.



            3              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Lisa 



            4   Bress?  



            5              MS. BRESS:  No objection.  



            6              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  And I 



            7   believe Leslie Harrison is representing the 



            8   grouped resident intervenors; is that correct?  



            9              MS. HARRISON:  Yes.  No objection.  



           10              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.  



           11   The Exhibits B-1, 2 and 6 are hereby admitted.  



           12              (Town of Windsor Exhibits III-B-1, 



           13   III-B-2 and III-B-6:  Received in evidence - 



           14   described in index.)



           15              MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now begin with 



           16   the cross-examination of the Town of Windsor by 



           17   the Council starting with Mr. Mercier followed by 



           18   Mr. Silvestri.  



           19              Mr. Mercier, good afternoon.  



           20              CROSS-EXAMINATION 



           21              MR. MERCIER:  Good afternoon.  Thank 



           22   you.  I just have a couple of questions regarding 



           23   the proposed site.  And as you're aware, the 



           24   petitioner is proposing to host sheep at the site, 



           25   most likely from April to October, if the project 
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            1   was approved.  If the project was approved, does 



            2   the town have any concerns regarding the potential 



            3   for sheep grazing at the site?  



            4              THE WITNESS (Choate):  No.



            5              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Did you hear us 



            6   okay?  



            7              MR. MERCIER:  I believe that was "no"; 



            8   is that correct?  



            9              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  That's correct.  



           10              MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  Also, 



           11   regarding the revised landscape plan, although 



           12   this information wasn't taken in by the petitioner 



           13   yet and sworn to, have you had an opportunity to 



           14   review the revised landscape plan that was 



           15   submitted by email on April 2nd from the 



           16   petitioner?  



           17              THE WITNESS (Sealy):  (Pause)  Oh, yes.  



           18   Sorry.  



           19              MR. MERCIER:  Does the town have any 



           20   further comment on the landscape plan that was 



           21   submitted on April 2nd?  



           22              THE WITNESS (Sealy):  I do not, no.  



           23              MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I have no 



           24   other questions. 



           25              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. 
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            1   Mercier.  We'll now continue with 



            2   cross-examination of the Town of Windsor by Mr. 



            3   Silvestri followed by Mr. Nguyen.  



            4              Mr. Silvestri, good afternoon.



            5              MR. SILVESTRI:  Good afternoon, Mr. 



            6   Morissette.  And good afternoon, all.  I have a 



            7   few questions on the segment of River Street that 



            8   runs north and south.  And am I correct that there 



            9   are no utility poles on that section of the road, 



           10   only light poles?  



           11              THE WITNESS (Barz):  I believe that is 



           12   correct.



           13              MR. SILVESTRI:  Okay.  Thank you.  Do 



           14   you recall when those light poles were put in and 



           15   the utilities were run underground?  



           16              THE WITNESS (Barz):  That would have 



           17   been done when the Strawberry Hills development 



           18   was built back in the mid-eighties.  



           19              MR. SILVESTRI:  Mid-eighties.  Thank 



           20   you.  And just one last question on that.  Was 



           21   there any set reason why that section went 



           22   underground?  



           23              THE WITNESS (Barz):  It is the standard 



           24   in the zoning regulations that all the utilities 



           25   be put underground unless there are engineering 
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            1   challenges that make it impractical.  



            2              MR. SILVESTRI:  Very good.  Thank you 



            3   for your responses.  



            4              Mr. Morissette, I'm all set.  Thank 



            5   you.  



            6              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. 



            7   Silvestri.  We'll now continue with 



            8   cross-examination by Mr. Nguyen followed by Mr. 



            9   Golembiewski.  



           10              Good afternoon, Mr. Nguyen.  



           11              MR. NGUYEN:  Good afternoon, Mr. 



           12   Morissette.  I have no questions.  Thank you.  



           13              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Nguyen.  



           14   We'll now continue with cross-examination by Mr. 



           15   Golembiewski followed by Dr. Near.  



           16              Mr. Golembiewski, good afternoon.  



           17              MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  Good afternoon, Mr. 



           18   Morissette.  I don't have any questions either.



           19              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.  



           20              MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  Thank you.  



           21              MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now continue 



           22   with cross-examination by Dr. Near followed by Mr. 



           23   Carter.  



           24              Dr. Near, good afternoon.



           25              DR. NEAR:  Good afternoon, Mr. 
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            1   Morissette and all.  And like my colleague before 



            2   me, I do not have any questions at this time.  



            3              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.  



            4   We'll now continue with cross-examination by 



            5   Mr. Carter followed by myself.  



            6              Mr. Carter, good afternoon.  



            7              MR. CARTER:  Good afternoon, Mr. 



            8   Morissette.  And good afternoon, all.  I hope 



            9   you're all enjoying this beautiful weather.  I 



           10   also don't have any questions for the town.  So 



           11   thank you.  



           12              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  With that, 



           13   I do not have any questions either.  So we will 



           14   continue with the cross-examination of the Town of 



           15   Windsor by the petitioner.  



           16              Attorney Hoffman, good afternoon.  



           17              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Good afternoon.  I 



           18   can't believe it, but I think I will have more 



           19   cross-examination than the Council today.  



           20              I would direct the town to its response 



           21   to Interrogatory Number 12.  The last paragraph of 



           22   that response, which is right above Interrogatory 



           23   13, talks about the town staff suggesting that 



           24   Amazon place the noisy trucks on the opposite -- 



           25   noisy truck docks, excuse me, on the opposite side 
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            1   of the building.  Do you see that?  



            2              THE WITNESS (Barz):  Yes.  



            3              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Do you know how 



            4   noisy those trucks are approximately?  



            5              THE WITNESS (Barz):  Not off the top of 



            6   my head, no.



            7              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  



            8   And going to Interrogatory 13, you said that 



            9   Amazon was held to the requirements set forth in 



           10   the zoning regulations, but the question was about 



           11   TCLP testing.  Do the town zoning regulations 



           12   require any TCLP testing for anything?  



           13              THE WITNESS (Barz):  Not that I'm aware 



           14   of.



           15              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  



           16   And shifting to Interrogatory 15, the second 



           17   paragraph states that the town required all 



           18   environmental testing that is required within its 



           19   zoning regulations.  What environmental testing is 



           20   required within the town's zoning regulations?  



           21              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Respectfully, I'm 



           22   going to object to this.  I don't see the 



           23   relevancy given that the proceeding that we're 



           24   under is not subject to zoning regulations in the 



           25   town.
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            1              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  If I may respond, 



            2   Mr. Morissette?  



            3              MR. MORISSETTE:  Certainly.



            4              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  The fact is, is that 



            5   the Siting Council does at least take the zoning 



            6   regulations into account, and the town has pointed 



            7   to its zoning regulations elsewhere during these 



            8   proceedings.  And so I'm just trying to get a 



            9   comparison between the two.  This will be my last 



           10   question about the zoning regs.  



           11              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



           12   Hoffman.  



           13              Attorney Bachman, do you have any 



           14   comment on this?  



           15              ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  We certainly do take 



           16   the town's regulations into account, Mr. 



           17   Morissette, in any jurisdictional matter.  And so 



           18   it has been brought up during the proceeding, and 



           19   I think that Mr. Attorney Hoffman's question is 



           20   appropriate.  



           21              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



           22   Bachman.  



           23              Therefore, Attorney Sjoberg, we do 



           24   believe that the question is appropriate.  And if 



           25   the witnesses could provide a response, please.  
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            1              THE WITNESS (Barz):  There is no 



            2   mandatory environmental testing required within 



            3   the zoning regulations other than the Planning and 



            4   Zoning Commission may require such analysis.  



            5              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  



            6   With that, I do want to move to correct an 



            7   inadvertent error in the record, but we have to 



            8   cast our mind back to the first day of hearing.  



            9   At that day of hearing -- and these questions are 



           10   going to be predominantly for Mr. Barz, I think.  



           11   At that first day of hearing, one of Windsor Solar 



           12   One's witnesses, Mr. Fitzgerald, testified that 



           13   the zoning for the Amazon project, when it was 



           14   constructed, was industrial, but that's not 100 



           15   percent accurate, is it, Mr. Barz?  



           16              THE WITNESS (Barz):  I'm trying to 



           17   recall.  There's a finger of agricultural land, 



           18   zoned land that might be on the property that was 



           19   left at the time of the rezoning to provide a 



           20   buffer from the Strawberry Hills neighborhood.  I 



           21   think that's what you're looking for.



           22              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  That's exactly 



           23   correct, sir.  So if I can refresh your 



           24   recollection, on October 11, 2016 the town 



           25   planning and zoning commission put on its agenda 
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            1   for a zone boundary change from agricultural and 



            2   industrial to warehouse for the Amazon site.  Does 



            3   that ring a bell?  



            4              THE WITNESS (Barz):  Yes.



            5              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  And then on 



            6   November 9, 2016, the planning and zoning 



            7   commission ruled on that zone change to warehouse 



            8   and decided that changing the zone to warehouse 



            9   from agricultural and industrial was inappropriate 



           10   because industrial would be more protected.  Is 



           11   that correct?  



           12              THE WITNESS (Barz):  I have a vague 



           13   recollection of that.  I don't specifically 



           14   remember that, but it sounds plausible.  



           15              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Do you have a 



           16   recollection of your testimony before the town 



           17   planning and zoning commission on December 13, 



           18   2016?  



           19              THE WITNESS (Barz):  That was eight 



           20   years ago.  I don't.  



           21              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Fair enough.  But at 



           22   that time you presented to the zoning commission 



           23   to change the land use for the Amazon project from 



           24   agricultural and industrial to industrial.  Do you 



           25   recall that?  
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            1              THE WITNESS (Barz):  I believe so.



            2              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I 



            3   have no further questions.  



            4              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



            5   Hoffman.  We'll now continue with 



            6   cross-examination of the Town of Windsor by Lisa 



            7   Bress.  



            8              Lisa, good afternoon.  



            9              MS. BRESS:  Good afternoon.  I don't 



           10   have any questions for the Town of Windsor.  I'll 



           11   be completely honest.  I did not recognize that I 



           12   would have an opportunity to cross-examine the 



           13   town of Windsor, so I don't have any questions 



           14   prepared.  I'm sorry.  



           15              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Ms. Bress.  



           16   We'll now continue with cross-examination of the 



           17   Town of Windsor by Leslie Harrison.  



           18              Ms. Harrison.  



           19              MS. HARRISON:  Thank you very much.  I, 



           20   like Lisa Bress, did not know that I would have 



           21   this opportunity so I had no questions prepared 



           22   either.  Thank you.



           23              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, 



           24   Ms. Harrison.  



           25              We'll now continue with the appearance 
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            1   by Keith and Lisa Bress.  Will the party present 



            2   its witness panel for purposes of taking the oath.  



            3   Attorney Bachman will administer the oath.  



            4              Keith and Lisa Bress, please.  



            5              MS. BRESS:  No witnesses, thank you, 



            6   just myself.  



            7              MR. MORISSETTE:  Okay.  Very good.  



            8   Lisa Bress, have you offered the exhibits listed 



            9   under the hearing program as Roman numeral IV-B-1 



           10   and 2 for identification purposes?  



           11              ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Mr. Morissette, 



           12   could we please put Ms. Bress under oath before we 



           13   ask her to verify the exhibits.



           14              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  I'm moving 



           15   ahead too fast here.  Thank you, Attorney Bachman.  



           16   Please administer the oath.  



           17   L I S A   B R E S S,



           18        having been first duly sworn by Attorney     



           19        Bachman, testified on her oath as follows:



           20              ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you.



           21              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



           22   Bachman.



           23              Ms. Bress, now that you are sworn in, 



           24   you have offered the exhibits listed under the 



           25   hearing program as Roman numeral IV-B-1 and 2 for 
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            1   identification purposes.



            2              THE WITNESS (Bress):  I don't know what 



            3   they are, but if I submitted them to the Council, 



            4   I absolutely did.



            5              MR. MORISSETTE:  Let's see here.  Your 



            6   request, Exhibit Number 1 was a request for party 



            7   status.



            8              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes.



            9              MR. MORISSETTE:  And number 2 is your 



           10   prefile testimony, dated February 1, 2024.



           11              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, sir.  Thank 



           12   you for that.



           13              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Are there 



           14   any objections to marking the exhibits for 



           15   identification purposes only at this time?  



           16              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No objection from 



           17   the town.  



           18              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No objection from 



           19   Windsor Solar One, sir.



           20              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Ms. Bress, 



           21   do you object?  



           22              MS. BRESS:  Not at all, sir.



           23              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Ms. Bress, 



           24   did you prepare or assist in the preparation of 



           25   Exhibits IV-B-1 and 2?  
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            1              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes.



            2              MR. MORISSETTE:  Do you have any 



            3   addictions, clarifications, deletions or 



            4   modifications of those documents?  



            5              THE WITNESS (Bress):  No, sir.



            6              MR. MORISSETTE:  Are these exhibits 



            7   true and accurate to the best of your knowledge?  



            8              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Absolutely, yes.  



            9              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  And do you 



           10   offer these exhibits as your testimony here today?  



           11              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, I do.



           12              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Does any 



           13   party or intervenor object to the admission of 



           14   Lisa Bress's exhibits?  



           15              Attorney Hoffman.  



           16              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No objection, Mr. 



           17   Morissette.



           18              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Attorney 



           19   Sjoberg?  



           20              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No objection.  



           21              MR. MORISSETTE:  And Ms. Harrison.  



           22              MS. HARRISON:  No objection.  



           23              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  The 



           24   exhibits are hereby admitted.  



           25              (Bress Exhibits IV-B-1 and IV-B-2:  
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            1   Received in evidence - described in index.)



            2              MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now begin with 



            3   cross-examination of Ms. Bress by the Council, 



            4   starting with Mr. Mercier followed by Mr. 



            5   Silvestri.  



            6              Mr. Mercier.  



            7              CROSS-EXAMINATION 



            8              MR. MERCIER:  Yes.  Thank you.  Ms. 



            9   Bress, did you have a chance to review the 



           10   landscape plan that was sent to you by the 



           11   petitioner on April 2nd by email?  



           12              THE WITNESS (Bress):  The new one, sir?  



           13              MR. MERCIER:  That's correct.  



           14              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, I have.



           15              MR. MERCIER:  Do you have any comments 



           16   regarding this revised landscape plan?  



           17              THE WITNESS (Bress):  I, again, not 



           18   fully understanding the proceeding, I had a set of 



           19   questions that I thought I would be able to ask of 



           20   the petitioner.  So yes, I do have some comments 



           21   about it.  



           22              MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Fair enough.  Do 



           23   you have any concerns regarding the proposal to 



           24   potentially graze sheep at the site?  



           25              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, I do.  I 
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            1   have concerns about the site plan, and I do have 



            2   concerns about the potential grazing of sheep at 



            3   the site.



            4              MR. MERCIER:  What concerns might you 



            5   have regarding the sheep?  



            6              THE WITNESS (Bress):  The concerns that 



            7   I have regarding the sheep have to do with the 



            8   information that Leslie Harrison shared, a couple 



            9   of things.  One was the information regarding no 



           10   shelter for the animals during that period of 



           11   time.  That's quite a few months.  And I'm just 



           12   wondering, like, will they be wandering the 



           13   property, will they be just all over the place, 



           14   will they be contained, will they be subject to 



           15   predation from our coyotes and bears and animals 



           16   around.  I'm also concerned about the waste that 



           17   will be produced.  It could be smelly.  And if the 



           18   sheep are going to be grazed in the northern area 



           19   or area close to the residents, I have some very 



           20   strong concerns about what that might smell like 



           21   for a number of months.  So those are my concerns, 



           22   safety of animals, smell, protection for the 



           23   animals, and those are my concerns in that regard.  



           24              As far as the site plan, I can tell you 



           25   those concerns, but I don't know if this is the 
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            1   proper time.  



            2              MR. MERCIER:  Yes.  What are your 



            3   concerns regarding the site plan?  



            4              THE WITNESS (Bress):  My concerns 



            5   regarding the site plan revolve around watering 



            6   and who is responsible for that.  My concerns 



            7   around the site plan are who is going to monitor 



            8   the design and maintenance for the landscaping.  



            9              I have additional concerns about the 



           10   site plan in that there is in the site plan an 



           11   opportunity for it to be, plants to be monitored 



           12   for a year, but there's no irrigation there and 



           13   there is no -- so if there is any death in the 



           14   plants, there's no requirement by the petitioner 



           15   to come back in and replace them after a year.  



           16   And as a gardener, avid gardener, I've often put 



           17   in plants, shrubs, trees, and after a year, 



           18   despite watering them regularly every day, 



           19   sometimes every other day, they're dead.  



           20              So my concern in that regard is if 



           21   there's no, you know, something in the site plan 



           22   that says that someone is going to regularly water 



           23   on a certain schedule, who is going to be 



           24   responsible for that, who is going to oversee 



           25   that, and if the plants die, how are we going to 
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            1   replace them if the year is over.  Those are some 



            2   of the concerns I had there.  



            3              I also had some concerns about the way 



            4   the trees were going to be installed.  There's no 



            5   indication in there that balled and burlapped 



            6   trees will have the wires removed.  It says that, 



            7   you know, tree substitutions can be approved by 



            8   the landscape architect and approved by the 



            9   owner's representative.  Well, while I'm pleased 



           10   to see the owner's involvement, I don't see how 



           11   that doesn't prevent Verogy from changing the 



           12   entire plan due to costs or other factors after 



           13   the project is approved.  



           14              I mean, Number 7 clearly says they can 



           15   propose any tree substitutions whatsoever, and 



           16   there is absolutely no just cause needed or no -- 



           17   you know, it doesn't really -- there's no 



           18   guarantee in this plan, in this written plan that 



           19   says that they couldn't substitute the trees.  



           20   This plan is beautiful, but there's no, nothing 



           21   that says that it's going to be taken care of 



           22   after a year, and there's nothing in this plan 



           23   that says that there is a remedy or there's going 



           24   to be no substitutions just in case, you know, if 



           25   it's too expensive or they find afterward that 
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            1   it's not working for them or they don't want to do 



            2   it, there's nothing in this plan that says that 



            3   they're required.  So that's the concern I have 



            4   there about that.  



            5              And then I have some other continued 



            6   things about, you know, again, where the inverters 



            7   are placed and, you know, that there's no 



            8   buffering there.  I have some concerns about the 



            9   fact that the visual -- I'm sorry, I don't know if 



           10   I'm allowed to tell you this, but I also have some 



           11   concerns about the visual simulation.  There's no 



           12   panels in the visual simulation.  So how can a 



           13   comparison be made about the visual screening and 



           14   the plantings' adequacy when there's no 



           15   visualization of the panels placed behind them.  I 



           16   mean, to me I'm looking at something, I'm saying, 



           17   well, that looks very lovely and the trees look 



           18   lovely, but where are the panels?  How do I even 



           19   know how this is going to look in reference to the 



           20   panels.



           21              And then in another visual simulation, 



           22   which again I appreciated, but as an abutter, my 



           23   son being an abutter and as party to this hearing, 



           24   the visual simulations were not done from the 



           25   vantage point of the abutters.  The visual 
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            1   simulation is done from a corner of the property 



            2   on the street totally to the side of all the 



            3   abutters.  So I'm looking again at a beautiful 



            4   visual simulation of a corner, not of a visual 



            5   simulation from the properties that this project 



            6   is abutting.  So again, my concern would have been 



            7   can we have a visual simulation of actually what 



            8   we're going to see from the abutters' property.  



            9   That's not in here.  



           10              So those are some of the concerns I 



           11   have.  I mean, there's many more.  But if I don't 



           12   have an opportunity, I'm not sure whether I'm 



           13   going to have an opportunity to ask those 



           14   questions again.  But thank you for your question.  



           15              And I do have continued concerns also 



           16   about the landscape and the footprint in relation 



           17   to traffic and the ability of trucks to make the 



           18   turn from Poquonock Avenue to River Street and 



           19   from down Kennedy Road to River Street and then up 



           20   River Street.  Those are very, very sharp turns.  



           21   And my limited understanding of solar panels is 



           22   they're very long and very large.  So I am just 



           23   even concerned about how those panels are going to 



           24   maneuver with those trucks around those corners on 



           25   a two-lane road like River Street and enter this 
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            1   property for months and months at a time while 



            2   construction is going on.  



            3              So again, I don't want to take too much 



            4   of the Council's time, but these are some of the 



            5   questions I have about the new site plan.  And 



            6   thank you so much for your question.  



            7              MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  



            8              MR. MORISSETTE:  Ms. Bress, for your 



            9   information, the petitioner will be appearing this 



           10   afternoon to be cross-examined on the exhibits 



           11   that were filed, including the visual and 



           12   landscaping plan.  



           13              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Mr. Morissette, 



           14   I'm so grateful for that information.  Thank you.



           15              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.  



           16              Mr. Mercier, please continue.  



           17              MR. MERCIER:  I have no other 



           18   questions.  Thank you.  



           19              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Thank you, 



           20   Mr. Mercier.  We'll now continue with 



           21   cross-examination by Mr. Silvestri followed by Mr. 



           22   Nguyen.  



           23              Mr. Silvestri.  



           24              MR. SILVESTRI:  Thank you, Mr. 



           25   Morissette.  Actually, Mr. Mercier posed the 
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            1   questions that I was going to pose.  So I thank 



            2   him, and I thank Ms. Bress for her responses.  



            3   Thank you.



            4              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll 



            5   continue with cross-examination of Ms. Bress by 



            6   Mr. Nguyen followed by Mr. Golembiewski.  



            7              Mr. Nguyen.  



            8              MR. NGUYEN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.  



            9   I have no questions for Ms. Bress.  Thank you.



           10              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now 



           11   continue with Mr. Golembiewski followed by Dr. 



           12   Near.  



           13              Mr. Golembiewski.  



           14              MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  Thank you, Mr. 



           15   Morissette.  I don't have any questions at this 



           16   point.  Thank you.  



           17              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now 



           18   continue with Dr. Near followed by Mr. Carter.  



           19              Dr. Near.  



           20              DR. NEAR:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.  



           21   I have no questions at this time for Ms. Bress.  



           22   Thank you for being here, Ms. Bress.  I appreciate 



           23   your presence.



           24              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Thank you too.  



           25              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Dr. Near.  
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            1   We'll now continue with Mr. Carter followed by 



            2   myself.  Mr. Carter.  



            3              MR. CARTER:  Thank you.  Ms. Bress, 



            4   thank you for your time.  I have no questions.  



            5              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Thank you, Mr. 



            6   Carter.  



            7              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.  



            8              Ms. Bress, I do not have any questions 



            9   either.  We will now continue with 



           10   cross-examination by Attorney Hoffman.  



           11              Attorney Hoffman.  



           12              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you, Mr. 



           13   Morissette.  



           14              Ms. Bress, I just have a couple of 



           15   questions.  While I understand that Keith Bress is 



           16   an abutter, you're not an abutter to the facility, 



           17   correct?  



           18              THE WITNESS (Bress):  I requested 



           19   permission, clearly explaining that I was not an 



           20   abutter.  My son has a disability and he requested 



           21   that I represent him, and the Council graciously 



           22   accepted and allowed that to happen.



           23              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  I'm not disagreeing 



           24   with that at all, Ms. Bress, but you and your son 



           25   are both intervenors in this proceeding, you both 









                                      32                         



�





                                                                 





            1   have independent rights of one another, and so I'm 



            2   trying to distinguish between the two of you.  So 



            3   you're not an abutter but Ms. Bress is, correct?  



            4              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Correct, but we 



            5   were able to apply as abutters.



            6              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And we never 



            7   objected to -- well, you're not able to apply as 



            8   an abutter, he was, but anybody in the Town of 



            9   Windsor can apply?  



           10              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes.



           11              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you live 



           12   about four miles from the site, give or take?  



           13              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Eight minutes.  



           14   I'm not sure how many miles, yes.



           15              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Fair enough.  But 



           16   you live south of Route 305, right?  



           17              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes, we spend 



           18   quite a bit of time there.



           19              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  When you're 



           20   visiting your son as you're looking out from the, 



           21   towards the solar panels, can you see the Amazon 



           22   facility from Mr. Bress's house?  



           23              THE WITNESS (Bress):  No.



           24              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  You can't see it at 



           25   all?  
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            1              THE WITNESS (Bress):  No, I didn't even 



            2   see it when we went to look for the house because 



            3   it's to the left and up the hill so the tree cover 



            4   was tremendous and I had -- if you can believe 



            5   this, I should have known, but I had no idea that 



            6   it was there, which is kind of weird.  



            7              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And can you hear it 



            8   from the house?  



            9              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Nope, haven't 



           10   heard anything so far.  He's only been there since 



           11   September 1st, so we haven't heard anything as of 



           12   yet.



           13              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And I know that 



           14   Mr. Bress works from home for at least part of the 



           15   time.  Does he also work outside the home?  



           16              THE WITNESS (Bress):  At this time he 



           17   is working part-time outside the home.



           18              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  And what 



           19   livestock does the current property owner have on 



           20   the property where the solar facility is being 



           21   considered?  



           22              THE WITNESS (Bress):  I couldn't speak 



           23   to that except to know that when we've driven past 



           24   there, I've been in Windsor for over 32 years, the 



           25   only livestock I've ever seen there has been cows 
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            1   occasionally in the field.



            2              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Okay.  So he's got 



            3   cows there?  



            4              THE WITNESS (Bress):  I don't know if 



            5   they're still grazed in that section because I 



            6   haven't seen them since he's moved in, but I do 



            7   know that they're somewhere on the property.



            8              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you.  And at 



            9   the conclusion of your testimony you say that as 



           10   town councilor you led the effort to create the 



           11   first clean and sustainable energy task force in 



           12   Windsor.



           13              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Correct.



           14              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  How many renewable 



           15   energy facilities was that task force responsible 



           16   for constructing?  



           17              THE WITNESS (Bress):  The task force 



           18   does not construct renewable energy facilities.  



           19   The task force was commissioned to do a study.  



           20   And it had about eight members, various community 



           21   members of different expertise, and they were 



           22   commissioned to do a two-year study to propose 



           23   initiatives to the town council on best practices 



           24   for clean and sustainable energy.  



           25              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And did they 
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            1   recommend an increase in renewable energy?  



            2              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Honestly, it was 



            3   two years ago.  I'm not certain what's exactly in 



            4   the document, but I would -- I don't know, to be 



            5   honest, but I would guess, it was very lengthy, 



            6   like 50 pages, and there were a variety of 



            7   projects recommended.  There's been solar 



            8   installed on top of local buildings and the 



            9   firehouse.  So I'm sure there were renewable 



           10   energy suggestions in there, yes.



           11              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Outstanding.  Thank 



           12   you.  I have nothing further.  



           13              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



           14   Hoffman.  We'll now continue with 



           15   cross-examination of Ms. Bress by Attorney 



           16   Sjoberg.  



           17              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Thank you, Mr. 



           18   Morissette.  The town does not have any questions 



           19   for Lisa Bress.  Thank you.  



           20              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



           21   Sjoberg.  We'll continue with cross-examination of 



           22   Lisa Bress by the grouped resident intervenors, 



           23   Leslie Harrison.  



           24              MS. HARRISON:  Yes.  Based on her 



           25   submitted testimony, I don't have any questions 
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            1   for Ms. Bress.  



            2              I did have one, and that is I heard 



            3   Attorney Hoffman say that you're not an abutter, 



            4   but I heard you say that you spent a great deal of 



            5   time or some period of time at your son's new 



            6   home.  And you also, and I have personal knowledge 



            7   of this, you also appeared at a Strawberry Hills 



            8   community meeting.  



            9              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Yes.  



           10              MS. HARRISON:  And I wondered if you 



           11   could talk about what you heard at that meeting 



           12   and what the general sentiment was.



           13              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Well, I attended 



           14   that meeting in a different -- 



           15              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Mr. Morissette, I'd 



           16   like to object to that.  That's hearsay.  



           17              MS. HARRISON:  I thought she stated 



           18   that in her letter.  



           19              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  What she stated in 



           20   her letter I was going to allow to ask, but if 



           21   she's testifying as to what other people said, it 



           22   is by definition hearsay.  Those people aren't 



           23   here.  They had a chance to attend the public 



           24   comment meeting that the Siting Council put 



           25   forward and they did not.
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            1              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



            2   Hoffman.  



            3              Attorney Bachman, your opinion on this?  



            4              ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you, Mr. 



            5   Morissette.  Certainly, if part of it is in the 



            6   letter, anything Ms. Bress may have stated.  Yes, 



            7   it is hearsay, anything anyone else has said, but 



            8   if she could just give a brief summary of general 



            9   comments that she may have heard, I think that 



           10   would be acceptable.  Thank you.



           11              THE WITNESS (Bress):  Sure.  I'm happy 



           12   to make it brief.  Basically I attended in a 



           13   different capacity.  I was invited because I was, 



           14   my son was purchasing a home there or had 



           15   purchased the home, but I was invited as deputy 



           16   mayor of Windsor.  So I will just say that at that 



           17   meeting, as I stated in my letter, without going 



           18   into detail about all the concerns, that there 



           19   were many, I would say 30 or more, residents at 



           20   that meeting that had specific concerns regarding 



           21   the installation of a utility scale solar project 



           22   in their neighborhoods.  



           23              And Ms. Bachman, I think I can get into 



           24   detail or nothing further, but there was great 



           25   concern about many of the issues that Leslie is 
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            1   nicely raising, and I'm trying to raise, all of 



            2   the things we're raising are based on the concerns 



            3   by those residents.  



            4              And I will just say one more thing that 



            5   is not hearsay.  I've received tons of emails from 



            6   people who are actually afraid to participate in 



            7   this proceeding because they do not feel confident 



            8   to participate nor to speak publicly nor to even 



            9   email.  So I just want the Council to know that 



           10   the reason Leslie and I go on so long is because 



           11   we've heard from constituents and we're trying to 



           12   share that honestly and sincerely with the Council 



           13   and the petitioner.  



           14              MR. MORISSETTE:  Anything else, Ms. 



           15   Harrison?  



           16              MS. HARRISON:  Since I wasn't planning 



           17   to ask questions of Ms. Bress, I do not have any 



           18   others at this time.  Thank you very much for the 



           19   opportunity.



           20              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.  



           21   We will now continue with the appearance of the 



           22   grouped resident intervenors.  Will the groped 



           23   resident intervenors present its witness panel for 



           24   the purposes of taking the oath.  That would be 



           25   Leslie Harrison, William and Jennifer Williams.  
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            1              MS. HARRISON:  This is Leslie Harrison.  



            2   I have no witnesses other than myself.  



            3              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Attorney 



            4   Bachman, could you please administer the oath to 



            5   the witness, Leslie Harrison.



            6              ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you, Mr. 



            7   Morissette.  I do see Jennifer and William 



            8   Williams on the screen here.  And since their 



            9   request for intervenor status are grouped, I would 



           10   just hope that we could swear them all in at the 



           11   same time.  



           12              MR. MORISSETTE:  Certainly.  William 



           13   and Jennifer?  



           14              JENNIFER WILLIAMS:  Yes.  Hi.  We're 



           15   here.



           16              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.  



           17   We're going to swear you in as well.  



           18              ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Could the witnesses 



           19   please raise their right hand.



           20   L E S L I E   H A R R I S O N,



           21   J E N N I F E R   W I L L I A M S,



           22   W I L L I A M   W I L L I A M S,



           23        having been first duly sworn by Attorney     



           24        Bachman, testified on their oaths as follows:



           25              ATTORNEY BACHMAN:  Thank you.
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            1              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



            2   Bachman.  



            3              Leslie Harrison and William and 



            4   Jennifer Williams, you have offered the exhibits 



            5   listed under hearing program Roman numerals V-B-1 



            6   and 2.  Do you offer those as your exhibits?  



            7              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  This is Leslie 



            8   Harrison.  I presume that is my request to be an 



            9   intervenor.  



           10              MR. MORISSETTE:  It's your request to 



           11   be intervenor dated December 11th, and William and 



           12   Jennifer Williams' request for intervenor status 



           13   dated December 13th.  



           14              THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  Yes.  This 



           15   is William.  



           16              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.



           17              THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  Yeah, we 



           18   did send that in.  



           19              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  And this is 



           20   Leslie.  Yes.  



           21              MR. MORISSETTE:  Is there any objection 



           22   to marking these exhibits for identification 



           23   purposes only at this time?  



           24              MS. BRESS:  No.  



           25              A VOICE:  No.  
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            1              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Leslie 



            2   Harrison and William and Jennifer Williams, did 



            3   you prepare or assist in the preparation of 



            4   Exhibits V-B-1 and 2?  



            5              THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  I don't 



            6   have access to those right now.  



            7              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  This is Leslie 



            8   Harrison.  I prepared my request.  



            9              MR. MORISSETTE:  The question is did 



           10   you prepare it?  William and Jennifer, did you 



           11   prepare your -- 



           12              THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  Yeah, I 



           13   prepared my request.



           14              MR. MORISSETTE:  Okay.  Very good.  



           15   Thank you.  Do you have any additions, 



           16   clarifications, deletions or modifications to 



           17   those documents?  



           18              THE WITNESS (W. Harrison):  No.  



           19              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  This is Leslie 



           20   Harrison.  No, I do not.  



           21              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Are these 



           22   exhibits true and accurate to the best of your 



           23   knowledge?  



           24              THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  Yes.  This 



           25   is William.  Yes, they are.  
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            1              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  This is Leslie 



            2   Harrison.  Yes, it is.  



            3              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  And do you 



            4   offer these exhibits as your testimony today?  



            5              THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  William and 



            6   Jennifer.  Yes.  



            7              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  Leslie 



            8   Harrison.  Yes.  



            9              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.  



           10   Does any party or intervenor object to the 



           11   admission of the grouped resident intervenors' 



           12   exhibits?  



           13              Attorney Hoffman.  



           14              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  No objection, Mr. 



           15   Morissette.  



           16              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Attorney 



           17   Sjoberg?  



           18              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No objection.  



           19              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Ms. Bress?  



           20              MS. BRESS:  No.  



           21              MR. MORISSETTE:  No objection?  



           22              MS. BRESS:  I'm sorry.  No objection.  



           23              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.



           24              THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  No 



           25   objection.  
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            1              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  The 



            2   exhibits are hereby admitted.  



            3              (Grouped Resident Intervenors Exhibits 



            4   V-B-1 and V-B-2:  Received in evidence - described 



            5   in index.)



            6              MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now begin with 



            7   cross-examination of the grouped resident 



            8   intervenors by the Council starting with Mr. 



            9   Mercier and followed by Mr. Silvestri.  



           10              Mr. Mercier.  



           11              CROSS-EXAMINATION



           12              MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I guess I'll 



           13   address the questions first to Leslie Harrison and 



           14   similar to the other questions I asked of the town 



           15   and Lisa Bress.  Have you had a chance to review 



           16   the landscape plan that was submitted by the 



           17   petitioner on April 2nd by email?  



           18              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  I have.



           19              MR. MERCIER:  Looking at the plan, do 



           20   you have any concerns regarding the planting 



           21   schedule that was established, you know, all the 



           22   different types of shrubs and trees along River 



           23   Road and to the north?  



           24              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  I did have 



           25   some specific questions which I prepared for the 
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            1   petitioner.  I could use those now or I could use 



            2   those when it's the appropriate time.  



            3              MR. MERCIER:  If you have questions, 



            4   yes, you'll have to ask the petitioner at that 



            5   time.  



            6              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  Okay.  



            7              MR. MERCIER:  What -- 



            8              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  I'm sorry.  



            9              MR. MERCIER:  Go ahead.  



           10              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  I was pleased 



           11   to see that they had added some trees and shrubs 



           12   certainly along the portions south of the access 



           13   road that they're planning.  



           14              I think Ms. Bress covered most of my 



           15   concerns when she said things about the fact that 



           16   traffic in the area would be substantial -- 



           17   appears to be substantially increased not only 



           18   during the construction but also, as pointed out, 



           19   these are very, very small roads.  The road from 



           20   Poquonock Avenue is, I mean, dangerous for two 



           21   passenger cars to go in each direction at the same 



           22   time in the same space.  I cannot imagine a truck 



           23   containing solar panels, how that would get by 



           24   that way.  So maybe they will prohibit it from 



           25   going that way.  But even a turn, I mean, it's a 
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            1   right angle turn two lanes wide to turn from River 



            2   Street onto the other side of River Street to get 



            3   to the access road.  And I just -- I don't know 



            4   how these panels are transported, but unless 



            5   they're flown in, I don't know how that would be a 



            6   safe way to do that.  



            7              And I also have concerns, as she spoke, 



            8   about the lack of water.  I know that the plan 



            9   indicates that the contractor will be required to 



           10   bring in water since there is no irrigation.  But 



           11   we've had a significant amount of water in the 



           12   last few days and weeks here, but we've also 



           13   had -- I've lived here 38 years in this very 



           14   house -- and we've also had years where we've had 



           15   tremendous drought.  And I don't know how much it 



           16   costs to haul in water, but given the planting 



           17   requirements for new plants, I would think that 



           18   that would be a significant amount of water that 



           19   would need to be brought in, in a year that is 



           20   drought plagued.  



           21              Other than that, as I wasn't prepared 



           22   to speak to this as myself, I was prepared to ask 



           23   the petitioner, I don't have any other concerns 



           24   that come to the top of my mind.  But I think Ms. 



           25   Bress spoke very eloquently about concerns that I 
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            1   would have had, had I had time to prepare for it.  



            2              MR. MERCIER:  Thank you for that.  Do 



            3   you have any concerns regarding the potential for 



            4   sheep grazing at the site if the site was 



            5   approved?  



            6              THE WITNESS (Harrison):  Yes, I do.  I 



            7   have significant concerns about that.  Ms. Bress 



            8   spoke to many of them, and I spoke to many in the 



            9   last hearing when I questioned the petitioner.  



           10   The first one was that I believe on the record we 



           11   have heard that the petitioner sees no financial 



           12   benefit one way or the other to mechanical methods 



           13   of maintaining the property or to sheep or 



           14   animals.  And if there is no financial difference, 



           15   then I would advocate for mechanical, strongly 



           16   advocate for mechanical preferences to do that 



           17   because of the very things that Ms. Bress spoke 



           18   about.  



           19              We have had a significant number of 



           20   lightning storms the last few summers.  And my 



           21   understanding is these panels, while grounded, are 



           22   still metal, and the sheep, I was told by the 



           23   petitioner I believe in the interrogatory, that 



           24   many times they take shelter under the panels.  



           25   Well, side strikes and other things such as that 
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            1   do occur, and dead sheep smell even worse than 



            2   live sheep, in my opinion.  



            3              And we do have a significant number of 



            4   predators in the area.  I have a game cam out in 



            5   my backyard.  And we have bears, we have coyotes.  



            6   We even have bobcats.  And I don't think that 



            7   anything that is being proposed in terms of 



            8   fencing would properly prevent predators from 



            9   getting to the sheep.  So yes, I have very strong 



           10   concerns about the sheep being there, and I would 



           11   much prefer to see mechanical methods of 



           12   maintaining the property.  



           13              MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm 



           14   going to pose the same questions to William and 



           15   Jennifer Williams.  



           16              THE WITNESS (W. Williams):  We don't, 



           17   or at least I don't, and I think my wife doesn't, 



           18   have any additional either negative or positive 



           19   comments toward those things.  I take no position 



           20   at all on the grazing of sheep.  I take no 



           21   position on that.  



           22              MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I have no 



           23   other questions.  



           24              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. 



           25   Mercier.  We'll now continue with 
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            1   cross-examination by Mr. Silvestri followed by Mr. 



            2   Nguyen.  



            3              Mr. Silvestri.  



            4              MR. SILVESTRI:  I have no additional 



            5   questions, Mr. Morissette.  Thank you.  



            6              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll 



            7   continue with cross-examination by Mr. Nguyen 



            8   followed by Mr. Golembiewski.  



            9              Mr. Nguyen.  



           10              MR. NGUYEN:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.  



           11   I have no questions for the group.  Thank you.  



           12              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now 



           13   continue with cross-examination by Mr. 



           14   Golembiewski followed by Dr. Near.  



           15              Mr. Golembiewski.  



           16              MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  I have no additional 



           17   questions.  I think their exhibits speak for 



           18   themselves.  Thank you.



           19              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. 



           20   Golembiewski.  We'll now continue with 



           21   cross-examination by Dr. Near followed by Mr. 



           22   Carter.  



           23              Dr. Near.  



           24              DR. NEAR:  I have no questions at this 



           25   time, Mr. Morissette.  Thank you.
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            1              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now 



            2   continue with cross-examination by Mr. Carter 



            3   followed by myself.  



            4              Mr. Carter.  



            5              MR. CARTER:  I have no questions.  And 



            6   I would like to thank the group for their time.  



            7   Thank you.  



            8              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.  



            9   And with that, I have no questions.  We will 



           10   continue with cross-examination of the grouped 



           11   resident intervenors by the petitioner, Attorney 



           12   Hoffman.  



           13              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  I have no questions, 



           14   Mr. Morissette.



           15              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



           16   Hoffman.  We'll now continue with 



           17   cross-examination by the grouped resident 



           18   intervenors by the Town of Windsor.  



           19              Attorney Sjoberg.  



           20              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No questions, Mr. 



           21   Morissette.  



           22              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll 



           23   continue with cross-examination by Lisa Bress.  



           24              Ms. Bress.  



           25              MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  I have no 
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            1   questions, Mr. Morissette.  



            2              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Very good.  



            3   We will continue with the appearance of the 



            4   petitioner.  In accordance with the Council's 



            5   March 21, 2024 continued evidentiary hearing memo, 



            6   we will continue with the appearance of the 



            7   petitioner, Windsor Solar One, LLC, to verify the 



            8   new exhibits marked as Roman numeral II, Items 



            9   B-10 on the hearing program.  



           10              Attorney Hoffman, please begin by 



           11   identifying the new exhibits you have filed in 



           12   this matter and verifying the exhibits by the 



           13   appropriate sworn witnesses.  



           14   B R A D   P A R S O N S,



           15   S T E V E   K O C H I S,



           16   E R I K   B E D N A R E K,



           17   B R Y A N   F I T Z G E R A L D,



           18   J A M E S   C E R K A N O W I C Z,



           19        having been previously duly sworn, continued 



           20        to testify on their oaths as follows:



           21              DIRECT EXAMINATION



           22              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you, Mr. 



           23   Morissette.  So the items in Section II-B-10 are 



           24   A, a revised spill prevention and materials 



           25   storage plan; B, a revised site plan L-6.1; C, the 
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            1   resume of Erik Bednarek; and D, an additional 



            2   photo simulation that was conducted.  And so in 



            3   the interest of time, I'm just going to have one 



            4   witness swear each exhibit unless there are 



            5   objections to that so that we can continue on.  



            6              So Mr. Parsons, did prepare or cause to 



            7   be prepared Item II-B-10A, the revised spill 



            8   prevention and materials storage plan?  



            9              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Yes, I did.



           10              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And is that exhibit 



           11   accurate to the best of your knowledge?



           12              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Yes, it is.



           13              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you have any 



           14   changes to that exhibit?  



           15              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I do not.



           16              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you adopt 



           17   that exhibit as your sworn testimony?  



           18              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I do.



           19              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Thank you.  Mr. 



           20   Kochis, did you prepare or cause to be prepared 



           21   Items II-B-10B as in "boy" and "D" as in "dog," B 



           22   being the revised site plan L-6.1, and D being the 



           23   additional photo simulations?



           24              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, I did.



           25              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And are those two 
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            1   exhibits accurate to the best of your knowledge?  



            2              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, they are.



            3              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Do you have any 



            4   changes to those exhibits today?  



            5              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  No, I do not.  



            6              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you adopt 



            7   them as your sworn testimony?  



            8              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, I do.



            9              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And Mr. Bednarek, 



           10   did you prepare or cause to be prepared the Item 



           11   II-B-10C, which is your resume?  Mr. Bednarek?



           12              THE WITNESS (Bednarek):  (No response.)



           13              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Well, in that case, 



           14   Mr. Kochis, since I have you here, did you assist 



           15   in the preparation of Mr. Bednarek's resume which 



           16   is Item II-B-10C?  



           17              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, I did.



           18              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And is that accurate 



           19   to the best of your knowledge?  



           20              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, it is.



           21              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you have any 



           22   changes to that?  



           23              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  No, I do not.



           24              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  And do you adopt 



           25   that as your sworn testimony here today?  
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            1              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  Yes, I do.



            2              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  With that, Mr. 



            3   Morissette, I would offer up all four exhibits as 



            4   full exhibits in this proceeding.  



            5              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 



            6   Hoffman.  Does any party or intervenor object to 



            7   the admission of the petitioner's new exhibits?  



            8              Attorney Sjoberg.  



            9              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  No objection, Mr. 



           10   Morissette.  



           11              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  Lisa 



           12   Bress?  



           13              MS. BRESS:  No objection, Mr. 



           14   Morissette.  



           15              MR. MORISSETTE:  And Ms. Harrison.



           16              MS. HARRISON:  No objections, Mr. 



           17   Morissette.  Thank you.  



           18              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  The 



           19   exhibits are hereby admitted.  



           20              (Petitioner's Late-Filed Exhibits 



           21   II-B-1A, II-B-1B, II-B-1C and II-B-1D:  Received 



           22   in evidence - described in index.)



           23              MR. MORISSETTE:  We will continue with 



           24   cross-examination of the petitioner on the new 



           25   exhibits by the Town of Windsor.  Attorney 
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            1   Sjoberg.  



            2              CROSS-EXAMINATION 



            3              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Thank you, Mr. 



            4   Morissette.  I only have two questions, and they 



            5   revolve around I guess it would be Roman II-B-10D 



            6   as in "dog," additional photo simulations based on 



            7   the revised planting plan.  Pending Council 



            8   approval, would the petitioner be open to 



            9   increasing the diversity of the species along the 



           10   frontage?  



           11              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Sjoberg, 



           12   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  Yes, the petitioner 



           13   would be able to increase the diversity of the 



           14   plantings along the frontage.  



           15              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  And my last 



           16   question, does the petitioner have any, pending 



           17   Council approval, does the petitioner have any 



           18   objections to using blue spruce and/or Scotch pine 



           19   as additional species along the frontage?  



           20              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Sjoberg, 



           21   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  The petitioner does not 



           22   object to using blue spruce or Scotch pine.



           23              ATTORNEY SJOBERG:  Thank you.  I have 



           24   no further questions, Mr. Morissette.  



           25              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 
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            1   Sjoberg.  We'll now continue with 



            2   cross-examination of the petitioner on the new 



            3   exhibits by Lisa Bress.  



            4              Lisa.



            5              MS. BRESS:  Thank you, Mr. Morissette.  



            6   I'm sorry if it sounds redundant because I did 



            7   mention some of my concerns in the previous 



            8   questioning, but I'm going to go through them 



            9   quickly, if I can.  Most of my concerns revolve 



           10   around the site plan and the visual simulation.  



           11   And I'm going to do the visual simulation first.  



           12   And I'm going to repeat what I just said, why 



           13   aren't the solar panels included in the visual 



           14   simulation?  



           15              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



           16   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So the solar panels are 



           17   in fact included in the visual simulation.  If 



           18   you're looking at any one of the three views 



           19   provided, either north-south or entrance, you'll 



           20   see the first page is how it exists today, titled 



           21   "existing conditions."  The second page is titled 



           22   "no screening."  And from there you can see 



           23   straight through to what are blue rectangles 



           24   behind an agricultural style fence behind the 



           25   existing vegetation that is currently in place in 
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            1   the field.  



            2              And then if you scroll to the third and 



            3   final page of each different view, you'll see what 



            4   is titled a "vegetated buffer."  And again, from 



            5   the view of the photo sim, you have the existing 



            6   vegetation, the new vegetation, the fence and then 



            7   the panels behind it.  The panels are in fact 



            8   those blue rectangles that are in the field.



            9              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  So I guess I didn't 



           10   see the blue rectangles as the panels.  And am I 



           11   seeing correctly then that from your visual 



           12   simulation, even though the plantings are spaced, 



           13   there's not going to be a visual record of the 



           14   solar panels above the fence?  Because I'm not -- 



           15   I didn't see anything higher than the fence in 



           16   that particular visualization.  I don't have it in 



           17   front of me, I apologize but...



           18              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



           19   are you -- 



           20              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I'll take that, 



           21   Bryan.  This is Brad Parsons.  Ms. Bress, I think 



           22   just based on the angle where you're seeing there, 



           23   the fence that is shown is about 7 feet tall, and 



           24   the panels themselves are only another foot or two 



           25   higher than that proposed fence.  So depending on 
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            1   the actual angle that the photo was taken, it 



            2   does, the panels are just slightly above the 



            3   proposed fence.



            4              MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  That's the 



            5   point I'm trying to make.  Thank you so much.  So 



            6   to me in the visual simulation I could not see 



            7   clearly that the panels would be at least a foot 



            8   above the fence and the current vegetation.  Thank 



            9   you so much for that answer.  



           10              So the other visual simulation question 



           11   I had was as a party to the proceeding, again, I'm 



           12   not sure why a visual simulation wasn't done from 



           13   the vantage point of the abutters' property 



           14   instead of just the northern corner that faces the 



           15   street.  There are six residents that are abutters 



           16   and their homes are there.  And my son is, as you 



           17   know, is the furthest to the right.  And I know 



           18   presently I can see, even when there's trees 



           19   coverage there, I can see through holes, large 



           20   holes.  So I'm wondering why a visual simulation 



           21   wasn't done from the property, and can one be done 



           22   that actually reflects the viewpoint from the 



           23   abutters' vantage point with the current site 



           24   plantings?  



           25              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this 
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            1   is Brad Parsons.  I think the reason we did not do 



            2   a site photo from that is we cannot just enter 



            3   private property.



            4              MS. BRESS:  I knew you were going to 



            5   say that.



            6              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  So that is 



            7   actually specifically why we did the one from the 



            8   corner up there was to be at approximately the 



            9   back side, the rear side of those houses on that 



           10   northern side and looking south towards the array.  



           11   So basically the intent with that simulation was 



           12   to try and mimic what was going on without having 



           13   to enter somebody's property illegally.



           14              MS. BRESS:  I appreciate that.  I 



           15   will -- I'm not going to comment.  I'm going to 



           16   ask, if given permission, which my son and I would 



           17   certainly give you, would the petitioner be 



           18   willing to do an actual visual simulation with the 



           19   plantings from an abutter's property so that it 



           20   can be viewed properly by the Council and the 



           21   public?  



           22              ATTORNEY HOFFMAN:  Mr. Morissette, I'm 



           23   going to object to that question as it's a 



           24   hypothetical.  It calls for speculation.



           25              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Attorney 
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            1   Hoffman.  I will also comment that we are going to 



            2   be closing the hearing today and we will not be 



            3   accepting any more exhibits to be filed as part of 



            4   this docket, so for them to file something in 



            5   addition is not acceptable at this time.



            6              MS. BRESS:  I understand.  Thank you 



            7   very much, Mr. Morissette.  So I'll ask a 



            8   different question.  



            9              Mr. Parsons, does the current visual 



           10   simulation from the corner accurately reflect what 



           11   is going to be seen by the abutters in the 



           12   property in the north?  



           13              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this 



           14   is Brad Parsons.  Yes, it does accurately reflect 



           15   what will be seen from the property in the north 



           16   based on a three to four year growth.  So the 



           17   visual simulation was done showing the height of 



           18   the landscaping at a, you know, three to four year 



           19   growth height, so not just directly at planting 



           20   but, you know, upon a little bit of maturity but 



           21   not full maturity.



           22              MS. BRESS:  But will it be from the 



           23   abutters' perspective and not from the street 



           24   which is what the visual simulation is 



           25   demonstrating?  
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            1              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  The visual 



            2   simulation is dem -- again, Brad Parsons.  The 



            3   visual simulation is demonstrating the same 



            4   vegetation that you see on the corner looking from 



            5   the south will continue along that northern 



            6   portion of the fence line as shown on the 



            7   landscape plan that was included with the 



            8   submission.



            9              MS. BRESS:  And how far will that 



           10   landscaping go in terms of the six abutters who 



           11   currently reside there, how far across will that 



           12   go, has it been extended or is it still halfway 



           13   through the property?  



           14              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this 



           15   is Brad Parsons again.  It has been extended all 



           16   the way past those four abutters.  As you can see 



           17   from the view, just take a look, get a chance to 



           18   look at the revised landscape plan that was 



           19   submitted, that vegetation was extended.  The 



           20   duration of the shift, the slight shift to the 



           21   south of all those panels, that proposed landscape 



           22   vegetation was extended along that whole length.



           23              MS. BRESS:  Right.  But has it been 



           24   extended the full length of the abutters, it's 



           25   still where it was last time, correct?  I don't 
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            1   think you have to answer.  I know the answer.  



            2   Thank you.  I appreciate it.  



            3              Okay.  All right.  I'm going to go to 



            4   the plant maintenance note, please, on the site 



            5   plan, Number 3.  With no ground irrigation for 



            6   regular watering on the site plan, who will be 



            7   watering the plantings and how often?  



            8              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



            9   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  The petitioner is 



           10   responsible for the plant maintenance.  So 



           11   depending on the weather, it would be watered as 



           12   needed.  I would add that there is irrigation that 



           13   runs through the field almost past where the 



           14   current location of the inverter pad is.  So there 



           15   is irrigation out there to the extent we needed to 



           16   use that.  



           17              Again, it is the petitioner's 



           18   responsibility to do that.  In the past we have 



           19   hired our sheep grazing contractors to water those 



           20   plantings that we've made at other sites under an 



           21   additional scope.  So whether it's done by us or 



           22   it's contracted out, that's something that the 



           23   petitioner is responsible for doing.



           24              MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  And I did read 



           25   in your plan that there is no irrigation, so thank 
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            1   you for the correction that there is some by the 



            2   pad.  But I did read specifically in your plan 



            3   that there was no irrigation for the watering of 



            4   these plants, that it would be done by a 



            5   contractor.  So that's what I was asking that 



            6   question for.  



            7              So does the contract for this work go 



            8   out to bid and will local contractors who know the 



            9   area be given any preference in the bidding 



           10   process?  Because I think I just heard you say 



           11   that the sheep person might be the waterer.



           12              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Yes, Ms. 



           13   Bress.  This is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So just to 



           14   clarify quickly, are you referring to the actual 



           15   construction of the facility as far as the 



           16   contractor is concerned?  



           17              MS. BRESS:  The watering, I'm still 



           18   referring to the watering of the vegetation that 



           19   you're putting in.



           20              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Yes, 



           21   absolutely.  So we've done it multiple ways in the 



           22   past.  We've either worked with our construction 



           23   contractor or we've hired a local nursery, for 



           24   example, right, to do the initial planting, 



           25   procure the trees from them, they plant them, they 
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            1   water them, and they provide a one-year warranty, 



            2   for example.  We've done that in the past.  We've 



            3   had it under the scope of our contractor.  And 



            4   then we have hired our sheep grazing partner to 



            5   water at a different project.  So we would pursue 



            6   it in one of those three ways.



            7              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  And that definitely 



            8   left up to the petitioner with no input from the 



            9   municipality or the owner or the abutters, right?  



           10              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  That is left 



           11   up to the petitioner under the scope of our 



           12   contract.



           13              MS. BRESS:  Great.  Thank you.  And who 



           14   will be monitoring or inspecting to see that the 



           15   design plan and watering is being carried out 



           16   regularly?  



           17              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Again, this 



           18   is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So the quality control is 



           19   managed by Verogy project managers.  Again, we are 



           20   what's known as an EPC contractor, meaning, in 



           21   addition to the initial development work, we'll do 



           22   the engineering, procurement and construction.  So 



           23   we do have a construction management team in-house 



           24   that reports back on weekly and daily, weekly 



           25   progress, and we will manage that internally as 
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            1   far as the plantings are concerned.  Obviously, 



            2   the stormwater is checked on by the local soil 



            3   conservation districts, and the overall 



            4   constructability of the array and the integrity of 



            5   it would be inspected and approved by the local 



            6   building inspector.



            7              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  So you've sort of, I 



            8   think you answered my next question which is, can 



            9   a local contractor with a proven track record with 



           10   the Town of Windsor or someone in the municipality 



           11   be able to review the work, so you're saying the 



           12   local building inspector does have an opportunity 



           13   to review whether or not the design plan is being 



           14   carried out?  



           15              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Correct, Ms. 



           16   Bress.  So this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  And in 



           17   projects that are approved by the Siting Council, 



           18   before they start construction they have to have 



           19   their construction drawings, typically their 



           20   civil, racking structural and electrical approved 



           21   by the local building inspectors for code 



           22   compliance.  That's on all electrical connections, 



           23   structural capability of the racking, civil 



           24   designs, et cetera.  So during -- prior to pulling 



           25   the building permits, the local municipality 
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            1   reviews all those drawings.



            2              MS. BRESS:  That's very reassuring.  



            3   Thank you.  I guess my question was more though in 



            4   relation to ongoing maintenance of the plantings 



            5   and design.  So in that case it would not be 



            6   someone municipality connected, it would just be, 



            7   again, the contractor that you chose to hire; is 



            8   that correct?  



            9              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



           10   that's correct.  So again, that's Verogy's 



           11   responsibility.  And in every situation it's in 



           12   our best interest to keep those plantings alive.  



           13              MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  Okay.  So 



           14   Number 3 and number 5 in the maintenance notes, as 



           15   a gardener and according to a fellow tree warden 



           16   -- not a fellow, but a tree warden friend I 



           17   consulted, the one year as I mentioned before or 



           18   growing season of watering does not ensure that 



           19   the plants or trees have been actually 



           20   established.  I've had many die after a year.  Can 



           21   a longer commitment of two years of watering and 



           22   plant replacement be written into the site plan to 



           23   ensure that the trees and plants are established 



           24   and alive after more than a year?  



           25              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 
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            1   Bryan Fitzgerald.  We can most likely be amenable 



            2   to that, to a two-year period instead of a 



            3   one-year period.



            4              MS. BRESS:  I appreciate that very 



            5   much.  I just have a couple of questions on the 



            6   planting notes.  I mentioned before the balled and 



            7   burlapped trees need to have -- they have wire 



            8   baskets and burlap, but that needs to be removed 



            9   before planting in order for the plants to 



           10   establish and thrive.  Can that requirement be 



           11   added to Number 5?  It just mentions that they're 



           12   balled and burlapped, but it doesn't say that it 



           13   will be removed before planting.  That was 



           14   something someone mentioned to me.



           15              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



           16   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  That commentary can be 



           17   added in here.  Number 5 under plant maintenance 



           18   notes; is that correct?  



           19              MS. BRESS:  Yes, sir.  And then my 



           20   concern about Number 7, I've already stated, and I 



           21   apologize but I have to ask the question.  So 



           22   Number 7 clearly states that tree substitutions 



           23   can be done with the approval of the owner and 



           24   Verogy.  And as I said, while I'm pleased to see 



           25   the owner's involvement, how does that guarantee 
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            1   that this design will be fulfilled, how does that 



            2   prevent the design from being changed at whim for 



            3   a variety of reasons, be it finances or, you know, 



            4   other reasons?  I'm a little concerned about 



            5   Number 7 because I feel as if, if we don't have 



            6   some sort of a guarantee that what we're looking 



            7   at is going to happen, then this is kind of like a 



            8   waste of time.



            9              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



           10   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  And I guess the 



           11   response there is that during construction there 



           12   are progress reports that are delivered to the 



           13   Siting Council.  Upon completion of any project, 



           14   there's a report delivered to the Siting Council.  



           15   If we construct something that's materially 



           16   different than what's on the design, including the 



           17   landscaping in the landscaping plan, the Siting 



           18   Council would come back and obviously order us to 



           19   change that because it was different from the 



           20   design.



           21              MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  That was my 



           22   next question, so you answered it.  My question 



           23   was does the Siting Council have any input after 



           24   it is approved.  Thank you so much.



           25              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this 
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            1   is Brad Parsons.  I'd just like to add just to 



            2   clarify why that note is there.  It is there 



            3   because at certain specific times certain species 



            4   might not be available, but it is always the 



            5   intent to replace any species that might be 



            6   unavailable at the time with a like species or 



            7   similar species.  That is the intent.  So not 



            8   changing an evergreen tree with a deciduous tree, 



            9   it would be a like evergreen tree.



           10              MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  And I 



           11   appreciate it.  I'm a gardener, so I actually did 



           12   know the reason, and I do understand that, but I 



           13   was just concerned that there might be significant 



           14   changes to this beautiful plan.  And I wanted to 



           15   know that there was some opportunity, and you 



           16   answered that question that the Siting Council 



           17   could do that, and your intent is to follow the 



           18   plan as much as possible.  I do appreciate that.  



           19              Okay.  Just a few more questions and 



           20   then I'm done.  Why -- let's see, not why.  I 



           21   know, and I don't know if this is an inappropriate 



           22   question, although we are referencing the site 



           23   plan, but it doesn't have to do with the 



           24   vegetation.  I just wanted to ask a follow-up 



           25   question.  Are the inverters enclosed or do they 
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            1   have any buffers or vegetation around them to 



            2   mitigate noise emissions or is it the same as last 



            3   time?  



            4              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



            5   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  It is the same as the 



            6   design you saw last time.



            7              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  And are the fans 



            8   still facing the north, have they not been changed 



            9   or repositioned to face Amazon or where there are 



           10   no residential homes, is it the same?  



           11              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



           12   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  The fans, looking at 



           13   the orientation of the pads which are north to 



           14   south, and the inverters will be mounted along 



           15   that orientation, correct, the fans would either 



           16   be facing east or west, not north.



           17              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  Because I think last 



           18   time honestly, and, you know, my memory is pretty 



           19   good, we had said that, but then there was a 



           20   change to the plan and then someone answered and 



           21   said that the fans were now facing north and 



           22   south.  So I just want to make sure I know which 



           23   way they are, and that's basically because of 



           24   noise mitigation.  I just was hoping that they 



           25   would be faced away from people and more toward 
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            1   Amazon.  So are you saying now that you think the 



            2   orientation is east and west now?  



            3              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  That's 



            4   correct, the orient -- go ahead, Brad.



            5              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad 



            6   Parsons.  I will confirm that the orientation of 



            7   the inverters are east and west.  And as noted in 



            8   our noise study that was provided, the project 



            9   would be in compliance with all state and local 



           10   federal codes with regard to noise as well.



           11              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  Thank you so much.  



           12   Okay.  So the other questions that I have are the 



           13   distances to the panels and so on.  In this new, 



           14   this site plan, have they changed or are they the 



           15   same?  



           16              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this 



           17   is Brad Parsons.  The location of the panels have 



           18   not changed as part of this plan.  It was just 



           19   updated to the landscaping.



           20              MS. BRESS:  Okay, that's what I 



           21   thought.  So the distances -- and how about -- 



           22   this question I didn't ask last time though.  I 



           23   asked about the distances to the panels, but how 



           24   close is the site entrance where construction 



           25   vehicles enter to the residence across the street 
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            1   and the residence in the north?  



            2              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Bear with me, 



            3   one second, Ms. Bress.



            4              MS. BRESS:  No rush.  And I can come 



            5   back to it, if it's helpful to the Council.  



            6              THE WITNESS (Cerkanowicz):  Ms. Bress, 



            7   this is James Cerkanowicz with the petitioner.  I 



            8   can state that the approximate distance from the 



            9   entrance, proposed entrance of the site, is 



           10   roughly 160 feet to the nearest residence.



           11              MS. BRESS:  Thank you very much.  Let's 



           12   see.  So, can I ask this question, after the 



           13   landscaping changes, how much farmland is being 



           14   preserved at the moment on this new plan on the 



           15   site -- reserved, I should say, for farming?  I 



           16   know the patch is there for the farmer to grow his 



           17   stuff, his feed, but I was just curious how much 



           18   is actually being reserved or protected.



           19              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



           20   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  We'll get a quick 



           21   calculation for you.



           22              MS. BRESS:  Okay, I can move on.  So 



           23   based on that, I was just asking would this site 



           24   plan involve any other changes to the existing 



           25   environment which due to their location or nature 
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            1   could result in conversion of farmland to 



            2   nonagricultural use?  That's my concern there, 



            3   like could anything in this site plan or changes 



            4   to the environment result in the conversion of 



            5   some of the farmland, prime farmland to 



            6   nonagricultural use?  



            7              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. Bress, 



            8   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So our original plan, 



            9   as all are aware, is to use the sheep grazing here 



           10   to keep the area that is fenced in from the 



           11   panels, the affected area of the project, in 



           12   productive agricultural use, a concept and a 



           13   method that the Department of Agriculture had 



           14   signed off on to keep the land in farmland status 



           15   effectively.  So that is our goal currently.  



           16              I think it was mentioned previously 



           17   that Mr. Morissette mentioned that the Siting 



           18   Council has exclusive jurisdiction.  If they had 



           19   mandated us not to do sheep grazing, then that's 



           20   something we would have to abide by.



           21              MS. BRESS:  I appreciate that, but I 



           22   think you may have misunderstood my question.  My 



           23   question was more about the existing environment 



           24   with the panels being placed, due to their 



           25   location or nature, would the panels being there 
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            1   result in conversion of farmland to 



            2   nonagricultural use at the end of the life of this 



            3   project?  



            4              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  This is 



            5   Bryan Fitzgerald, Ms. Bress.  At the end of the 



            6   life of this project?  



            7              MS. BRESS:  Or at any time.



            8              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  At any time 



            9   it's not our belief that it would.  



           10              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  And then at the end 



           11   of the project -- 



           12              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Then at the 



           13   end of the term, we have financial assurances in 



           14   the lease agreement with the landowner to ensure 



           15   the entire system is decommissioned and removed so 



           16   that the land could in fact go back to a more 



           17   traditional agricultural use, row crop, hay 



           18   farming, et cetera.



           19              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Bress, this 



           20   is Brad Parsons.  We don't control the use of the 



           21   land after our lease is up as well.



           22              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  But there is nothing 



           23   in the panels or in the way the panels perform or 



           24   in the location of the panels that might cause an 



           25   inability to use that farm as farmland again?  









                                      74                         



�





                                                                 





            1              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad 



            2   Parsons.  There is nothing to our knowledge that 



            3   would cause that to happen.  



            4              The other thing I would also just like 



            5   to state.  You mentioned prime farmland before.  



            6   This project is not located on any prime farmland.



            7              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  So it's not 



            8   designated as prime, but it is just farmland?  



            9              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Correct.



           10              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  I thought I read 



           11   that in there.  Okay.  So thank you.  Thank you 



           12   for that.



           13              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  And there is 



           14   also -- sorry, this is Brad Parsons -- I did have 



           15   a calculation, give or take 6 and a half to 7 



           16   acres on available remaining area on the north 



           17   side of the river that the farmer would be using.



           18              MS. BRESS:  Okay.  And how many acres 



           19   is the facility taking up?  



           20              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I have that 



           21   information.  Just a second.  



           22              THE WITNESS (Cerkanowicz):  This is 



           23   James Cerkanowicz.  The fenced limits, within the 



           24   fenced limits of the project is 598,872 square 



           25   feet, and then I would need to just convert that 
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            1   to acreage in a second here.



            2              MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  



            3              MR. MORISSETTE:  Ms. Bress, if I could 



            4   interrupt.



            5              MS. BRESS:  Yes, sir.



            6              MR. MORISSETTE:  Your questioning this 



            7   afternoon is limited to the Late-Filed exhibits 



            8   that were filed on March 28, 2024.  I have allowed 



            9   you some leeway in asking questions beyond what 



           10   was filed.  So this is just to make you aware that 



           11   you are to stay within the limits of those 



           12   Late-Filed exhibits.



           13              MS. BRESS:  I appreciate that, Mr. 



           14   Morissette.  And I had questions about whether or 



           15   not it had to be strictly restricted to the 



           16   vegetation or could it be, because a new site plan 



           17   was presented, could we ask questions about the 



           18   site plan.  So thank you so much for clarifying 



           19   that.  And thank you for the leeway.  I don't 



           20   believe I have any additional questions about the 



           21   vegetation.  



           22              I do have additional questions 



           23   regarding some of the features of the site plan, 



           24   but I think I could, in order to be respectful to 



           25   the Council, I will reserve those concerns or 
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            1   questions -- as soon as I get the acreage 



            2   answer -- I will reserve those questions or 



            3   concerns for my ability to do -- I don't know what 



            4   it's called, the wrap-up or whatever.  So thank 



            5   you very much.  If I could just hear, if you 



            6   wouldn't mind me hearing the question to the 



            7   acreage that's being used for the facility, I will 



            8   end my questioning there.



            9              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  This is 



           10   Bryan Fitzgerald.  The acreage for the facility is 



           11   approximately 13.5 noted in Section 6 of the 



           12   petition, by the way, too.  



           13              MS. BRESS:  Thank you.  And thank you, 



           14   Mr. Morissette, for your indulgence and your 



           15   explanation.  I appreciate it.  



           16              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Ms. Bress.  



           17   I would like to say there is no wrap-up, per se.  



           18   When we close the hearing, you will have the 



           19   opportunity to file briefs -- 



           20              MS. BRESS:  Yes, that's what I meant.  



           21   I couldn't remember the word.  



           22              MR. MORISSETTE:  -- associated with the 



           23   record but no additional testimony will be 



           24   allowed.



           25              MS. BRESS:  I understand that.  Thank 
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            1   you.  Honestly, I don't think then, if it's about 



            2   the vegetation, my following questions were 



            3   basically about the DEEP report or, you know, the 



            4   site in relation to the DEEP stuff.  So I will 



            5   stop here.  And thank you again for the 



            6   opportunity to ask additional questions.  



            7              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you.  We'll now 



            8   continue with cross-examination of the petitioner 



            9   by the grouped resident intervenors, Leslie 



           10   Harrison.  



           11              Leslie.



           12              MS. HARRISON:  Thank you, Mr. 



           13   Morissette.  I don't have too many.  



           14              In terms of the visual simulation, I 



           15   did have a question about all of the photos that 



           16   were provided.  Were they all taken at street 



           17   level?  



           18              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve 



           19   Kochis of VHB.  The north view and the south view 



           20   were taken from approximately a 5-foot viewing 



           21   height.  The entry view was taken from Google 



           22   Street View because of our interest in showing the 



           23   site with full leaf-on as one of the alternatives.  



           24   And accordingly, I'm not entirely sure of the 



           25   height, but I would guess that it was probably the 
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            1   height of the Google Street View camera mounted on 



            2   top of a car.



            3              MS. HARRISON:  Thank you, Mr. Kochis.  



            4   The reason for my questioning is I don't see 



            5   anything in the visual simulation that would 



            6   indicate how residents in two-story buildings, of 



            7   which there are many in the Strawberry Hill 



            8   condominium complex, would see.  I don't think the 



            9   fence would cover it, and I can't remember which 



           10   gentlemen from WSO spoke to say that the panels 



           11   would protrude another foot above the fence, but 



           12   there were no -- am I correct there were no visual 



           13   simulations that were taken from, say, some kind 



           14   of a bucket truck that would more closely 



           15   represent what those of us that have two-story 



           16   buildings will see.



           17              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve 



           18   Kochis.  That's correct, no visual simulations 



           19   were performed outside of what has been put into 



           20   evidence so far.



           21              MS. HARRISON:  Could someone from WSO 



           22   make some kind of statement about what kind of 



           23   glare we might be seeing looking out our 



           24   second-story windows and how long that would take 



           25   place given that we're on, or at least I am, on 
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            1   River Street, west side of River Street?  



            2              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison, 



            3   this is Brad Parsons with Verogy and Windsor Solar 



            4   One.  As part of our submission, I believe it was 



            5   our follow-up to the interrogatories, a glare 



            6   analysis was completed for this project and that 



            7   included locations both at basically first floor 



            8   level as well as second floor level on various 



            9   locations on the western side of River Street at 



           10   the locations of those condominiums, and there was 



           11   no glare as part of that ultimate study result.



           12              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  How about what I 



           13   will visually see not including glare?  Will I 



           14   see, for instance, I see Mr. Kochis's picture here 



           15   on the screen, and I see a whole bunch of solar 



           16   panels behind him.  Is that what I will see out my 



           17   window, second-story window?  



           18              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad 



           19   Parsons.  Ms. Harrison, that photo is taken from 



           20   ground level as well.  You will see solar panels 



           21   on the site.



           22              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you very 



           23   much.



           24              THE WITNESS (Cerkanowicz):  This is 



           25   James Cerkanowicz.  I'd also just like to note 
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            1   that that is a fixed tilt panel array in his 



            2   background and that the tracking system is smaller 



            3   in terms of how the panels are grouped and tends 



            4   to be less visible from my personal experience of 



            5   seeing where we have another site where we 



            6   recently developed the trackers.



            7              MS. HARRISON:  Thank you very much.  



            8   Okay.  Under the -- moving to the planting plan 



            9   listed as site plan 6.1.  Under the plant 



           10   maintenance notes I believe Mr. Fitzgerald already 



           11   answered this question, can you remind me who the 



           12   contractor will be?  I don't need a name, but it's 



           13   basically an overseeing position, is that correct, 



           14   overseeing others doing tasks?  



           15              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. 



           16   Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  So Verogy 



           17   acts as the EPC contractor for the engineering, 



           18   procurement and construction, so the direct 



           19   oversight of all construction, including the 



           20   planting of the landscaping plan, would be managed 



           21   and overseen by project managers employed by 



           22   Verogy.



           23              MS. HARRISON:  Thank you.  That's what 



           24   I thought you were going to say.  So in Item 4 



           25   under plant maintenance notes, I believe it 
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            1   currently states water shall be applied in 



            2   sufficient quantity to thoroughly saturate the 



            3   soil and the root zone of each plant.  



            4              Will documentation be provided to the 



            5   contractor as to how much water should be applied 



            6   to each different type of plant so to ensure 



            7   compliance with the directive, "thoroughly 



            8   saturate"?



            9              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. 



           10   Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  The 



           11   landscaping plan herein as well as the final 



           12   construction drawings would be provided to the 



           13   actual contractor responsible for doing the work.  



           14   So they would read it as we're reading it today 



           15   and be directed to thoroughly saturate the soil 



           16   and the root zone of each plant.  



           17              MS. HARRISON:  So the contractor would 



           18   hire people that know what thoroughly saturate 



           19   means for each different species that's planted?  



           20              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. 



           21   Harrison, yes.  Again, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  



           22   In any event, the construction oversight team at 



           23   Verogy would instruct those contractors to again 



           24   follow the landscape plan to a T here to ensure 



           25   ultimate success of the landscaping plan.









                                      82                         



�





                                                                 





            1              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Would 



            2   the contractor be modifying whatever directions 



            3   are provided based upon whether there's been an 



            4   inch of rain or more in the preceding week?  



            5              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. 



            6   Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  If the 



            7   contractor doing the work were to modify anything, 



            8   it would have to be with Verogy's approval first.  



            9   So to your point, if there was sufficient 



           10   rainfall, that would first have to be approved by 



           11   Verogy to ensure that the watering plan has been 



           12   executed appropriately.



           13              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  And if there was 



           14   no rain in the previous week, would the contractor 



           15   be required to thoroughly saturate the rootball 



           16   more than once in the week that follows?  



           17              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. 



           18   Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  Yes, to the 



           19   extent that is precisely what the plan describes.



           20              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  The plan just 



           21   says that they have to, you know, if there's been 



           22   an inch of rain, it's okay.  I don't see any 



           23   specific directions as to what to do if there 



           24   hasn't been an inch of rain.



           25              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Yes.  And 
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            1   from our experience, sometimes it's a decision 



            2   that gets made by the contractor specifically 



            3   doing the watering.  Like I've mentioned 



            4   previously today, sometimes that's done by a sheep 



            5   grazing partner.  They've got an agricultural 



            6   background, so it works out quite well that way.  



            7   They understand thoroughly what you're describing 



            8   here right now.  And if that plant needs to be 



            9   saturated, it would be saturated.



           10              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you.  And 



           11   can the plan be modified to specifically state 



           12   what period of calendar time will be used to 



           13   constitute a week, is it Sunday to Saturday, 



           14   Monday to Sunday so that we could monitor when 



           15   we've had an inch of rain as to what day that was?  



           16              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. 



           17   Harrison, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  I would move 



           18   forward under the assumption that the week is 



           19   Monday to Sunday.



           20              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.



           21              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  A typical 



           22   work week is Monday to Friday, obviously, but I 



           23   think Monday to Sunday should suffice for this 



           24   situation.



           25              MS. HARRISON:  With all due respect, 
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            1   could that be added to the plan specifically, 



            2   please?  



            3              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. 



            4   Harrison, yes, we could add that note in there.



            5              MS. HARRISON:  Thank you.  Under the 



            6   section entitled planting notes, this one is 



            7   probably just me not being a gardener, but Item 



            8   Number 4 states a 3-inch deep mulch per 



            9   specification shall be installed under all trees 



           10   and shrubs and in the planting beds.  I assume 



           11   that means on top of the soil, not under the tree 



           12   and under the shrub?  



           13              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Ms. 



           14   Harrison, that is correct.  It is, as described, 



           15   once the tree has been planted the mulch bed there 



           16   is installed.  And while I'm not a landscape 



           17   architect myself, one did put this together, and 



           18   that's typically to keep moisture in the soil for 



           19   a longer period of time.



           20              MS. HARRISON:  Right.  I had to read it 



           21   two or three times for "under all the trees," 



           22   thinking that you were talking about planting and 



           23   you were going to lay mulch in the hole and then 



           24   put the tree on top of it, and I was pretty sure 



           25   that, my limited understanding, that probably 
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            1   wasn't what you intended to do.  So what you just 



            2   described is what I thought you actually meant.  



            3   Thank you.



            4              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison, 



            5   this is Brad Parsons.  Just to direct you back to 



            6   our site plans that were submitted under the last 



            7   Late-File exhibit, there are details on L-6.2 that 



            8   show just that.  



            9              MS. HARRISON:  6.2?  I only saw 6.1.



           10              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  That was all 



           11   that was required as part of this Late-File.



           12              MS. HARRISON:  You mean the previous 



           13   Late-File?  



           14              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Correct.



           15              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm 



           16   sorry.  Staying under the planting notes in Item 5 



           17   it states, and Lisa approached this from a 



           18   different direction, it says all trees shall be 



           19   balled and burlapped, unless otherwise noted in 



           20   the drawings or specification, or approved by the 



           21   owner's representative.  In the current L-6.1 



           22   drawing is there any plant that is not to be 



           23   balled or burlapped?  I couldn't find anything on 



           24   the plan that indicated such.



           25              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad 
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            1   Parsons.  There is no plan to have -- all the 



            2   plants will be balled and burlapped because they 



            3   will likely come from a nursery.  I think that 



            4   note is meant to represent if you were potentially 



            5   transplanting a tree on site, you wouldn't ball 



            6   and burlap a tree that you had just taken -- 



            7              MS. HARRISON:  Moved.  Okay.  Thank you 



            8   very much.  And am I correct that I cannot see 



            9   anything, I cannot see or read anything in this 



           10   L-6.1 document that is the actual specification 



           11   that is cited in Item 5?  Item 5 says unless 



           12   otherwise noted in the drawings, which I can see, 



           13   or specification.  Is the specification a note or 



           14   is there some other thing that I can't see?  



           15              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison, 



           16   this is Brad Parsons again.  In this case, the 



           17   specifications are the notes.  So what you see 



           18   here is that.  There is no intent to have, you 



           19   know, all these trees are intended to be balled 



           20   and burlapped and coming from a nursery.



           21              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Because I noted 



           22   that in Item 6 there was a part of that note that 



           23   said specifically if there was any deviation 



           24   between the drawing and the specification, the 



           25   specification would take precedence.  And I just 
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            1   wasn't sure if there was something that I couldn't 



            2   see that was different than that.  



            3              Okay.  In Item 10 it currently states 



            4   areas designated loam and seed shall receive a 



            5   minimum of 6 inches of loam and specified seed 



            6   mix.  Are those areas currently identified on the 



            7   planting plan?  



            8              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve 



            9   Kochis.  There are no specific loam and seed areas 



           10   within the site plan.



           11              MS. HARRISON:  So does that mean that 



           12   they're not shown or does that mean that there 



           13   aren't going to be any?  



           14              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve 



           15   Kochis again.  That's intended that there will 



           16   likely be no loam and seed to 6-inch depths for 



           17   this site plan.



           18              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Did I 



           19   misunderstand in a previous one of these hearings 



           20   that there was going to be some kind of planting 



           21   seed mix that would entice pollinators?  



           22              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison, 



           23   this is Brad Parsons.  So yes, I think with regard 



           24   to the loam and seed within the landscaping plan 



           25   there was no specific area designated in that 









                                      88                         



�





                                                                 





            1   situation.  However, from an overall standpoint, 



            2   yes, it is shown on the site plans prior to this 



            3   L-6.1 that the area will be seeded with a seed mix 



            4   that has pollinator friendly species.



            5              MS. HARRISON:  So this L-6.1 that we're 



            6   looking at today is, we'd have to look backwards 



            7   to find information about that, it's not all 



            8   contained on this L-6.1 plan that we're looking at 



            9   today?  



           10              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve 



           11   Kochis.  The idea here is there's no specific loam 



           12   and seed.  I believe the intent here is to not 



           13   import any loam to the site.  It's to use the 



           14   existing topsoil.  It will be, a seed mix will be 



           15   broadcast onto the site to promote vegetative 



           16   growth, but the idea is they're not bringing in 



           17   any loam.  So when I answered that we're not going 



           18   to do loam and seed, we're really not bringing 



           19   loam in, but we will be seeding it.



           20              MS. HARRISON:  Could I respectfully ask 



           21   that the plan be modified to document that as 



           22   cogently as you just did, please?  



           23              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad 



           24   Parsons.  I think we can identify and/or move the 



           25   location where the seeding is already identified 
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            1   on the plans and move it to the landscape plan 



            2   should the Council choose to have that done.



            3              MS. HARRISON:  Right.  And I think 



            4   Mr. Kochis also said no bringing in of loam, so I 



            5   would think that that sort of documentation would 



            6   need to be adjusted perhaps.



            7              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Ms. Harrison, 



            8   this is Brad Parsons.  I think these are just 



            9   standard notes that landscapers put on most of 



           10   their plans.  Obviously if we need to remove that, 



           11   but there is no specific area that is called out 



           12   as designated loam and seed, so therefore that 



           13   note would not apply on this specific plan.



           14              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I 



           15   think Lisa Bress asked this question, I think the 



           16   answer was no, around the equipment pad there's 



           17   been no consideration of additional plantings on 



           18   at least the three sides that face residential 



           19   buildings to help absorb and deflect any of the 



           20   noise.



           21              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad 



           22   Parsons.  Ms. Harrison, that is correct, no 



           23   additional plantings around the inverters have 



           24   been proposed.  And as previously stated, our 



           25   noise study was completed and to show that the 
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            1   project was in compliance.



            2              MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Thank you very 



            3   much.  That concludes my questions.  I appreciate 



            4   the opportunity to ask them.  



            5              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Ms. 



            6   Harrison.  



            7              We'll now take a 12-minute break and we 



            8   will come back at 3:50 to resume cross-examination 



            9   by the Council.  Thank you, everyone.  We'll see 



           10   you at 3:50.  



           11              (Whereupon, a recess was taken from 



           12   3:39 p.m. until 3:50 p.m.)



           13              MR. MORISSETTE:  We're back on the 



           14   record.  We will continue with cross-examination 



           15   of the petitioner by the Council, starting with 



           16   Mr. Mercier followed by Mr. Silvestri.  



           17              Mr. Mercier.  



           18              MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I just had a 



           19   question on site plan L-6.1, the new revised 



           20   landscape plan.  And earlier we talked, there was 



           21   testimony regarding the mulching that was Note 3 



           22   under the planting notes.  Is the mulching, is 



           23   that something that's going to be annually 



           24   replenished or is that just for the planting phase 



           25   of the project?  
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            1              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Mercier, 



            2   this is -- 



            3              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Go ahead, 



            4   Bryan.



            5              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Sure.  Mr. 



            6   Mercier, this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  I was going to 



            7   mention this is for construction, so that would be 



            8   for the construction.  Any annual replenishment 



            9   would have to be taken up in the operations and 



           10   maintenance plan.



           11              MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Well, is the 



           12   intent to replenish the mulch annually after the 



           13   plantings take hold?  



           14              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Again, this 



           15   is Bryan Fitzgerald.  Mr. Mercier, I guess I would 



           16   defer to our landscape architect, but to answer 



           17   that direct, it could be more of a see-as-you-go.  



           18   And that might not be what you want to hear, but 



           19   if the plants are taking off and growing and 



           20   perform in the way we'd ideally like to see them 



           21   perform, it might not be necessary anymore on an 



           22   annual basis.  



           23              MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  How would you 



           24   envision them growing, do you anticipate them 



           25   forming a dense coverage where nothing, you know, 
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            1   will be, can grow under them such as like grass or 



            2   weeds, so it's just going to be bare dirt or just 



            3   remnants of mulch with weeds or something?  



            4              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Mercier, 



            5   this is Bryan Fitzgerald.  As far as how we 



            6   anticipate it to grow, I would envision pretty 



            7   much what you see in the visual simulations.  That 



            8   was at the direction of the landscape architect at 



            9   a three to four year growth height.  But the 



           10   planting plan also includes a number of shrubs, 



           11   not necessarily ground dwelling shrubs or so, but 



           12   areas to kind of fill those gaps from the soil 



           13   level up or from grass level up.  But it's our 



           14   understanding that vegetation would take over 



           15   there and sometimes with or without mulch, whether 



           16   it be weeds taking over or grasses taking over, 



           17   what we see is that the field sometimes to 



           18   naturally extend into that area under the trees.  



           19              MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Thank you.  At 



           20   what point of the construction would the plantings 



           21   occur, would it be, you know, before stabilization 



           22   of the site, you know, with the grass seed and 



           23   pollinator mix or is it going to be after?  



           24              THE WITNESS (Fitzgerald):  Mr. Mercier, 



           25   that's a great question.  And I think it's 
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            1   probably a two-part answer because it can be 



            2   dependent on when and if we're granted the ability 



            3   to start construction, and by that I mean when we 



            4   would have the ability to start.  Obviously, it 



            5   would be best to plant these trees in the late 



            6   fall or early, early spring and not in the middle 



            7   of the summer.  So we'd have to kind of see how 



            8   that progressed.  



            9              But Brad, correct me if I'm wrong if 



           10   you think there would be any impacts to 



           11   stabilization.



           12              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad.  



           13   That's correct, I mean, we would still stabilize 



           14   the site prior to or at least do a temporary 



           15   stabilization of the site prior to the start of 



           16   construction, and then time of year would be the 



           17   point with when we would actually plant the 



           18   plantings.  



           19              MR. MERCIER:  Yes.  I guess my question 



           20   would be if you did them, you know, near the end 



           21   of the project before stabilization, would the E&S 



           22   control fencing be in the way or are you going to 



           23   put it near the street or is the fencing going to 



           24   be hugging the perimeter fencing that's supposed 



           25   to be installed?  I wasn't sure how that portion 
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            1   would work out, whether you'd have to take down 



            2   the erosion control fencing to install the 



            3   plantings and then reinstall it if it's not 



            4   stabilized, would you have any insight as to where 



            5   the --



            6              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  I'll take that 



            7   one.  This is Steve Kochis.  What we typically do 



            8   on the sites that reach that level, what we've 



            9   found working with multiple contractors, is we'll 



           10   reach a period of stabilization at the site that's 



           11   agreeable to the conservation district and/or CT 



           12   DEEP, who will be the erosion control overseers, 



           13   along with the qualified inspector and VHB as 



           14   engineer of record, and we will work with them to 



           15   remove the portions of silt fence without risk of 



           16   erosion that we need to, to install the plantings.  



           17              And I'll also add, if it adds some 



           18   clarity, that Note 3 under planting notes right 



           19   now does state that no plant materials will be 



           20   installed until all grading and construction has 



           21   been completed in the area.  So that kind of 



           22   suggests that the planting is going to happen at 



           23   the end of the construction period.  



           24              MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  Since you just 



           25   mentioned some erosion and sedimentation controls, 
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            1   I understand DEEP has just updated their E&S 



            2   controls.  The old version was 2002 and now the 



            3   effective date of the new version is March 30, 



            4   2024.  I guess, first of all, is your site beyond 



            5   50 percent design?  



            6              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve 



            7   Kochis.  I would say yes it is beyond 50 percent 



            8   design.  And we're working with CT DEEP to 



            9   understand the nature of when the new manuals will 



           10   become effective, especially in regards to 



           11   projects like this that have been in development 



           12   for years and as far as if any changes would need 



           13   to be made since we're going to be going for a CT 



           14   DEEP Stormwater General Permit sometime later this 



           15   year.  



           16              MR. MERCIER:  Okay.  So you're under 



           17   consultation with them regarding whatever 



           18   guideline they decide to use.



           19              THE WITNESS (Kochis):  This is Steve 



           20   Kochis.  Yes, we'll continue to coordinate with CT 



           21   DEEP and make sure that we're meeting the 



           22   appropriate manual.  And if any changes are 



           23   needed, they would be included in our D&M plan for 



           24   this project.  



           25              MR. MERCIER:  Great.  Thank you.  One 
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            1   other question I have is regarding the plant 



            2   schedule up in the upper right corner of the 



            3   landscape planting plan.  You have several species 



            4   of trees, you have Red Oak, some Balsam Fir, White 



            5   Spruce.  I just heard maybe there might be some 



            6   Scotch Pine and Blue Spruce potentially.  As these 



            7   grow in height over the years, is there any type 



            8   of shading concerns, would you have to top any of 



            9   these trees, would there be any kind of potential 



           10   shading; and if so, at what potential heights 



           11   would you have to cut them off at?  



           12              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad 



           13   Parsons.  I think when we discussed the selection 



           14   of these species with the landscape architect when 



           15   they were posing them, and we believe that while 



           16   we don't expect to quote-unquote "top" any trees 



           17   here with this, I think if, you know, selective 



           18   trimming was required that we may need to do that.  



           19   However, it's our understanding that likely by the 



           20   time that these at their 35-year life that will 



           21   still be within a point where there will be 



           22   minimal shading impacts with regard to any of the 



           23   proposed landscaping.  



           24              MR. MERCIER:  Thank you.  I have no 



           25   other questions.  
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            1              MR. MORISSETTE:  We'll now continue 



            2   with cross-examination of the petitioner by Mr. 



            3   Silvestri followed by Mr. Nguyen.  



            4              Mr. Silvestri.  



            5              MR. SILVESTRI:  Thank you, Mr. 



            6   Morissette.  I have a few questions regarding the 



            7   spill prevention and materials storage plan.  And 



            8   if we could turn to page 2 on that, under 



            9   reporting it says complete an incident report for 



           10   each spill.  Question I have, where would one 



           11   obtain an incident report?  



           12              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad 



           13   Parsons.  I think they would follow whatever the 



           14   DEEP guidelines for -- the intent was for them to 



           15   follow whatever DEEP guidelines there are for 



           16   spill reporting.  



           17              MR. SILVESTRI:  So would that be 



           18   included should the project be approved within 



           19   this spill prevention and materials storage plan?  



           20              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  That is not a 



           21   problem to add that, sir.  Again, Brad Parsons.



           22              MR. SILVESTRI:  Okay.  Thank you.  And 



           23   under spill cleanup it has obtain the Spill 



           24   Response Kit from the designated location on site.  



           25   Any idea where that designated location might be 
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            1   at this point?  



            2              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad 



            3   Parsons again.  No, we don't have any specific 



            4   idea on where exactly that designated location is.  



            5   Usually it is something that is part of our 



            6   contractor's responsibility when they are on site, 



            7   and they tend to do job briefings every morning 



            8   where those things are identified.



            9              MR. SILVESTRI:  And that would probably 



           10   fall in line as to where any refueling or fuel 



           11   storage would also go, would that be correct?  



           12              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  That would be 



           13   correct, Mr. Silvestri.  



           14              MR. SILVESTRI:  All right.  Next 



           15   question I have regards the entry view vegetated 



           16   buffer depiction that you have.  And I'm not sure 



           17   where we left off with our last discussion on the 



           18   planting plan, but did we talk about supplementing 



           19   it with some low growing shrubs?  So, for example, 



           20   where I look at the pickup truck that's parked 



           21   there, you have a few low growing shrubs on the 



           22   right side.  I'm curious if that could be extended 



           23   further to the right to kind of cover some of the 



           24   gaps that are there.



           25              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Bear with me, 









                                      99                         



�





                                                                 





            1   Mr. Silvestri.  This is Brad.  I'm just trying to 



            2   pull up that one visual again.  



            3              MR. SILVESTRI:  I'm not sure what the 



            4   plants are, if they're Rhododendrons or Bayberries 



            5   or Holly.  They look nice to fill in the gaps 



            6   close to the truck, and I'm curious if it could be 



            7   extended.  We talked the last time about not being 



            8   able to put more evergreens in because the 



            9   evergreens in the back are going to spread out, 



           10   but I'm curious in the foreground if more 



           11   plantings could be put there.



           12              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I'm actually 



           13   looking.  I'm trying to -- this is Brad.  I'm 



           14   trying to actually cross-reference our landscape 



           15   plan right now with the visual simulation and 



           16   trying to actually count what's been put there.  



           17   And it may actually appear that not all the 



           18   plantings that are on the landscape plan are in 



           19   and filling that gap area, from what I can tell 



           20   here, or maybe it's just the angle.  It also might 



           21   be the angle of which the photo was taken.  



           22              MR. SILVESTRI:  I tried to coordinate 



           23   the two and I couldn't.  When I look at L-6.1, 



           24   there's a bunch of little circles that are there 



           25   that I have no idea what they are.
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            1              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  This is Brad.  



            2   I can say when we look at L-6.1 there, you see the 



            3   three larger proposed trees with the inverted half 



            4   circles?  



            5              MR. SILVESTRI:  Yes.



            6              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Those are the 



            7   three taller trees you can see in that visual 



            8   simulation photo.  



            9              MR. SILVESTRI:  Correct.



           10              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  And obviously 



           11   when you're looking at that third tree from the 



           12   south on L-6.1, you can definitely see that there 



           13   should be shrubs in front of that third tree.  So 



           14   again, I'm not sure if it's just the angle at 



           15   which we're looking at that or whether those were 



           16   mistakenly omitted from the visual simulation.  



           17              MR. SILVESTRI:  So it's possible that 



           18   the visual simulation would be enhanced based on 



           19   what you have on L-6.1.



           20              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  I believe so, 



           21   sir, from looking at it.  The way that I'm seeing 



           22   this and trying to correlate the visual simulation 



           23   that's there, it does appear to me that the shrubs 



           24   on the north side of the, what I'll call the 



           25   circle with the dot there on L-6.1, just south of 
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            1   the driveway, that there's six shrubs there.  And 



            2   it does appear to me that all six of those are 



            3   shown.  It's hard to kind of count in there, but 



            4   the ones on the south side of that larger circle 



            5   with the dot in the center of it, that those may 



            6   not be showing up on the visual screening itself.  



            7              MR. SILVESTRI:  That's what I don't see 



            8   at that point.  And like I say, if it's on L-6.1, 



            9   it should be on your entry view vegetated buffer 



           10   depiction which I think would be nice to fill in 



           11   the gaps that I see there.  So that's my whole 



           12   point of trying to get there.



           13              THE WITNESS (Parsons):  Yeah.  And I 



           14   think it should be there, sir.  It might have just 



           15   been something that was missed in the revised plan 



           16   when this was updated.  



           17              MR. SILVESTRI:  Very good.  Mr. 



           18   Morissette, that's all I have.  And I thank you, 



           19   and I thank the panel.  



           20              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. 



           21   Silvestri.  We'll now continue with 



           22   cross-examination by Mr. Nguyen followed by Mr. 



           23   Golembiewski.  



           24              Mr. Nguyen.  



           25              MR. NGUYEN:  I have no questions, Mr. 
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            1   Morissette.  Thank you.  



            2              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Nguyen.  



            3   We'll now continue with cross-examination by Mr. 



            4   Golembiewski followed by Dr. Near.  



            5              Mr. Golembiewski.  



            6              MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI:  Thank you, Mr. 



            7   Morissette.  I have no questions.  



            8              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. 



            9   Golembiewski.  We'll continue with 



           10   cross-examination by Dr. Near followed by Mr. 



           11   Carter.  



           12              Dr. Near.  



           13              (No response.)



           14              MR. MORISSETTE:  Okay.  We'll move on.  



           15   Dr. Near is not with us.  We'll move on to Mr. 



           16   Carter.  



           17              Mr. Carter, any cross-examination?  



           18              MR. CARTER:  Just one thing actually.  



           19   I just want to look at the last page of the spill 



           20   prevention plan.  I just noticed a typo I just 



           21   wanted to get cleared up.  Under section 4, site 



           22   and emergency contact info under local fire 



           23   department I just wanted to note that fire marshal 



           24   just has one "L."



           25              MR. MORISSETTE:  Thank you, Mr. Carter.  
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            1              MR. CARTER:  And that's all that I 



            2   have.  Thank you.  



            3              MR. MORISSETTE:  Very good.  Thank you.  



            4   And I have no follow-up questions for the 



            5   petitioner.  So that concludes our hearing for 



            6   today.  Therefore, before closing this evidentiary 



            7   record in this matter, the Connecticut Siting 



            8   Council announces that briefs and proposed 



            9   findings of fact may be filed with the Council by 



           10   any party or intervenor no later than May 9, 2024.  



           11   The submission of briefs and proposed findings of 



           12   fact are not required by this Council; rather, we 



           13   leave it to the choice of the parties and 



           14   intervenors.  



           15              Anyone who has not become a party or 



           16   intervenor but who desires to make his or her 



           17   views known to the Council, may file written 



           18   statements with the Council within 30 days of the 



           19   date hereof.  



           20              The Council will issue draft findings 



           21   of fact, and thereafter parties and intervenors 



           22   may identify errors or inconsistencies between the 



           23   Council's draft findings of fact and the record.  



           24   However, no new information, no new evidence and 



           25   no arguments and no reply briefs without our 
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            1   permission will be considered by the Council.  



            2              Copies of the transcript of this 



            3   hearing will be filed in the Windsor Town Clerk's 



            4   office.  



            5              I hereby declare this hearing 



            6   adjourned.  And thank you everyone for your 



            7   participation.  Go out and enjoy the beautiful day 



            8   out there.  Thank you.  



            9              (Whereupon, the hearing concluded at 



           10   4:07 p.m.)
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